## NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY

Patterning and Structural Engineering of Dimensionally Constrained Functional Oxide

Nanostructures

## **A DISSERTATION**

## SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL

## IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

for the degree

## **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY**

Field of Materials Science and Engineering

By

Zixiao Pan

## **EVANSTON, ILLINOIS**

June 2008

© Copyright by Zixiao Pan 2008 All Rights Reserved

### ABSTRACT

# Patterning and Structural Engineering of Dimensionally Constrained Functional Oxide Nanostructures

#### Zixiao Pan

The current trend of ceramic nanotechnology has motivated an ever-increasing need to achieve exquisite control over *size*, *shape*, and *spatial confinement* for functional oxide architectures, in an equivalent manner demonstrated for semiconductors. However, the unique nature of ceramics has posed major challenges for most traditional nanofabrication technologies, putting the development of innovative oxide nanopatterning schemes under the spotlight. Dimensional and spatial confinement of functional oxides has also raised extensive intellectual interests since it carries a profound bearing upon their microstructure variation and leads to often superior performances. This further underlines the need for exploring the "materials science and engineering" of nano-constrained oxides, i.e., to fabricate nanopatterns with precise geometrical control at various dimensionalities, and to tailor their microstructural and functional characteristics. This dissertation presents one strategy to achieve such objectives.

We have developed a versatile nanofabrication approach, termed variable pressure-softelectron beam lithography (VP-soft-eBL) that successfully resolves the generic challenges in patterning oxides and enables high resolution fabrication of diverse materials on a multitude of substrates. A strategy based on VP-soft-eBL was derived for microstructural and morphological control on the nanostructures, particularly that of ferroelectrics and ferrimagnets. The effect of pattern aspect ratio on the microstructure evolution has been investigated for CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> and BaTiO<sub>3</sub> nanodiscs on single crystal substrates with appropriate lattice matching. Following this strategy, high quality epitaxial patterns can be readily achieved from amorphous form during annealing.

VP-soft-eBL portfolio was then expanded significantly towards multi-dimensional patterning capability to facilitate systematic study on the confinement phenomena. We investigated the beam skirt effect on electron energy deposition profile in VP-eBL and demonstrated successful fabrication of architectures spaning 0-dimensional dots, 1-dimensional lines, 2-dimensional high density grids, and 3-dimensional heterostructures. Embedded in these efforts were varied site-specific characterizations on the nanostructures. Our initial study using x-ray microdiffraction indicated localized deformation field induced in the substrate at vicinity of epitaxial pattern edges.

Our approach of building and tailoring nano-constrained functional oxides is highly flexible, serving for a wide variety of materials and diverse types of architectures. The protocol reported in this dissertation lays the groundwork for in-depth exploration of the rich phenomena related to spatial/dimensional confinement. Further refinement of our strategy may provide an effective tool to harness the technological opportunities of diverse functional materials and pave the way for innovative applications which require nanopatterned architectures.

Dedicated to my parents, Wei Xiong and Chengwen Pan, who offered me unconditional love and support throughout my venture in graduate school

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to convey my utmost gratitude to my advisor, Professor Vinayak Dravid. I appreciate and have really enjoyed the motivating and free atmosphere he created in the group. His truly scientist intuition has made him a constant oasis of ideas and passions in research, which greatly inspired and enriched my growth. The unflinching encouragement and support from him are invaluable for me as a foreign student. I am indebted to him more than he knows.

I am very grateful to Professor Michael Bedzyk, Professor Mark Hersam, and Dr. Jin Wang, for their generously spending time to discuss with me on my thesis content. I am really lucky to have these incredibly knowledgeable and kind committee members.

I want to thank Professor Venkatraman Gopalan at Pennsylvania State University, who brought up the idea of fabricating ferroelectric grids and encouraged this work, which is reported in chapter 4 in this thesis; and thanks goes to his student, Aravind Vasudeva Rao, for providing the property measurement results. I am also benefited by working with Zhaoyu Wang and Professor Min-Feng Yu at UIUC on piezoelectric property measurement, and I want to thank them both for making this collaboration enjoyable and fruitful. I gratefully acknowledge Dr. Zhonghou Cai at Argonne National Laboratory for providing tremendous technical and emotional support during our three beamtimes at his beam line.

I am blessed with a group of wonderful colleagues. A special thank-you goes to Suresh Donthu, who introduced the soft-eBL idea and stood side-by-side with me during the developmental stage of this project, also with whom I shared moments of rejoicing and frustration. I appreciate the great help from Tao Sun on x-ray projects and saving me from the night shifts during our beamtimes. I want to thank Soo-Hyun Tark and Mohammed Aslam for providing strong emotional support over numerous cups of coffee. Thanks also goes to Ben Myers for sitting with me over endless FIB sessions and his valuable input in VP-eBL part. I am grateful to Ann for all her kind help with administrative work and beyond. I also want to thank Arvind, Saurabh, Nasim, Feng, Prad and all the other group members for providing the family-like ambience which has endowed me with an enjoyable and colorful experience in grad school.

I am grateful to the members of the NUANCE Center. Shuyou, Jinsong, Xinqi and Dr. Shekhawat, thank you all for teaching me equipment skills with the greatest patience, your constant support and help, and your confidence in me as a center associate. Ruth, I can not stress enough how much I appreciate your warm encouragements through these years.

I wish to thank my roommate for four years and one of my best friends, Jing Zhao, for packing my lunchbox countless times. I want to thank Brent Fiedler for being a good listener, a warmhearted friend and a coffee-provider to me on daily basis. Thanks also goes to Ampika Bansiddhi, Peter Hsieh and Joel Horning for all the entertainment and caring they provided.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents who gently offer counsel and unconditional support at each turn of the road, and my fiancé Xiaoxu Ma for his encouragement and tolerance throughout this entire journey – his insisting on flying to Chicago every month made this long-distance relationship a lot easier and merrier.

This work was performed in the EPIC/NIFTI/Keck-II facilities of the NUANCE Center at Northwestern University. The NUANCE Center is supported by NSF-NSEC, NSF-MRSEC, the State of Illinois, and Northwestern University. The research is supported by NSF-NSEC, NSF-MRSEC, and DOE-BES programs at Northwestern University.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS       6         TABLE OF CONTENTS       8         LIST OF TABLES       11         LIST OF FIGURES       12         CHAPTER 1       18         1.1 FUNCTIONAL OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       18         1.2 FERROIC OXIDES: EXAMPLES, STRUCTURE AND PROPERTY       23         1.2.1 BaTiO3: Ferroelectricity and piezoelectricity       23         1.2.2 CoFe3O4: Ferrimagnetism and magnetostriction       27         1.3.1 Planar nanopatterms: Zero-dimensional (D) and one-dimensional (ID) systems       30         1.3.2 CoFe3O4: Ferrimagnetism and magnetostriction       32         1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION       36         CHAPTER 2       38         2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS       40         2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       43         2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling       45         2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)       46         2.4 Soft lithography       48         2.5 Self-organized patterning       51         2.4 OF lithography       52         2.5 Self-organized patterning       51         2.4 Soft lithography (DPN)       52         2.5 Altinography<	ABSTRACT	3
TABLE OF CONTENTS       8         LIST OF TABLES       11         LIST OF FIGURES       12         CHAPTER 1       18         1.1 FUNCTIONAL OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       18         1.2 FERROIC OXIDES: EXAMPLES, STRUCTURE AND PROPERTY       23         1.2.1 BaTiO3: Ferroelectricity and piezoelectricity       23         1.2.2 CoFe2O4: Ferrimagnetism and magnetostriction       27         1.3 FERROIC NANOPATTERNS AT MULTI-DIMENSIONS       29         1.3.1 Planar nanopatterns: Zero-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) systems       30         1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) systems       32         1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION       36         CHAPTER 2       38         2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS       40         2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       43         2.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling       43         2.2.2 Stelf-tindgraphy       48         2.2.5 Self-organized patterning       51         2.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)       52         2.7.3 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches       53         2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME       55	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	6
LIST OF TABLES       11         LIST OF FIGURES       12         CHAPTER 1       18         1.1 FUNCTIONAL OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       18         1.2 FERROIC OXIDES: EXAMPLES, STRUCTURE AND PROPERTY       23         1.2.1 BaTiO <sub>3</sub> : Ferroelectricity and piezoelectricity       23         1.2.2 CoFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> : Ferrimagnetism and magnetostriction       27         1.3 FERROIC NANOPATTERNS AT MULTI-DIMENSIONS       29         1.3.1 Planar nanopatterns: Zero-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) systems       30         1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (3D) heterostructures       32         1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION       36         CHAPTER 2       38         2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS       40         2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       43         2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling       43         2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)       46         2.4 Soft lithography       48         2.5 Self-organized patterning       52         2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches       53         2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME       55         2.4 Steletoron beam lithography       57	TABLE OF CONTENTS	8
LIST OF FIGURES       12         CHAPTER 1       18         1.1 FUNCTIONAL OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       18         1.2 FERROIC OXIDES: EXAMPLES, STRUCTURE AND PROPERTY       23         1.2.1 BaTiO3: Ferroelectricity and piezoelectricity       23         1.2.2 COFe2O4: Ferrimagnetism and magnetostriction       27         1.3 FERROIC NANOPATTERNS AT MULTI-DIMENSIONS       29         1.3.1 Planar nanopatterns: Zero-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) systems       30         1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (0D) heterostructures       32         1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION       34         2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS       40         2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       43         2.1.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)       45         2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)       46         2.4.4 Soft lithography       48         2.5 Self-organized patterning       51         2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)       52         2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches       53         2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME       55         2.4 EXPERIMENTAL	LIST OF TABLES	11
CHAPTER 1       18         1.1 FUNCTIONAL OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       18         1.2 FERROIC OXIDES: EXAMPLES, STRUCTURE AND PROPERTY       23         1.2.1 BaTiO3: Ferroelectricity and piezoelectricity       23         1.2.2 CoFe2Q4: Ferrimagnetism and magnetostriction       27         1.3 FERROIC NANOPATTERNS AT MULTI-DIMENSIONS       29         1.3.1 Planar nanopatterns: Zero-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) systems       30         1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (3D) heterostructures       32         1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION       36         CHAPTER 2       38         2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS       40         2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       43         2.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling       43         2.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)       45         2.3.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)       46         2.4 Soft lithography       51         2.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)       52         2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME       53         2.4 SUbstrate treatment an coating of resist       59         2.4.3 Electron beam lithography       59         2.4.3 Substrate tre	LIST OF FIGURES	12
1.1 FUNCTIONAL OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       18         1.2 FERROIC OXIDES: EXAMPLES, STRUCTURE AND PROPERTY       23         1.2.1 BaTiO3: Ferroelectricity and piezoelectricity       23         1.2.2 CoFe2O4: Ferrimagnetism and magnetostriction       27         1.3 FERROIC NANOPATTERNS AT MULTI-DIMENSIONS       29         1.3.1 Planar nanopatterns: Zero-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) systems       30         1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (3D) heterostructures       32         1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION       36         CHAPTER 2       38         2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS       40         2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       43         2.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling       43         2.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)       45         2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NL)       46         2.2.4 Soft lithography       51         2.2.5 Self-organized patterning.       51         2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME       55         2.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR       57         NANOSTRUCTURES       57         2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors       57         2.	CHAPTER 1	18
1.2 FERROIC OXIDES: EXAMPLES, STRUCTURE AND PROPERTY       23         1.2.1 BaTiO3: Ferroelectricity and piezoelectricity       23         1.2.2 CoFe2O4: Ferrimagnetism and magnetostriction       27         1.3 FERROIC NANOPATTERNS AT MULTI-DIMENSIONS       29         1.3.1 Planar nanopatterns: Zero-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) systems       30         1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (3D) heterostructures.       32         1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION.       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION.       36         CHAPTER 2       38         2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS       40         2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES.       43         2.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling       43         2.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)       45         2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)       46         2.2.4 Soft lithography       48         2.2.5 Self-organized patterning       51         2.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING SCHEME       55         2.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR       57         NANOSTRUCTURES       57         2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors       57         2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist       59	1.1 FUNCTIONAL OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES	18
1.2.1 BaTiO3: Ferroelectricity and piezoelectricity       23         1.2.2 CoFe2O4: Ferrimagnetism and magnetostriction       27         1.3 FERROIC NANOPATTERNS AT MULTI-DIMENSIONS       29         1.3.1 Planar nanopatterns: Zero-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) systems       30         1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (3D) heterostructures       32         1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION       36         CHAPTER 2       38         2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS       40         2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       43         2.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling       43         2.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)       45         2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)       46         2.2.4 Soft lithography       48         2.2.5 Self-organized patterning       51         2.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)       52         2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME       55         2.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR       57         NANOSTRUCTURES       57         2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors       57         2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist       59         2.4.3 E	1.2 FERROIC OXIDES: EXAMPLES. STRUCTURE AND PROPERTY	
1.2.2 CoFe204: Ferrimagnetism and magnetostriction       27         1.3 FERROIC NANOPATTERNS AT MULTI-DIMENSIONS       29         1.3.1 Planar nanopatterns: Zero-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) systems       30         1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (3D) heterostructures       32         1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION       36         CHAPTER 2       38         2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS       40         2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       43         2.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling       43         2.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)       45         2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)       46         2.2.4 Soft lithography       48         2.2.5 Self-organized patterning       51         2.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)       52         2.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches       53         2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING PLANAR       57         2.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR       57         2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors       57         2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist       59         2.4.3 Electron beam lithography       59	1.2.1 BaTiO <sub>3</sub> : Ferroelectricity and piezoelectricity	23
1.3 FERROIC NANOPATTERNS AT MULTI-DIMENSIONS       29         1.3.1 Planar nanopatterns: Zero-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) systems       30         1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (3D) heterostructures       32         1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION       36         CHAPTER 2       38         2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS       40         2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       43         2.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling       43         2.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)       44         2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)       46         2.2.4 Soft lithography       48         2.2.5 Self-organized patterning       51         2.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)       52         2.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches       53         2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME       55         2.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR       57         2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors       57         2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist       59         2.4.3 Electron beam lithography       59         2.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE       61	1.2.2 CoFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> : Ferrimagnetism and magnetostriction	27
1.3.1 Planar nanopatterns: Zero-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) systems       30         1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (3D) heterostructures       32         1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION       36         CHAPTER 2       38         2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS       40         2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       43         2.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling       43         2.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)       45         2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)       46         2.2.4 Soft lithography       48         2.2.5 Self-organized patterning       51         2.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)       52         2.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches       53         2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME       55         2.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR       57         NANOSTRUCTURES       57         2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors       57         2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist       59         2.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE       59	1.3 FERROIC NANOPATTERNS AT MULTI-DIMENSIONS	29
1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (3D) heterostructures       32         1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION       34         1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION       36         CHAPTER 2       38         2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS       40         2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES       43         2.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling       43         2.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)       45         2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)       46         2.2.4 Soft lithography       48         2.2.5 Self-organized patterning       51         2.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)       52         2.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches       53         2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME       55         2.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR       57         NANOSTRUCTURES       57         2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors       57         2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist       59         2.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE       59	1.3.1 Planar nanopatterns: Zero-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) systems	30
1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION	1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (3D) heterostructures	32
1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION	1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION	34
CHAPTER 2382.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS402.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES432.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling432.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)452.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)462.2.4 Soft lithography482.2.5 Self-organized patterning512.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)522.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches532.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME552.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR572.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors572.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist592.4.3 Electron beam lithography592.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE61	1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION	36
2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS 402.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES 432.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling	CHAPTER 2	38
2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES	2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS	40
2.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling432.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)452.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)462.2.4 Soft lithography482.2.5 Self-organized patterning512.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)522.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches532.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME552.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR572.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors572.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist592.4.3 Electron beam lithography592.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE61	2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURE	S 43
2.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)452.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)462.2.4 Soft lithography482.2.5 Self-organized patterning512.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)522.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches532.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME552.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR572.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors572.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist592.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE61	2.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling	43
2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)462.2.4 Soft lithography482.2.5 Self-organized patterning512.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)522.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches532.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME552.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR572.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors572.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist592.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE61	2.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)	45
2.2.4 Soft lithography482.2.5 Self-organized patterning512.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)522.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches532.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME552.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR572.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors572.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist592.4.3 Electron beam lithography592.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE61	2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)	46
2.2.5 Self-organized patterning.512.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)522.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches532.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME552.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR572.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors572.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist592.4.3 Electron beam lithography592.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE61	2.2.4 Soft lithography	48
2.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)522.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches532.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME552.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR572.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors572.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist592.4.3 Electron beam lithography592.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE61	2.2.5 Self-organized patterning	51
2.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches532.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME552.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR57NANOSTRUCTURES572.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors572.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist592.4.3 Electron beam lithography592.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE61	2.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)	52
2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME       55         2.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR       57         NANOSTRUCTURES       57         2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors       57         2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist       59         2.4.3 Electron beam lithography       59         2.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE       61	2.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches	53
2.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR         NANOSTRUCTURES       57         2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors       57         2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist       59         2.4.3 Electron beam lithography       59         2.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE       61	2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME	55
NANOSTRUCTURES       57         2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors       57         2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist       59         2.4.3 Electron beam lithography       59         2.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE       61	2.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR	
2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors       57         2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist       59         2.4.3 Electron beam lithography       59         2.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE       61	NANOSTRUCTURES	57
2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist       59         2.4.3 Electron beam lithography       59         2.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE       61	2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors	57
2.4.3 Electron beam lithography	2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist	59
61	2.4.3 Electron beam lithography 2.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE M	59 10DE
		61

2.5.1 Charge dissipation mechanism in VP-SEM	
2.5.2 Application of VP-SEM in eBL patterning on insulators	64
2.5.3 Optimization of VP-eBL parameters	65
2.6 VP-SOFT-EBL CAPABILITIES	69
2.6.1 Etch free fabrication of ceramic nanostructures	69
2.6.2 High spatial resolution	69
2.6.3 Material/substrate generality	71
2.6.4 Site-specificity	
2.7 EVALUATION ON EASE OF PRACTICE OF VP-SOFT-EBL	
2.8 SUMMARY	
CHAPTER 3	85
3.1 MECHANICAL STABILITY OF SOL-GEL SYSTEMS AND MICROSTRUCTU	JRAL
ENGINEERING STRATEGY	
3.2 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS	
3.3 VARIATION OF MICROSTRUCTURAL DEVELOPMENT WITH PATTERN S	SIZE:
CoFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> 0D DISC PATTERNS	
3.3.1 Development of CoFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> disc patterns on (001) SrTiO <sub>3</sub> substrate	
3.3.2 Equilibrium aspect ratio for "crack-free" patterns	
3.4 SINGLE CRYSTAL CONVERSION STRATEGY AND ORIENTATION CONT	ROL103
3.4.1 Example 1: CoFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> disc patterns on (001) MgO substrate	103
3.4.2 Example 2: BaTiO <sub>3</sub> disc patterns on (001) SrRuO <sub>3</sub> /SrTiO <sub>3</sub> substrate	108
3.5 FACETED SHAPE DEVELOPMENT AND PATTERNING-CONTROLLED	
MORPHOLOGY	114
3.5.1 Faceted shape development for different material/substrate systems	114
3.5.2 Patterning controlled morphology of 0D and 1D nanostructures	116
3.6 SUMMARY	120
CHAPTER 4	121
4.1 VP-SOFT-EBL FOR 2D GRID PATTERNS	122
4.2 OBSERVATION OF PROXIMITY EFFECT IN PATTERNING HIGH DENSITY	Y 2D
GRIDS	125
4.3 PROXIMITY FUNCTION AND PROXIMITY PARAMETERS DETERMINATI	ON. 127
4.3.1 Proximity function and proximity parameters	127
4.3.2 Determination of the proximity parameters in HV-eBL	131
4.3.3 Estimation of the skirting effect in LV-eBL	145
4.3.4 Comments on the fitting approach using EM algorithm and the beam skirt effe	ect 149
4.4 FABRICATION OF 2D HIGH DENSITY GRID WITH DOSE CONTROL AND	
MODIFIED GEOMETRY	153
4.5 SUMMARY	157

CHAPTER 5	. 159
5.1 TWO-STEP PATTERNING OF VERTICALLY STACKED HETEROSTRUCTURE	
PATTERNS	. 161
5.2 FABRICATION OF RADIALLY STACKED HETEROSTRUCTURES	. 164
5.2.1 Barrel-shape pattern development	. 164
5.2.2 Surface modification and fabrication of ring reservoirs	. 168
5.2.3 Fabrication of radially stacked heterostructures	. 174
5.3 SUMMARY	. 180
CHAPTER 6	. 182
6.1 STRESSES EVOLUTION IN SOL-GEL DERIVED THIN FILMS	. 183
6.2 "EDGE-EFFECT" IN NANOPATTERNED SYSTEMS	. 186
6.3 X-RAY MICRODIFFRACTION TECHNIQUE	. 191
6.3.1 Experimental set-up	. 191
6.3.2 Sample preparation	. 193
6.3.3 Experimental procedure	. 195
6.3.4 Comments on the microdiffraction method employed in this work	212
6.4 SUMMARY	. 213
CHAPTER 7	. 214
7.1 SUMMARY OF THE DISSERTATION	. 214
7.2 SUGGESTIONS ON FUTURE WORK	. 217
APPENDICES	222
APPENDIX 4.1 DEDUCTION OF THE FINAL FORM OF Q(x, y)	222
4.1.1 Q(x, y) for line patterns	222
4.1.2 Q(x, y) for grid patterns	222
APPENDIX 4.2 DERIVATION OF EM FOR PROXIMITY PARAMETER	
DETERMINATION	223
APPENDIX 6.1 EXPLANATION OF XRF PEAK POSITION OFFSET IN FIGURE 6.10	) 225
APPENDIX 6.2 CALCULATION OF X-RAY ABSORPTION BY CFO NANOPATTER	Ν
	. 227
REFERENCES	228

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Structure and properties of BTO and PZT <sup>27</sup> 26
Table 1.2 Summary of properties of some spinel ferrites <sup>30, 31</sup> 29
Table 2.1 Comparison of unconventional ceramic nanofabrication techniques    54
Table 2.2 Experimental conditions for patterning on insulating substrates in VP-eBL
Table 2.3 Room temperature resistivity and gas pressure used for VP-soft-eBL patterning on
Nb:STO, SRO/STO and STO substrates75
Table 3.1 Lattice mismatch between different substrates with CFO and BTO       90
Table 3.2 Microstructural development of CFO disc patterns on STO with dimension 100
Table 3.3 Morphology development for different material/substrate systems       115
Table 4.1 Experimental conditions used for patterning the 2D grid shown in figure 4.2 125
Table 4.2 Reported values of $\alpha$ , $\beta$ , $\eta$ and $Q_c$ from literature <sup>197, 199, 202, 203</sup>
Table 4.3 Influences of beam skirt effect on VP-SEM performance
Table 4.4 Change of average line width for $P_{-GLV}$ with exposure dose on STO substrate 155
Table 5.1 Contact angle change of water and ethylene glycol on substrates functionalized with
ODT and OTS SAMs <sup>238</sup>
Table 6.1 Mechanical properties of CoFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> and MgO186
Table 6.2 Change of ROI $2\theta$ angle and outgoing angle with incident angle

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Schematic illustration of typical functional oxide nano-architectures. (a) free-standing; (b) nanocrystalline ceramics or nanocomposites; (c) spatially and dimensionally constrained nanopatterns
Figure 1.2: BaTiO <sub>3</sub> lattice structure
Figure 1.3: Schematic illustration of normal spinel structure
Figure 1.4: " <i>Materials science and engineering</i> " of nano-constrained functional oxides–Scheme of the research objectives and organization of the dissertation
Figure 2.1: Schematic diagram of photolithography-based patterning procedure
Figure 2.2: Key steps in NIL procedure. From top to bottom: pressing the mold into the polymer film; embossing the topographic features into the polymer and cooling down; removing the mold; etching to remove the residual polymer in the pressed regions
Figure 2.3: Schematic diagram of four typical soft lithography procedures: µTM, embossing, MIMC and µCP
Figure 2.4: Scheme of DPN (adapted from literature <sup>113</sup> )
Figure 2.5: Schematic illustration of Soft-eBL procedure. (a) e-beam lithography; (b) development and surface functionalization; (c) spinning of sol precursor; (d) lift-off, pyrolysis and annealing
Figure 2.6: Viscosity of 0.05 M CFO sol
Figure 2.7: Schematic illustration of ionization of gas molecules and charge compensation in VP- SEM. Courtesy: Benjamin Myers
Figure 2.8: Schematic diagram illustrating formation of electron scattering "skirt" around the focused beam in VP-SEM
Figure 2.9: VP-SEM images of Au/Pd electrodes patterned via eBL and lift-off processing in PMMA on glass with a 30 kV beam in high vacuum (a) and with the VP-eBL using 1 Torr of water vapor (b), at the same magnification. The inset in (b) is a close-up of the ~30 nm electrode gap. Courtesy: Benjamin Myers
Figure 2.10: ZnO line patterns on Si wafer after annealing showing the high spatial resolution of VP-soft-eBL patterning
Figure 2.11: Versatility of VP-soft-eBL demonstrated through multitude of materials patterned with various liquid phase precursors. (a) SEM image of Pb(Zr, Ti)O <sub>3</sub> discs on Nb:SrTiO <sub>3</sub> single

crystal substrate, before annealing. (b) SEM image of BiFeO<sub>3</sub> discs on Si wafer, annealed in air at 600 °C for 30 min. (c) AFM image and cross section profile of  $CoFe_2O_4$  discs on SrTiO<sub>3</sub> single crystal substrate, annealed in air at 1000 °C. (d) SEM image of ZnO line pattern formed by colloidal particles on Si wafer. (e) SEM image of polypyrrole line patterns on Si wafer. ...... 73

Figure 2.14: (a-b) STEM images of CoFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> nanodiscs on SiN <sub>x</sub> membrane; inset of (b) shows
the diffraction pattern taken from the disc with [001] zone axis, illustrating its single crystal
nature. (c) EDS spectra taken on the disc and on the plain membrane. (d) STEM image of
$BaTiO_3 50$ nm-diameter disc on $SiN_x$ membrane and the point-by-point analysis of EELS spectra
across the pattern

Figure 2.16: ZnO lines (75 nm-wide) patterned across two Au electrodes. Inset shows the de	tail
at the end of one line	82

Figure 3.5: STEM image of 200 nm CFO nanodiscs (right) and point-by-point EDX spectra analysis (left) taken on the disc and on the STO substrate
Figure 3.6: (a) Topographic image of a $5 \times 5$ array of CFO disc patterns; (b) MFM phase image on the same area without external magnetization. Scale bar = 1 $\mu$ m
Figure 3.7: Single crystal conversion of CFO disc patterns on (100) MgO substrate. (a) VP-SEM image before annealing; (b) VP-SEM image after annealing in air at 1000 °C; (c) AFM image after annealing. Inset shows the schematic representation of the faceted shape (up) and a magnified three dimensional image of one CFO pattern (bottom). White arrows indicate the <100> directions of the MgO substrate
Figure 3.8: VP-SEM images of CFO disc patterns annealed at 1000 °C with increasing annealing time. (a) 30 min; (b) 1 hr; (c) 2 hr; (d) 4 hr. Scale bar = 500 nm
Figure 3.9: BTO single crystal patterns on SRO/STO substrate with faceted shape. (a) SEM image. (b) AFM image. Arrows indicate the <100> directions of the substrate
Figure 3.10: (a) TEM cross-sectional image of BTO/SRO/STO structures. Sample is cut along <110> direction of the substrate, through 10 nanopatterns. (c) TEM high resolution image at BTO/SRO interface showing the heteroepitaxy between the nanostructure and the substrate. Arrow indicates the interface position. The uneven background is due to the ion beam damage introduced during FIB lift-off procedure. 110
Figure 3.11: EELS map across one BTO pattern showing the chemical constituent distribution. The color scheme is set as: green=Ti ( $L_{2,3}$ edges), red=Ba ( $M_{4,5}$ edges), blue=C (K edge; carbon is introduced during TEM sample preparation), which brings a yellowish hue to the BTO pattern. The black layer under BTO pattern corresponds to the SRO film. Inset shows the corresponding dark field STEM image of the pattern. Pattern edge is indicated by the dash line
Figure 3.12: Bias-phase hysteresis loop obtained with PFM from one BTO disc pattern with 200 nm width on SRO/STO substrate
Figure 3.13: (a, b) BTO frustum and pyramid, obtained by patterning with different eBL resist thickness. (c) VP-SEM image of CFO line patterned along $<100>_{MgO}$ . (d) shows detail of the zig-zag edge. (e) VP-SEM image of CFO line patterned along $<110>_{MgO}$ . (f) Image of one end of the line showing the faceting detail
Figure 4.1: Schematic diagram of 0D, 1D and 2D nanopatterns 122
Figure 4.2: (a) A portion of the geometric design of the $100 \times 100 \mu\text{m}^2 2D$ grid. (b) VP-SEM image of BaTiO <sub>3</sub> grid pattern on SrTiO <sub>3</sub> substrate based on the design in (a). The pattern exhibit ~220 nm line width and overexposed node areas before annealing
Figure 4.3: Proximity effect due to the primary beam scattering with resist film, substrate and the gas molecules in VP-eBL process

Figure 4.4: Procedure of determining proximity parameters from exposure experiments. $P(x,y)$ denotes the mathematic form of the pattern geometry
Figure 4.5: Schematic diagram of the two pattern designs
Figure 4.6: Line width expansion with increasing designed area dose for patterns $P_{\_L}$ (open squares) and $P_{\_G}$ (filled squares). Blue line indicates the designed width W = 100 nm
Figure 4.7: Energy deposition function $\log_{10} f(r)$ for the specific <i>e</i> BL patterning and development conditions used in the experiments, with $\alpha = 58.4686$ nm, $\beta = 3.2668 \mu$ m, and $\eta = 0.9611$ . Figure 4.7(b) shows the magnified portion of (a) encircles by the green lines
Figure 4.8: Comparison of line width change with area dose $Q_s$ between high vacuum and low vacuum (1.5 Torr) conditions
Figure 4.9: Energy deposition function $\log_{10} s(r)$ in LV-eBL for the specific patterning and development conditions used in the experiments. Figure 4.9(b) shows the magnified portion of (a) encircles by the pink lines
Figure 4.10: (a) Geometric design to avoid overexposure at the nodes. (b) BTO grid on STO substrate (after annealing) patterned using the modified geometry in (a) with 280 $\mu$ C/cm <sup>2</sup> area dose
Figure 5.1: Fabrication procedures for vertically-aligned patterns
Figure 5.2: $CoFe_2O_4/BaTiO_3$ heterostructure patterns fabricated through double-alignment procedure in VP-soft-eBL. (a) SEM image of BaTiO_3 (bottom)/CoFe_2O_4 (top) on Si wafer, before annealing. (b) SEM image of BaTiO_3 (bottom)/CoFe_2O_4 (top) on SRO/STO, annealed at 900 °C. Inset shows the detail of one such heterostructure, the top white contrast corresponds to the CoFe_2O_4 layer due to the higher thickness. (c) VP-SEM image of CoFe_2O_4 (bottom)/ BaTiO_3 (top) on MgO substrate, annealed at 900 °C. (d) AFM topographic image and cross section analysis of CoFe_2O_4 (bottom)/ BaTiO_3 (top) on MgO substrate. Inset shows the three- dimensional profile for one pattern. 163
Figure 5.3: PZT barrels developed from square ring patterns on platinized silicon substrate. (a) AFM topographic image and cross sectional analysis of PZT barrels before annealing. (b) AFM 3-D construction of the barrels. (c) SEM image of PZT barrels before annealing. (d) SEM BSE image of PZT barrels annealed at 600 °C for 1hr. Insets in (c) and (d) shows image of one pattern. 165
Figure 5.4: Evaporation of a sessile droplet on the substrate with pinned contact line and formation of barrel-shape geometry after drying
Figure 5.5: The effect of Au surface functionalization using ODT SAM on PZT ring formation (a) AFM image of PZT patterns on bare Au. The patterns developed into barrel shape after drying, leaving 50nm thick PZT at the center of the bottom. (b) AFM image of PZT rings formed on

ODT modified Au surface. (c) SIMS Ti<sup>+</sup> map further confirms the pure ring structure formation. The rings appear to be connected due to the shadowing effect from the restriction of the incident Figure 5.6: PZT rings on Si substrate and SrTiO<sub>3</sub> substrate modified by OTS SAM. (a) AFM topographic image and cross sectional profile of PZT rings formed on OTS modified Si wafer. (b) SIMS Ti<sup>+</sup> map further confirms the pure ring structure formation. (c) VP-SEM image of PZT ring structure on OTS modified single crystal SrTiO<sub>3</sub> substrate. Inset shows backscattered Figure 5.7: eBL undercut profile in bi-layer resist. White dotted line in inset schematically shows the edge of the profile. The thickness of the copolymer layer is 150nm and the undercut length is Figure 5.8: Scheme of patterning radially stacked heterostructures without feature re-alignment. Figure 5.9: Radially stacked PZT/CFO heterostructure patterns fabricated using the PZT rings as building block "containers". (a) SEM image of PZT shell/CFO core on Pt, after annealing. Inset is the BSE image showing contrast between the core and shell materials with white lines indicating the edge of the PZT shell. (b, c) TEM images of PZT shell/CFO core heterostructures on amorphous  $SiN_x$  membrane, before (b) and after annealing (c). Inset shows the electron diffraction pattern taken from one core-shell pattern, where "P" stands for PZT (tetragonal phase) Figure 5.10: VP-Soft-eBL process for pattern shape control from disc-shape trenches in e-beam resist. Scheme I: For barrel structure development; Scheme II: For nanoring structure Figure 6.2: Schematic illustration of different mechanisms for edge-induced stress relaxation in a patterned system (assuming tensile stress in the initial pseudomorphic pattern before relaxation). Figure 6.3: Simulation result of stress in the substrate of a patterned sample adapted from literature.<sup>263</sup> (a) Schematic diagram of the strip heterostructure with width = 2l and thickness = h. (b) Calculated stresses in the substrate of a patterned sample with (l, h) = (20, 1). Substrate thickness  $h_s = 50$  units. Solid line: at a depth of  $h_s/50$  from the interface; dotted line: at a depth of  $h_s/5$  from the interface; and dashed line: at a depth of  $h_s/2$  from the interface.  $\sigma_0$  represents the biaxial mismatch stress value in an infinitely-large film of the same material system. The range 

Figure 6.5: Schematic illustration of the sample with CFO line patterns and Au/Pd marker on (001) MgO substrate
Figure 6.6: A simplified illustration of geometry for detection of the diffraction and XRF signal from the nanopatterns
Figure 6.7: Theta-2theta scan about $\theta_B (400) = 35.724^\circ$ . The intensity drop at the center is due to the beam stop used to reduce the zero-order beam and prevent the saturation of CCD
Figure 6.8: $2\theta - \chi$ frame collected by exposure on an area of MgO substrate free of CFO pattern, $\theta_{in} = \theta_B + 0.2^\circ = 35.924^\circ.$ 198
Figure 6.9: Schematic illustration of specular reflection and diffuse scattering from a single crystal substrate (with zero-miscut in the goniometer plane)
Figure 6.10: Diffraction result from scanning across one CFO line. (a) Schematic illustration of the sample cross-section. Inset shows the VP-SEM image of the line at the illuminated area. (b) XRF signal; (b) Integrated intensity of ROI-1 across the line; (c) Integrated intensity of ROI-2 across the line
Figure 6.11: (a) Schematic illustration of the sample area; (b) XRF signal; (b) Variation of the integrated specular reflection intensity (ROI-1) across this area; (c) Variation of the integrated diffuse scattering intensity (ROI-2) across this area. The high contrast at bottom-right is probably due to a random substrate defect (i.e., a scratch)
Figure 6.12: (a) Plots of integrated ROI-2 intensity at different longitudinal positions. From top to bottom: scan results at x-positions corresponding to the middle of the CFO line, at the end of the line, 800 nm away from the line end and 2.6 $\mu$ m away from the line end. All line scans are plotted within the same vertical scale. (b) Schematic illustration of the relative positions where the scans are performed. 211
Figure 7.1: In-situ domain switching measurement performed by poling the patterns with an applied voltage on the PFM tip. The sample is 100 nm-wide BTO 2D grid on (001) Nb:STO substrate. Inset shows a schematic of the DC bias ( $\pm$ 4V) applied to the pattern and the AC signal (sine wave of 2V amplitude at 43 kHz) used to probe the piezoresponse. Contributor: Aravind Vasudeva Rao, Gopalan group, Pennsylvania State University

## **CHAPTER 1**

### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 FUNCTIONAL OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES**

During the past two decades, ever-increasing research attention has been paid to the design and realization of functional oxide nanostructures of varies types. The family of functional oxides possesses a very broad spectrum of technologically significant linear and non-linear properties in response to electric, magnetic, stress field, or combinations of them. These properties are inclusive of, but not limited to, ferroelectricity,<sup>1, 2</sup> ferromagnetism,<sup>3</sup> ferroelectromagnetsim,<sup>4</sup> colossal magnetoresistance,<sup>5</sup> abnormal thermal expansion,<sup>6</sup> fast ionic conductivity,<sup>7</sup> and high T<sub>c</sub> superconductivity.<sup>8</sup> Many of these properties show remarkable size dependency as well as interesting synergistic coupling when materials with different functionalities are positioned in close proximity. Therefore, the ability to manipulate and measure oxides at the nanometer and atomic levels has led to the discovery of surprising materials behaviors and patenting of new products and processes based on nanostructure control of these functional oxides.

Depending on their architectures, functional oxide nanostructures that are currently under study can be categorized into three types, namely i) freestanding nanostructures; ii) nanocrystalline ceramics or nanocomposites; and iii) spatially and dimensionally constrained nanopatterns. Figure 1.1 schematically illustrates the typical morphology of these three types of nanostructures. The following paragraphs will briefly summarize the potential applications and typical fabrication methods for each type.



Figure 1.1: Schematic illustration of typical functional oxide nano-architectures. (a) freestanding; (b) nanocrystalline ceramics or nanocomposites; (c) spatially and dimensionally constrained nanopatterns.

#### 1. Freestanding nanostructures

Freestanding materials include isotropic structures such as zero-dimensional (0D) nanoclusters and nanoparticles, and anisotropic one-dimensional (1D) structures such as nanowires, nanorods and nanobelts in dispersion form. Due to the high surface-to-volume ratio and the quantum confinement effect at low dimensions, the freestanding functional oxide nanostructures are showing great potentials both in catalysis, battery electrodes and electrochemical capacitors<sup>9</sup> and in fabricating nanosized electrical junctions, optoelectronic and electromechanical devices.<sup>10</sup> Various chemical methods have been developed for making 0D and 1D freestanding oxide nanostructures from a wide range of materials with well-controlled morphologies. These methods include, but not limited to, sol-gel approach,<sup>9</sup> electrophoretic deposition,<sup>11</sup> and hydrothermal synthesis.<sup>12</sup> A generic character of these methods is: they are wet

chemistry routes that utilize the self-organization of material precursors to form the preferred phase and morphology in liquid environment, or otherwise known as "bottom-up" approaches.

#### 2. Nanocrystalline ceramics and nanocomposites

Nanocrystalline oxide ceramics are known to possess unique physical and mechanical properties, including enhanced ductility and superplasticity even in traditionally brittle materials; superior strength; and optical transparency in usually opaque ceramics.<sup>13</sup> Nanocomposites, i.e., ceramics containing at least one phase with constituents of less than 100 nm in size, exhibit enhanced mechanical, magnetic, high-temperature, and optical properties, as well as excellent catalytic properties.<sup>14</sup> The fabrication of nanocrystalline or nanocomposite oxide ceramics usually rely on synthesis of single phase nanopowders or composite powders with nanoembedments, followed by consolidation of these powders into bulk-sized components while preserving their nanostructures. Traditional sintering methods such as cold pressing, hot pressing, and hot isostatic pressing have strong limitations of not being able to retain the nanoscale grain size due to excessive grain growth during processing. Unconventional consolidation techniques that employ non-equilibrium mass transfer under high energy or high pressure have been explored to solve this problem. These techniques include transformation-assisted consolidation,<sup>15</sup> spark plasma sintering,<sup>16</sup> dynamic consolidation using shock waves,<sup>17</sup> microwave sintering,<sup>18</sup> and laser-based techniques.<sup>19</sup>

### 3. Spatially and dimensionally constrained nanopatterns

In the context of this dissertation, *spatial confinement* refers to inevitable attachment of materials to a substrate or an overlayer(s). *Dimensional* constraint arises from the ubiquitous

need for materials to be confined in different dimensionalities to enhance aerial density and possible novel properties. For example, a blanket thin film is spatially confined by the underlying substrate in two in-plane directions, and its vertical size is constrained dimensionally at a given thickness. To be succinct, the term "spatially and dimensionally constrained nanostructures" is sometimes replaced with definitions readily used to describe freestanding structures hereafter, i.e., 0-dimensional nanopatterns represent nanodots or nanodiscs confined on a substrate, whereas 1-dimensional nanopatterns refer to lines with sub-100 nm width lying in-plane on a substrate, etc.

Compared with the freestanding form, the dimensionally constrained nanopatterns possess the following unique characteristics:

- Due to the atomic bonding between the nanostructures and the underlying substrate, the crystallinity of the nanostructures can be dictated by the substrate, akin to what has been demonstrated in thin film technology. Furthermore, through proper chemical modification of the substrate, the morphology and orientation of the patterned nanostructured can be tuned.<sup>20, 21</sup> This provides a new degree of freedom to engineer the nanostructures.
- The lattice mismatch and thermal mismatch between different materials involved in the system (including the nanopattern, the substrate, and in some cases capping layer or matrix) provide constraint on the nanostructures in terms of stress or strain field. This may lead to surprising property change or interesting synergistic coupling phenomena at the small length scale. It is particularly palpable for materials that are

sensitive to the strain field, e.g., electrostrictive or magnetostrictive or a heterostrcture of both. Simulation results indicate that the strain condition varies drastically with the geometry of the patterns,<sup>22, 23</sup> making it possible to harness the functional performance of materials by changing the design of fabrication.

iii) Substrate-integrated patterns usually have similar size, shape and geometric anisotropy. For functional oxides that are responsive to external actuations (e.g., photoelectric, ferroelectric or magnetic), a uniform response over all patterns can be expected under the applied external field. This makes them very suitable for nanoelectronic or nanomagnetic device applications.

Nano-constrained structures can be fabricated via either "top-down" or "bottom-up" route. Utilizing the state-of-the-art thin film deposition and lithography capability, "top-down" approaches ensure precise shape, size and separation of the pattern. However, "top-down" processes usually involve destructive steps such as etching or ion beam milling, which may cause structural damage to the nanopatterns. "Bottom-up" approaches have been demonstrated for simple oxide systems such as ZnO<sup>20, 21</sup> and TiO<sub>2</sub>,<sup>24</sup> by nucleation control and self-assembled patterning. For multi-cation oxides, nanometer size structures can be achieved by utilizing the microstructural instability of ultra-thin films.<sup>25</sup> However, nanostructures obtained in this way have random distribution and non-uniform size and shape. It is generally difficult to achieve precise geometric control while maintaining the preferred microstructure, particularly for multi-cation oxides. The challenges of preparing dimensionally constrained nanostructure of functional oxides will be addressed in detail in chapter 2.

#### **1.2 FERROIC OXIDES: EXAMPLES, STRUCTURE AND PROPERTY**

Among varies functional oxide materials, nanopatterning of ferroic oxides are of particular fundamental science interests and great technological importance. Ferroic is the generic name given to ferro/ferrimagnets, ferroelectrics and ferroelastics. Because of their sensitivity to magnetic, electric or elastic fields, nanopatterned architectures of ferroic oxides have a considerable bearing on the manner in which the materials can be integrated in to micro- and nanoscale devices. Specifically, this dissertation focuses on patterning and microstructural tuning of ferroelectric oxide barium titanate (BaTiO<sub>3</sub>) and ferrimagnetic oxide cobalt ferrite (CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>) systems. The structures and properties of the two materials are briefly introduced below.

## 1.2.1 BaTiO<sub>3</sub>: Ferroelectricity and piezoelectricity

BaTiO<sub>3</sub> (BTO) is one of the most studied ferroelectric materials and can serve as an excellent example to illustrate the ferroelectricity associated with its perovskite structure. Typical perovskite structure has a general formula of ABO<sub>3</sub>. It is characterized by a close-packed cubic structure formed by  $A^{2+}$  and  $O^{2-}$  ions combined with highly charged  $B^{4+}$  ions in octahedral interstices. Each  $A^{2+}$  is surrounded by twelve nearest-neighbor  $O^{2-}$  ions; each  $B^{4+}$  ion is surrounded by six  $O^{2-}$  ions. In BaTiO<sub>3</sub> the large Ba<sup>2+</sup> ions and  $O^{2-}$  ions form an *f.c.c.*-like lattice with Ti<sup>4+</sup> ions fitting into octahedral interstices. A schematic illustration of BaTiO<sub>3</sub> lattice structure is shown in figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2: BaTiO<sub>3</sub> lattice structure

Below the Curie temperature  $T_c = 120$  °C, the octahedral structure changes from cubic to tetragonal symmetry with Ti<sup>4+</sup> in an off-center position corresponding to a net electrical dipole moment. Such a spontaneous alignment of electric dipoles which can be reoriented by the application of an electric field is the origin of ferroelectricity in perovskite structures. The behavior of the spontaneous polarization is explained using Landau-Ginzburg-Devonshire theory by expansion of the free energy as a function of the polarization P.<sup>26</sup> Minimization of free energy gives the form of P in thermal equilibrium for first-order and second-order transitions.

Another important characteristic of ferroelectric oxides is piezoelectricity. Piezoelectricity is the ability of materials to produce electrical charge when stress is applied (direct piezoelectric effect), and to produce strain when an electric field is applied (converse piezoelectric effect). The direct and converse piezoelectric effects can be described as the following coupled equations:

$$\{S\} = [s^{E}]\{T\} + [d_{t}]\{E\}$$
(1.1)

$$\{D\} = [d]\{T\} + [\varepsilon^T]\{E\}$$
(1.2)

where S is strain, s is compliance, T is stress, d is piezoelectric coefficient, E is electric field,  $\varepsilon$  is permittivity. The superscript E indicates a zero, or constant, electric field; the superscript T indicates a zero, or constant, stress field; and the subscript t stands for transposition of the piezoelectric coefficient matrix.

For a poled piezoelectric material with cylindrical symmetry, equations 1.1 and 1.2 are usually shown in the matrix notation below (for 4mm class):

$$\begin{bmatrix} S_{1} \\ S_{2} \\ S_{3} \\ S_{4} \\ S_{5} \\ S_{6} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} s_{11}^{E} & s_{12}^{E} & s_{13}^{E} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ s_{12}^{E} & s_{13}^{E} & s_{13}^{E} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ s_{13}^{E} & s_{13}^{E} & s_{33}^{E} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & s_{44}^{E} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & s_{44}^{E} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & s_{66}^{E} = 2(s_{11}^{E} - s_{12}^{E}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} T_{1} \\ T_{2} \\ T_{3} \\ T_{4} \\ T_{5} \\ T_{6} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & d_{31} \\ 0 & 0 & d_{31} \\ 0 & 0 & d_{33} \\ 0 & d_{15} & 0 \\ d_{15} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} E_{1} \\ E_{2} \\ E_{3} \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.3)

$$\begin{bmatrix} D_1 \\ D_2 \\ D_3 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & d_{15} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & d_{15} & 0 & 0 \\ d_{31} & d_{31} & d_{33} & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} T_1 \\ T_2 \\ T_3 \\ T_4 \\ T_5 \\ T_6 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon_{11} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \varepsilon_{11} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \varepsilon_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} E_1 \\ E_2 \\ E_3 \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.4)

Table 1.1 lists structural details and some physical properties of BaTiO<sub>3</sub> and another widely used ferroelectric material PbZr<sub>x</sub>Ti<sub>1-x</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (PZT), including their Curie temperature  $T_c$ , piezoelectric coefficient *d* and dielectric constant  $\varepsilon_r$  at room temperature.

Material	Structure	Lattice constant	Space group	<i>T<sub>c</sub></i> (°C)	E <sub>r</sub>	<i>d</i> (10 <sup>-12</sup> V/m)
BaTiO₃	Tetragonal	a=3.99 Å c=4.03 Å	P4mm	130	$\epsilon_{r 11} = 1600$ $\epsilon_{r 33} = 1900$	$d_{31} = -79$ $d_{33} = 190$ $d_{15} = 270$
PbZr <sub>0.44</sub> Ti <sub>0.56</sub> O <sub>3</sub> ⊕	Tetragonal	a=4.02 Å c=4.14 Å	P4mm	380	$\epsilon_{r 11} = 1130$ $\epsilon_{r 33} = 2800$	$d_{31} = -234$ $d_{33} = 480$ $d_{15} = 335$

Table 1.1 Structure and properties of BTO and PZT<sup>27</sup>

⊕- A typical composition of PZT with tetragonally distorted perovskite structure.

Based on their unique physical characteristics, BaTiO<sub>3</sub> and other ferroelectric oxides show three main technological niches. First, as a result of spontaneous polarization which can be switched by external electric field, the binary data "0" and "1" can be encoded by the two directions of the ferroelectric polarization. This is the working principle of non-volatile ferroelectric random access memories (NVFRAM). Second, the coupling between a material's mechanical and electrical behaviors enables the conversion between the two different energy formations. This is the basis for wide application of perovskite-structured oxides in high voltage and power sources, sensors, actuators and piezoelectric motors. Finally, the large dielectric permittivity leads to applications in capacitors.

### 1.2.2 CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>: Ferrimagnetism and magnetostriction

CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> (CFO) is a spinel-structured ferrimagnetic oxide. The general formula of spinel structures is AB<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> where A stands for divalent cations and B trivalent. The oxygen ions are in face-centered cubic close packing. In a unit cell, which contains 32 oxygen ions, there are 32 octahedral sites and 64 tetrahedral sites. For "normal spinel", all 8 A<sup>2+</sup> ions are on the tetrahedral sites (*a* sites) and all 16 B<sup>3+</sup> ions on the octahedral sites (*b* sites); whereas in the "inverse spinel", 8 of the 16 B<sup>3+</sup> ions fill tetrahedral sites and the rest 8 B<sup>3+</sup> and 8 A<sup>2+</sup> ions together fill the 16 octahedral sites. A schematic illustration of normal spinel structure is shown in figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3: Schematic illustration of normal spinel structure

The magnetic properties of spinel ferrimagnets are rich and complex. The term "ferrimagnetism" was first used by Néel<sup>28</sup> to describe the properties of ferrites, which combine the resistivity of good insulators with high permeability. Ferrimagnets behave similar to ferromagnets, in that they exhibit a spontaneous magnetization below some critical temperature (Néel temperature) even in the absence of an applied magnetic field. In a ferrimagnet, the

exchange coupling between adjacent magnetic ions leads to anti-parallel alignment of the localized moments. The overall magnetization occurs because the magnetization of one sublattice is greater than that of the other sublattice. Magnetic ordering in spinels can be described by mean field theory, which considers the exchange interactions between cations.<sup>29</sup>

CFO is ideally a complete inverse spinel. It shows extremely high magnetocrystalline anisotropy, which means its magnetic properties vary depending on the crystallographic direction in which the magnetic moments are aligned. Magnetization of CFO is easier along <100> directions, compared with other crystalline directions. In addition to magnetocrystalline anisotropy, CFO also shows strong magnetostrictive property i.e., shape change when subjected to an external magnetic field. It arises from the strain dependence of the anisotropy constants. The microstructural explanation of magnetostriction is the magnetic domain shift and rotation causing the dimension change of the material upon a magnetic field. For CFO, the fractional change in dimension at saturation magnetization is as high as the order of 10<sup>-4</sup>, more than 10 times larger than many other ferrite oxides and about 100 times larger than ferromagnets such as Co and Ni.

Table 1.2 summaries the properties of several spinel ferrites, including the number of Bohr magnetons per molecule  $\mu_B$  (measured and calculated), the Néel temperature  $T_N$ , the room-temperature resistivity  $\rho$ , the saturization magnetization  $M_s$ , the magnetostrictive constant  $\lambda$ , and the magnetocrystalline anisotropy constant  $K_I$ . Due to their high resistivity, ferrites find applications in situations where the electrical conductivity shown by most ferromagnetic materials would be detrimental. For example, they are widely used in high-frequency

applications, because an *ac* field does not induce undesirable eddy currents in an insulating material. Among those ferrites CFO has favorable hard magnetic property, relatively high  $T_N$  and extraordinary high magnetostrictive constant. These properties are enticing for integration of CFO with other field-sensitive materials for novel functional devices.

Materials	Lattice Parameters (Å)	ρ (Ω·cm)	<i>Т</i> <sub>N</sub> (°С)	M <sub>s</sub> (emu/cm <sup>3</sup> )	<i>K</i> <sub>1</sub> (erg/cm <sup>3</sup> )	λ (10 <sup>-6</sup> )
CoFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub>	8.391	10 <sup>7</sup>	520	425	2×10 <sup>6</sup>	-110
MnFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub>	8.499	10 <sup>4</sup>	312	400	-3×10 <sup>4</sup>	-5
CuFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub>	8.370 (quenched)	10 <sup>5</sup>	447	135	-6.3×10 <sup>4</sup>	-17
NiFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub>	8.337	10 <sup>3~</sup> 10 <sup>4</sup>	585	270	-6.9×10 <sup>4</sup>	-10

Table 1.2 Summary of properties of some spinel ferrites<sup>30, 31</sup>

### **1.3 FERROIC NANOPATTERNS AT MULTI-DIMENSIONS**

Research focuses on ferroic oxide nanostructures constrained at multi-dimensionalities are introduced in this section. Because dimensional or spatial confinement is embodied in form of patterned architectures in the context of this dissertation, the term "nanopatterns" is used to indicate the nanostructures under substrate constraint with uniform geometry and regular distribution, as mentioned earlier. Zero-dimensional (e.g., nanodots) and one-dimensional (e.g., nanorods or nanolines) architectures are the most well-studied planar nanostructure systems for ferroic oxides mainly because they exhibit tantalizing potentials in field- or stress-sensitive devices. For example, nanopatterns of ferroelectric oxide Pb( $Zr_xTi_{1-x}$ )O<sub>3</sub> in the form of 80nm-thick capacitor has been employed in non-volatile memory devices. Storage density as high as 10 Giga-Bit (GB) can be prospectively achieved in the non-volatile memory device by reducing the lateral dimensions of the ferroelectric capacitors to less than 100 nm.<sup>32</sup> Ferroelectric nanorods with diameters as small as 5 to 60 nm were obtained by a solution phase decomposition.<sup>33</sup> Ferroelectric switching was proved for PZT or BTO nanotubes<sup>34</sup> and nanorods.<sup>35</sup> These ferroelectric rods or tubes can be used as building block of miniaturized electromechanical devices. For instance, the piezoelectric tubes with diameters in the micron range and a higher aspect ratio than the bulk counterpart will enable extreme miniaturization of scanners.

There are several fundamental questions related to the size shrinking in 0D and 1D ferroic nanopatterns that must be taken into consideration. For instance, it has long been believed (on the basis of empirical evidence) that there is a critical correlation volume on the order of hundreds of angstroms below which the total energy payoff associated with dipole formation and alignment is outweighed by the entropic desire to disorder.<sup>36, 37</sup> The intrinsic size effect therefore poses a fundamental limit on the stability of spontaneous electric polarization in a material and would render ferroelectrics useless for applications at sizes below this cutoff. Recent first-principles theoretical work has indicated that the critical size is orders of magnitude smaller than previously thought.<sup>38, 39</sup> However, the extensive array of experimental data available from

different groups still indicates that down-sizing strongly influence the performance of ferroelectric materials within tens of nm to submicron size range.<sup>40</sup> The physical nature of the size effect can be rather complicated. It may involve intrinsic phenomena such as depolarization<sup>41</sup> as well as extrinsic phenomena related to oxygen vacancy gradient and charge injection,<sup>42</sup> both of which strongly correlate to the property of ferroelectric/electrode interface.

Another intensely studied area particularly focused on the nanopatterned architectures is: what are the effects of the constrained geometries on the order parameters? Compared with their thin film counterparts, substrate-integrated nanopatterns may experience significantly different strain conditions which are determined not only by the pattern/substrate material system (i.e. the misfit stress/strain), but the geometric factors such as the lateral size, thickness, aspect ratio and shape. For example, it has been predicted theoretically<sup>43</sup> and demonstrated experimentally<sup>44, 45</sup> that patterning ferroelectrics into discrete islands greatly enhanced the piezo-response than thin film forms due to less clamping from the substrate. Another example through finite element analysis suggests significantly different phenomena in stress distribution in the 1D nanostructure compared with 0D, due to the large aspect ratio of longitudinal versus transverse dimensions in the former.<sup>46</sup> This may lead to an interesting research direction, i.e., to prepare a series of 0D, 1D and even 2D nanopatterns (e.g., grids or networks) under the same processing protocol and use them as test structures to probe the size- or geometry-dependence at sub-micron length scales.

One may expect from the above argument, that the intrinsic material properties of ferroic oxides are strongly correlated with various extrinsic factors, which complicate the behavior of miniaturized structures.<sup>47</sup> Except for the strain effects from substrates (or electrodes), these factors also include surface/interface properties<sup>48</sup> and sometimes patterning process control.<sup>49</sup> It

is worth pointing out that the current experimental approaches to understand the fundamental influences of reduced dimensionality and spatial constraint are mainly limited to scanning probe microscopy (SPF), due to the practical difficulty of detecting polarization or magnetization from a tiny, discrete pattern. The SPF-based method exceeds in its high site-specificity, yet this approach is generally difficult to disentangle the intrinsic material properties from various extrinsic factors, e.g., strain distribution in and around the nanostructures. Experimental methods that allow direct mapping or measurement of strain contribution are highly favorable to understand the behavior of nano-constrained ferroic materials.

#### 1.3.2 Non-planar stacking: Three-dimensional (3D) heterostructures

In comparison to planar arrays of functional oxides that are interesting for their intrinsic properties, non-planar stacking of more than two types of functional oxides may lead to fascinating "product behavior" due to the interaction between different order parameters. For example, it has been reported that arrays of magnetic dots can constitute effective ordered pinning centers for the vortex lattice when they interact with type II superconducting films.<sup>50</sup> It has also been demonstrated that the transport properties of ordered La<sub>0.7</sub>Ca<sub>0.3</sub>MnO<sub>3</sub> nanostructures can be tuned through a mechanical coupling with the surrounding MgO matrix.<sup>51</sup>

In the context of ferroelectric and ferrimagnetic oxides, multilayer structures for the magnetoelectric coupling effect (the "ME effect") have long been investigated.<sup>52-54</sup> Most recently, 3D heterogeneous nanostructures of ferroelectrics and ferrimagnets have attracted considerable attention, as the unique geometry significantly enhances such interactions.<sup>55</sup> Currently, the materials systems studied most for the multiferroic 3D heterostructures are perovskite

ferroelectrics (e.g., BaTiO<sub>3</sub>) and spinel ferrite (e.g., NiFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> and CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>).<sup>56-58</sup> This is because both structures are built on the basis of octahedral oxygen coordination and that perovskites and spinels have very little solid solubility between each other.<sup>59</sup> BTO can form eutectic with CFO due to the reasonably commensurate lattice parameters  $(a_{CFO}\approx 2a_{BTO})^{60}$ . This innate structural compatibility enables them to self-assemble into vertically aligned heterostructures during sputtering process. The so-called multiferroic nanostructures are in the form of nanopatterned film on commensurate substrate, with nanopillars of one phase embedded in the matrix of the other phase. The coupling between the two order parameters is through a stress mediation, i.e., a magnetic field induces a distortion of the magnetostrictive phase, which in turn distorts the piezoelectric phase in which an electric field is generated. It is believed that the downsizing of at least one phase, the vertical hetero-epitaxy and the three-dimensional constraint on the nanopillars played very important roles in the enhanced coupling.<sup>61</sup> This suggested that new properties can be expected by patterning novel 3D heterostructures of functional oxides.

Compared with single phase multiferroics, the advantages of 3D constrained multiferroic heterostructures are: (i) the ME effect in the heterostructure patterns is much higher than single phase ferroelectromagnets in existence; (ii) the physical properties of the materials can be tailored by the selection of different constituent phases and their size and volume ratios in order to meet specific requirements. From this perspective, a real patterning technique that affords controlled dimensions and periodicity of such minaturized structures is highly desirable. The emerging area of 3D magnetic/ferroelectric heterostructure fabrication and characterization is well worth investigation.

#### **1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES OF THE DISSERTATION**

The remarkable potential of miniaturization in functional oxides in the above three categories has been revolutionizing traditional ceramic materials design in many existing and emerging applications. Particularly, the capability endowed by the dimensional and spatial confinements of tailoring material properties via structural control becomes increasingly important as the device packing density ascends. Developing and advancing of this capability serves as an ideal platform to investigate the unique structure-property relationship at miniature size scale and the critical issues related to close juxtaposing of different functional oxides.

Endowed with this information, materials scientists are now disposed to develop innovative design strategies to: (1) manipulate functional ceramic materials at nanometer length scales; (2) control the dimensions and morphology of the substrate-integrated oxide nanofeatures at multidimensionalities and (3) engineer their internal microstructure. This has become the major motivation for this thesis work.

This PhD project tightly revolves around dimensionally and spatially confined functional oxide nanopatterns. The central theme of the project is to develop a generic nanofabrication scheme that can solve challenges in patterning ceramics, to tackle different pressing issues related to nanofabrication at diverse dimensions, and to provide excellent control over the geometric characteristics of 0D to 3D architectures. Towards this goal, a novel nanofabrication approach termed variable pressure-soft-electron beam lithography (VP-soft-eBL) is developed. The efficacy of this new approach has been validated through patterning a wide variety of oxide materials. On this basis, we explore the effects of pattern geometry on their microstructure

development at reduced size scales, aiming at achieving preferred crystallinity and orientation on the as-prepared nanopatterns. The nanofabrication and structural controlling protocol will then serve as enabling tools for investigation on the constraint-related phenomena. Probing such phenomena using site-specific characterization at appropriate resolutions will help establish the structure-property correlation for functional oxides in nanometer regime. Figure 1.4 below illustrates the critical issues involved at multi-levels in achieving this objective, and how this project expands in terms of pursuing nanofabrication capability, microstructure controllability and probing of the oxide nanostructures at appropriate resolution.





#### **1.5 SCOPE OF THE DISSERTATION**

Chapters in this dissertation are organized as following. Chapter 2 first reviews challenges in ceramic nanopatterning and various high resolution ceramic nanofabrication techniques reported in literature. It then describes the VP-soft-eBL approach that we have developed and employed as the key nanopatterning scheme. The procedures of VP-soft-eBL are introduced, and its unique capabilities suitable for oxide nanofabrication are demonstrated through multitude examples of nanopatterned structures. Chapter 3 reports a strategy incorporated with VP-softeBL scheme to control the microstructure of sol-gel-derived complex oxide nanopatterns. Particularly, epitaxial single crystal 0D and 1D patterns of barium titanate and cobalt ferrite with preferred orientation are fabricated using this strategy. The patterning-controlled morphology development is also discussed. Efforts to expand the VP-soft-eBL portfolio into patterning 2D high density grids are presented in **chapter 4**, focusing on understanding the beam skirting effect in VP-eBL which exacerbates proximity effect and pattern infidelity. The chapter describes an analytical method to predict the distribution of the energy deposited by the beam skirt, which allows for dose compensation during VP-eBL patterning. Chapter 5 introduces two routes for 3D heterostructures fabrication. Particularly, using self-assembled monolayers modification, radially-stacked multiferroic oxide heterostructures are directly patterned without painstaking feature-alignment procedure. The epitaxial nanostructures fabricated with VP-soft-eBL serve as ideal test-beds for investigation of the dimensional constraint in the oxide-on-oxide nanopatterned systems. Our exploration towards this direction is presented in chapter 6. It reports our initial study on patterning-induced substrate deformation at vicinity of the pattern
edges using x-ray microdiffraction technique. **Chapter 7** summarizes the work presented in this dissertation and suggests on the future work.

### **CHAPTER 2**

# DEVELOPMENT OF VARIABLE PRESSURE-SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY



This chapter describes the generic challenges in ceramic nanopatterning, and introduces a unique nanofabrication technique, VP-soft-eBL, that is particularly suitable for patterning functional oxide nanostructures. Its key attributes are demonstrated through diverse patterning examples.

The work presented in this chapter was published in Nano Lett., 5, 1710 (2005), Appl. Phys. Lett., 89, 163117 (2006), and IEEE Trans. Nanotech., 7, 1 (2008). Other parts were presented at 2006 Materials Research Society (MRS) Spring Meeting and 2006 Microscopy and Microanalysis Meeting.

The ability to rapidly pattern functional oxide materials into miniature architectures without deleterious effects on microstructure is a major concern in study of size-dependent properties of the materials and in applications of these materials as capacitors, sensors, memory cells and MEMS devices.<sup>62</sup> However, traditional nanofabrication techniques that have been proved very successful in semiconductor industry are severely challenged by the inherent nature of most ceramics. Myriad alternative approaches of patterning functional oxide materials at micrometer or nanometer scale have been developed and practiced on various material systems.

In this chapter, we first describe the generic difficulties of nanopatterning functional oxides, particularly multi-component oxides. Various patterning methods that have been demonstrated successful for oxides at 20 nm to 200 nm scale are briefly reviewed. Emphasis will then be laid on our effort in developing a ceramic nanopatterning approach that combines the state-of-the-art electron beam lithography and using of liquid material precursors, termed "soft"-electron beam lithography (hereafter soft-eBL for short). We show that this hybrid technique is capable of addressing advantages of both lithography method (high resolution and registry) and wet chemistry (versatility and etch-free), at the same time. In the following, the procedure of soft-eBL in regular high vacuum condition is first demonstrated. Using of soft-eBL in variable pressure mode for patterning on insulating substrates is then reported. The capabilities of the variable pressure-soft-electron beam lithography (VP-soft-eBL) approach are discussed in detail through patterning examples.

#### 2.1 CHALLENGES FOR NANOPATTERNING FUNCTIONAL OXIDE CERAMICS

According to the way nanostructure is generated, patterning methods can be generally categorized into bottom-up approaches and top-down approaches. Bottom-up methods are based on building structures from the bottom using atoms and molecules, whereas top-down approaches is characterized by trimming-off extra material from thin films or bulk formations. Photolithography is a traditional top-down approach that has been most well studied and widely employed in semiconductor industry. The process of photolithography-based technique is shown in figure 2.1. For many materials, the process of blanket film deposition, photolithographic resist patterning, and subtractive etching is an effective patterning method. The removal of materials is usually carried out using chemical etching (wet etching) or reactive ion etching (RIE) and both procedures are well-developed for Si and related materials. However, the inherent chemical stability and refractory nature of many ceramics often presents significant difficulty for this conventional process. First, etching rate for many oxides is much lower compared with Si.<sup>63</sup> For multicomponent oxides, wet etching also raises concerns of maintaining stoichiometry since different components usually have different reaction mechanisms with the same etchant, or different removal rates. For example, ferroelectric oxide Pb(Zr<sub>1-x</sub>Ti<sub>x</sub>)O<sub>3</sub> can be regarded as PbO·(1-x)ZrO<sub>2</sub>·xTiO<sub>2</sub>. While hydrochloric acid can etch PbO and TiO<sub>2</sub> easily, hydrofluoric acid is necessary to dissolve ZrO<sub>2</sub>. Due to the complexity of reaction mechanism, stringent control over the etching condition is required to ensure that the nanopatterns inherit the exact same chemical composition and microstructure from the thin film. Compared with wet etching, RIE is more desirable since it has very little damage and good side wall definition. However, RIE of multicomponent oxides is in its infancy and further work in this area needs to be done.<sup>64</sup> The

future trend in pure top-down method is to develop more general etching protocols for diverse ceramics, or to employ unconventional, etch-free lithography.



Figure 2.1: Schematic diagram of photolithography-based patterning procedure

Another challenge of patterning functional oxides from top-down direction stems from their high electrical resistivity. Furthermore, many times patterning needs to be done on insulating substrates, for a number of different applications in both existing and emerging technologies. Insulating oxide substrate having small lattice mismatch with the patterned material is of particular interest since it offers a template for the pattern to grow with better microstructural control. However, the low conductivity of the material/substrate system has limited the application of conventional electron beam lithography (eBL) or focused ion beam (FIB) milling, because bombarding the insulating sample with electron or ion will induce significant charging problem and pattern distortion. To circumvent the problems in top-down approaches involving etching or charging, a number of bottom-up methods have been demonstrated for certain oxide systems. Various high-quality ceramic one-dimensional nanostructures can be fabricated using solution-based methods.<sup>65-67</sup> However, these methods usually render free-standing nanostructures rather than patterns with well-defined size and separation, and the control of crystallinity and orientation of these nanostructures still remains a challenge compared to substrate-based approaches. Catalytic growth from vapor or liquid phase on lithography pre-determined sites has been demonstrated successful for single component oxides such as ZnO<sup>68</sup> and SnO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>69</sup> However, there has not been much success in applying the similar method to multi-component oxide systems. A more general approach that can be applied to diverse material systems is characterized by employing anodic aluminum oxide (AAO) membrane<sup>70</sup> or self-assembled microbeads<sup>71, 72</sup> as masks and filling the liquid precursor into the templates. After filling, masks need to be removed and the patterns are subjected to thermal treatment in order to convert into crystalline structure. However, it only enables certain size, shape and organization of patterns due to limitation of the mask geometry.

In short, the inherent chemical stability and high electrical resistivity have made it very hard to manipulate functional oxide ceramics, particularly multi-component ceramics, at sub-micron and nanometer size scale from both pure top-down and pure bottom-up directions. The miniaturization trend for functional ceramics calls for development of unconventional patterning method and structural engineering strategy to achieve ceramic nano-elements with well-defined dimensions and controlled internal structure.

#### 2.2 PATTERNING APPROACHES FOR SUB-200 NM OXIDE NANOSTRUCTURES

In this section, various state-of-the-art ceramic patterning methods are briefly reviewed. These methods have been demonstrated successful for multi-component functional oxides (particularly ferroelectrics and ferrimagnets) at  $20 \sim 200$  nm scale. They include: focused ion beam (FIB) milling, electron beam direct writing (EBDW), nanoimprint lithography (NIL), soft lithography, spontaneous self-patterning, and dip-pen nanolithography (DPN).

#### 2.2.1 Focused ion beam (FIB) milling

FIB milling is a fabrication method that employs focused gallium ion beam to do micromachining on thin film sample. So far individual ferroelectric capacitors with lateral dimension ranging from 1  $\mu$ m to 100 nm have been patterned by FIB milling.<sup>73, 74</sup> The great advantage of FIB is the possibility of using an established method to produce high-quality thin films, including epitaxial films. Therefore, it enables a comprehensive macroscopic characterization of the film before patterning, avoiding the potential compositional or structural deviations which might be involved in other nanofabrication techniques based on bottom-up approaches. This has actually opened the possibility of direct comparisons between the properties of a patterned structure and the original film.<sup>75</sup>

The major drawback of the method is associated with the high damage that occurs during milling and imaging.<sup>76, 77</sup> Previous work has shown FIB patterning induced gallium impregnation and associated creation of amorphous layers in a surface region of the single crystal materials some 20 nm thick.<sup>77</sup> While most of the structural defects can be healed by a high-temperature thermal annealing after milling, a gallium doping is basically unavoidable and in special cases

might be relatively harmful to the final electrical properties. Gallium has a strong tendency to segregate into nanosize droplets during the milling and additionally might precipitate and diffuse along the grain boundaries of the film, creating local conducting channels and increasing the leakage current. For instance, Stanishevsky *et. al.*<sup>78</sup> discovered composition change of PZT film at near-surface layer due to gallium deposition which leads to a modification of the ferroelectric properties. In order for FIB-based patterning technique to become more suitable for patterning multicomponent oxides, multi-stage post-FIBing treatment has to be applied with care.

Another inherent limitation of FIB milling is the difficulty of patterning highly insulating substrate due to the severe charging effect. In our attempt to pattern on single crystal MgO substrate, direct exposure of ion beam causes strong charge-induced contrast that prevents proper imaging, and pattern distortion due to the strong static field built on top of the substrate surface. Deposition of a grounding metal layer alleviates the charging problem at the price of introducing foreign material to the system which can be detrimental for the physical property of the pattern.

It is worth pointing out that there are a few interesting variants of FIB-based nanofabrication techniques. They include FIB assisted etching (FIBAE for short, also known as chemical-assisted or gas-assisted ion etching), and FIB-induced deposition (FIBID). Therefore FIB can be adapted for both subtractive and additive routes. FIBAE has been demonstrated for fabrication of semiconductors (such as Si and GaAs) and metals.<sup>79-81</sup> According to the gas precursors used, FIBID can be used to deposit metals (e.g., W, Au, Al and Pt) and simple oxide such as SiO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>82</sup> However, due to the availability of etch chemicals and restriction of the gas precursors, FIBAE and FIBID techniques for most multi-component metal oxides are not yet demonstrated.<sup>83</sup>

#### 2.2.2 Electron beam direct writing (EBDW)

Electron beam lithography (eBL) has been used for over 40 years in microelctronics industry, predominantly for mask design.<sup>84</sup> Conventional eBL process is similar to photolithography, involving patterning on polymeric resists and fabricating subsequent inorganic structures by lift-off and etching. It has the main advantages of very high resolution and versatile pattern formation. The ultimate resolution on electron beam resist, polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA), has been demonstrated to be less than 10nm.<sup>85</sup> A variation of this process being explored to circumvent etching step is to replace regular resist with e-beam sensitive resist which contains the right proportion of elemental components of the final inorganic material. This ebeam direct writing (EBDW) technique allows to pattern ferroelectric cells with lateral size down to 75nm.<sup>32</sup> Arrays of Bi<sub>4</sub>Ti<sub>3</sub>O<sub>12</sub>, SrBi<sub>2</sub>Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>9</sub> and PZT with individual cells of 100 ~ 150 nm lateral size were prepared and shown to display ferroelectric properties.<sup>86-88</sup>

This approach circumvents the etching problems and it highlights the advantages of making use of maskless lithography combined with metalorganic precursors. However, in order to crosslink the metalorganic precursor at the exposed area, very high electron dose has to be used. The regular area dose used in EBDW is between 1200 to 6000  $\mu$ C/cm<sup>2</sup>, much higher than the dose required to expose PMMA (a few hundred  $\mu$ C/cm<sup>2</sup>). Therefore the EBDW technique is very time-consuming. A single pattern, ca. 20 × 20 µm in size, takes 24 hours to fabricate.<sup>89</sup> To overcome this problem, e-beam sensitive agent can be added to the precursor system. The other trend is to develop a more generic eBL technique that can still take advantages of using metalorganic precursors but avoid high exposure dose.

#### 2.2.3 Nanoimprint lithography (NIL)

NIL is considered to be potentially suitable for mass industrial production for its ability in preparing large area arrays at low cost. It implies the use of a thermoplastic resist which becomes a viscous liquid above its glass transition temperature and thus deforms easily. First, a thickness contrast pattern is created in the resist layer by pressing a mold with the negative of the desired pattern into it. After the removal of the mold, the pattern is transferred by anisotropic etching to remove the residual resist which usually remains in the compressed area. The pattern can be further transferred into the substrate using selective etching. A schematic illustration of NIL procedure is shown in figure 2.2. Arrays of mesoscopic ferroelectric PZT with lateral size from several micrometers to below 300 nm were fabricated using NIL method from metalorganic precursor and sol-gel precursor.<sup>90</sup>



Figure 2.2: Key steps in NIL procedure. From top to bottom: pressing the mold into the polymer film; embossing the topographic features into the polymer and cooling down; removing the mold; etching to remove the residual polymer in the pressed regions.

The main drawback of NIL stems from the etching procedure which complicates the process. Another problem is that the patterned material may stick to the mold and smear the pattern fidelity in the next round of patterning. The overlay alignment in NIL can be more difficult than photolithography, in which the gap between the wafer and mask can be fixed to perform the alignment. In NIL, one needs to do alignment while bringing the mold in contact with the resist on the wafer and imprint into it. This can be hard since the gap is changing from

tens of micrometers to zero during the imprint process and may not be uniform over the whole substrate. Therefore NIL does not present high site-specificity as compared with ion beam or electron beam based lithography methods. Developing accurate and reliable overlay registration and alignment methods has been a subject of intense research in NIL process.<sup>91, 92</sup> The main niche of NIL will be low-cost, large-area, etch-free, and substrate-general patterning of oxide structures in mesoscopic range for microelectronmechanical systems or optical applications.

#### 2.2.4 Soft lithography

A similar strategy that utilizes mold with micrometer or sub-micron topographic features is soft lithography. Soft lithography represents a family of patterning approaches characterized by transferring patterns from a soft, elastomeric mold to the substrate using liquid phase precursors (usually monomers or prepolymers). Typical soft lithography techniques include micro-transfer molding ( $\mu$ TM), micromolding in capillaries (MIMIC), embossing and micro-contact printing ( $\mu$ CP), among many others. Figure 2.3 shows the schemes of these four soft lithography approaches. The review article published by Whitesides group is an excellent source for more detailed description on these techniques.<sup>93</sup>





Due to its low cost and superb compatibility with liquid precursors, soft lithography has been widely used to pattern a large variety of materials, including polymers,<sup>94, 95</sup> ceramic powders<sup>96</sup> and inorganic salt.<sup>97</sup> It is particularly suitable for patterning sol-gel precursors of simple oxides as well as multi-component oxides. For example, Moran and Lange<sup>98</sup> patterned monoclinic zirconia lines orientated epitaxially from a zirconyl 2-ethylhexanoate precursor solution with 500 nm lines widths, using  $\mu$ TM technique. Kim *et. al.*<sup>99</sup> demonstrated the use of  $\mu$ TM by patterning 50  $\mu$ m-wide SrBi<sub>2</sub>Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>9</sub> (SBT) lines on (001) SrTiO<sub>3</sub> substrate. Using MIMIC, PZT and Sr<sub>2</sub>Nb<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub> patterns with micron feature width were fabricated.<sup>96, 100</sup>

The feature size of oxide structures fabricated with soft lithography typically ranges from a few micrometers down to 500 nm. The limitation on the spatial resolution stems from the softness of the mold, causing features to deform or distort which are severe detriments at smaller size scale. The practical difficulty in maintaining the conformal contact between mold and substrate also hinders patterning at sub-200 nm scale.<sup>100</sup> However, by incorporating substrate modification methods such as self-assembled monolayers (SAMs), recent efforts in developing soft lithography have shown its potential in generating feature size of ~ 150 nm.<sup>101, 102</sup> Therefore we still include soft lithography in this section, and highlight its advantages including capability of forming large area pattern during short period of process and great versatility in material and substrate selection. These advantages are endowed by the so-called "confinement-based" philosophy,<sup>103</sup> that the pattern is imparted to the thin film by using physical boundaries to define where the liquid precursor rigidifies. This suggests that combining wet chemistry with lithography may facilitate patterning a wide diversity of functional ceramics and beyond.

#### 2.2.5 Self-organized patterning

FIB, EBDW and NIL represents typical top-down approaches that are very well suited to fabricate structures with extremely good spatial resolution. Aiming at smaller feature size and less structural damage introduced during fabrication, there is also a considerable interest in other methods that are not based on carving thin films, but rather on building structures from the bottom using atoms and molecules. These bottom-up methods have show promises in obtaining self-patterned very fine features. For example, BaTiO<sub>3</sub> nanoparticles on SrTiO<sub>3</sub> substrates have been deposited using pulsed laser deposition.<sup>32</sup> Single crystalline PZT nanoparticles with an average diameter of about 7 nm and a standard deviation of 5.4% have been obtained via pulsed laser ablation.<sup>104</sup> Chemical solution deposition (CSD) was also applied to obtain epitaxial PZT nano-islands with 50nm lateral dimension on SrTiO<sub>3</sub> substrate.<sup>105</sup> There are also other chemical routes such as microemulsion route for synthesis of phase-pure ceramic nano-crystals under low temperature.<sup>105, 106</sup>

The nature of self-organized patterning is a parallel approach for inexpensive preparation of structures with sizes of 10-20 nm, below the resolution limit of the state-of-the-art lithography. However, it does not provide control over the patterning sites. The nanostructures are randomly distributed, with non-uniform shape and size. Bimodal volume distribution of nanocrystals prepared from liquid precursor has been observed, showing the coexistence of pyramid and dome shapes.<sup>107</sup> For self-organized patterning with liquid precursors, the formation of nanoislands is based on the "microstructural instability" of ultra thin film. Therefore, nanostructures rendered this way usually have a very low thickness.

#### 2.2.6 Dip-pen nanolithography (DPN)

DPN is a recently developed method capable of deposition of materials with very high resolution and precision. It is characterized by coating precursor "ink" on the tip of atomic force microscope (AFM). Scanning the ink-coated tip on a flat substrate enables transporting the ink material to the substrate via the spontaneous water meniscus formed between the tip and the surface. The scheme of DPN is shown in figure 2.4. It is first used to generate nanostructures of simple organic and biomolecules with down to a few tens of nanometer.<sup>108-111</sup> Su *et. al.*<sup>112</sup> further expanded the scope of DPN by using sol-gel precursors as ink. Using sol-ink, various solid-state oxide materials have been patterned with DPN including ZnO, SiO<sub>2</sub>, TiO<sub>2</sub> Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and BaFe<sub>12</sub>O<sub>19</sub>.<sup>112-116</sup> Single-tip DPN is an inborn serial writing method and can be time consuming. Recently the development of multiple-pen "nanoplotter"<sup>117</sup> has enabled DPN parallel patterning capability. However, DPN patterning of sol-gel based materials still faces problems such as unknown ink transfer mechanism and tip contamination by sticky sol. These problems pose great challenges on the DPN performance in terms of consistency and reproducibility for nanopatterning inorganic materials.



Figure 2.4: Scheme of DPN (adapted from literature<sup>113</sup>)

#### 2.2.7 Summary of the above nanopatterning approaches

To better compare the above ceramic nanopatterning approaches, table 2.1 summarizes their capabilities in terms of their spatial resolution for ceramic patterning, generality for patterned materials and substrates, site-specificity and capability of etch-free patterning, etc. One may find that, when dealing with ceramic nanofabrication, each of these routes possesses unique advantages and disadvantages, both determined by the nature of the processing steps involved. For instance, nanoimprint lithography, self-organized patterning and soft lithography are characterized by utilizing liquid phase precursors, which ensures the capability of etch-less patterning a very wide variety of oxides on a multitude of substrates; their general disadvantage is lacking of registry and difficulties of generating patterns with complex shape. As a comparison, electron beam direct writing and focused ion beam technique provide precise control over the patterning sites and shapes; however, the material/substrate systems can be patterned with these routes are quite limited by their nature of using charged electron or ion beam. It suggests that no single technique has all the desirable attributes and further underscores the importance of developing new approaches as mergers of multiple well-developed techniques. This task is of particular importance for the interest in dimensionally constrained ferroic nanopatterns that requires multiple test structures with miniature size, controlled geometry and microstructure simultaneously. Bearing this in mind, combining deposition of organic precursors and the stateof-the-art lithography has been attempted in our laboratory. In section 2.3 through 2.6, a patterning scheme termed "variable pressure-soft-electron beam lithography" (VP-soft-eBL) will be presented. Its unique attributes in nanofabrication of ceramics will be demonstrated.

Patterning technique	FIB milling	EBDW	Self- organized patterning	DPN	NIL	Soft lithography
Category	Subtractive		Additive			
	Mask-free			With mask		
Resolution	Sub-100 nm <sup>73</sup>	$10 \sim 100$ nm <sup>118</sup>	< 50 nm <sup>105</sup>	150 nm <sup>112</sup>	<100 nm <sup>119</sup>	$\sim 400 \text{ nm}^{103}$
Etch -free	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes (except for embossing)
Compatible with Sol-Gel	Milling can be done on sol-gel prepared thin film	Yes, but requires either electron- sensitive sol or very high dose	Yes	Yes, but lacks reproduci- bility for sol-ink	Sticky sol may damage mold <sup>119</sup>	Yes
Registry capability	Good	Good	Very poor	Good	Poor	Poor
Substrate generality	Not suitable for insulating materials	Not suitable for insulating substrates	Yes (difficult on fragile substrates)	Limited by ink chemistry	Yes	Yes
Material generality		Demonstrat ed mainly for simple oxides	Good		Good	Good
Comments	Capable of generating 3D structures. Time consuming.	Very time consuming	High throughput. Poor control over size, shape and site of patterns.	Ink transfer mechanism for sols under exploration.	Viable for volume production. Advances required in overlay registration.	High throughput. Difficulties in patterning oxides at sub-200 nm scale.

Table 2.1 Comparison of unconventional ceramic nanofabrication techniques

#### 2.3 SOFT-ELECTRON BEAM LITHOGRAPHY PATTERNING SCHEME

Soft-electron beam lithography (soft-eBL) is a hybrid technique characterized by deposition of organic solution precursors at pre-defined position on a substrate. The deposition positions are determined by the patterned polymeric e-beam resist as mold in the electron beam lithography process. The crucial steps involved in soft-eBL approach are schematically illustrated in figure 2.5. These steps include:

1) *e-beam lithography on polymeric resist*: Electron beam exposure is carried out on substrate coated with polymeric positive resist film. The e-beam exposure causes chain scission in the resists and increases their solubility in developer. After developing, the resist film contains trenches with shape and size defined by the e-beam exposure.

2) *Substrate functionalization*: The developed substrates are subjected to chemical functionalization or plasma cleaning to tune the hydrophilicity of the exposed substrate area.

3) *Spinning liquid precursor*: Liquid phase precursors (such as sols and colloidal solution) are dropped onto the e-beam patterned substrate and the substrate is spun to remove the excess liquid. By this we eliminate the need for etching or additional steps to remove excess precursors from the substrate.

4) *Lift-off*: Precursor-spun substrates are baked to solidify the patterns. Subsequently the substrates are soaked in acetone to dissolve resist and lift-off extra material from un-patterned area.

5) *Heat treatment*: For patterns made with sol precursors, the as-deposited materials are amorphous dry gels. Further pyrolysis and annealing at elevated temperature are carried out on the pattern to decompose the organic residues and crystallize the structures.



Figure 2.5: Schematic illustration of Soft-eBL procedure. (a) e-beam lithography; (b) development and surface functionalization; (c) spinning of sol precursor; (d) lift-off, pyrolysis and annealing

## 2.4 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS OF SOFT-EBL PATTERNING PLANAR NANOSTRUCTURES

In this section, experimental details for patterning single phase planar nanostructures (e.g., dot and line arrays, etc.) in high vacuum SEM chamber are reported. Specific patterning conditions for high density two-dimensional grids and three-dimensional vertically-stacked heterostructures will be presented in chapters 4 and 5.

#### 2.4.1 Preparation of sol precursors

Liquid precursors that are mostly used in this project are synthesized via sol-gel method. For example, CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> sol with 0.05 ~ 0.2 M concentration is prepared by dissolving 1:2 mol portions of Co(CH<sub>3</sub>COO)<sub>2</sub>·4H<sub>2</sub>O and Fe(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>·9H<sub>2</sub>O in 2-methaoxyethanol, with 10 vol.% ethanolamine as complexing agent. The solution is refluxed at 70 °C for 4 hrs, cooled down, filtered and applied to soft-eBL. To make 0.1 M BaTiO<sub>3</sub> sol, titanium isopropoxide (Ti((CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>CHO)<sub>4</sub>) is dissolved in 2-methoxyethanl, while proportional amount of barium acetate (Ba(CH<sub>3</sub>COO)<sub>2</sub>) is dissolved in a mixture of acetic acid and de-ionized water (1:1 volume ratio). The solution containing barium source is then added dropwise to the solution containing titanium source under vigorous agitation at 60 °C. The final mixture solution is refluxed at the same temperature for 8 hrs to form a clear sol. Both BaTiO<sub>3</sub> and CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> sols remain stable for more than 6 months. We also prepared Pb(Zr<sub>0.3</sub>Ti<sub>0.7</sub>)O<sub>3</sub> sol (0.1 M concentration), using a modified method based on the report by Kim *et. al.*<sup>120</sup> Lead acetate trihydrate (Pb(CH<sub>3</sub>COO)<sub>2</sub>·3H<sub>2</sub>O) is dissolved in a mixture of isopropanol and methanol (5:1 volume ratio) at 80 °C with constant agitation. Titanium isopropoxide (Ti(OC<sub>3</sub>H<sub>7</sub>)<sub>4</sub>) and zirconium n-propoxide (Zr(OC<sub>3</sub>H<sub>7</sub>)<sub>4</sub>) are then added to the mixture solution. The whole mixture is heated under constant stir at 100 °C for 1 hr, let cool down and filtered. All chemicals are obtained from Alfa-Aesar and Sigma-Aldrich.

The viscosities of the sols studied in this work are measured in stress controlled mode. The change of viscosity with shear rate is plotted in figure 2.6, using 0.05 M CFO as an example. Viscosities of various sols used in this project are found to be around 0.3 Pa·s at shear rate higher than 100 s<sup>-1</sup>. The sol precursors are gelated and annealed in air between 850 °C and 1000 °C for 1 hr to obtain crystallized powders. Chemical composition and crystalline phase expected for these materials are proved by x-ray diffraction on these powders.



Figure 2.6: Viscosity of 0.05 M CFO sol.

#### 2.4.2 Substrate treatment and coating of resist

The substrates are first cleaned using oxygen plasma (Model 1020 Plasma Cleaner, Fischione) for 1 ~ 3 minutes to remove any contamination and facilitate the spinning of resist. Two types of regular electron beam positive resists are used in this project, i.e., MMA (methyl methacrylate) – MAA (methacrylic acid) copolymer (hereafter "copolymer" for short) and PMMA (polymethylmethacrylate, hereafter "PMMA" for short). The copolymer resist (MMA(8.5)MAA EL6) and the PMMA resist (950PMMA A3) are purchased from MicroChem. Due to the different electron dose sensitivity of the resists, bi-layer resist with copolymer at bottom and PMMA on top can be used to facilitate lift-off, or to form radially stacked heterostructures introduced in chapter 5. Each layer is spin-coated at 3000 rpm for 45 sec to give a nominal thickness of about 150 nm, which gives 300 nm total thickness of the bi-layer resist. PMMA resist can be used alone to ensure uniform trench width across the depth after development. Followed by spinning each layer, the substrate is heated at 175 °C for 1 min and cooled at room temperature for 1 min, before the next layer is applied.

#### 2.4.3 Electron beam lithography

Electron beam exposure is carried out in QUANTA 600F environmental SEM (FEI Co.) equipped with Nanometer Pattern Generation System (NPGS) and integrated beam current measurement capability. Typical instrumental parameters used for patterning on Si wafer are: primary beam energy = 30 keV, area dose =  $200 - 400 \ \mu\text{C/cm}^2$ , working distance =  $7 - 10 \ \text{mm}$ , beam current =  $150 \ \text{pA}$ . The exposed substrate is developed in a mixed solution of one volume of methylisobutylketone (MIBK) and three volumes of isopropanol (IPA) for 75 sec and then rinsed in IPA for 60 sec. The substrate is then blown dry with N<sub>2</sub> gas.

In order to remove any organic residue after development, the patterned substrate is subjected to oxygen plasma treatment prior to spinning precursors. The plasma treatment is carried out under the condition of 75 W power, 50 sccm  $O_2$  flow rate and 75 mTorr operating pressure for 20 sec. Immediately after plasma cleaning, the liquid precursors are spun onto the substrate using 4000 – 6000 rpm for 45 sec, and are then baked on hot plate at 150 °C for 1 min. The spinning speed is chosen based on the concentration of the precursor and the design of the pattern. For example, higher speed is required to lift-off the excess materials for a higher concentrated sol or a higher density of pattern geometry. Considering that the sols with different as the solvent evaporation speed may be the main contribution to this correlation between lift-off effectiveness and the sol concentration.

In this step, we utilize the patterned resist as mold to define the size and shape of the nanostructures. Given proper spinning condition, the approach eliminates the need for additional steps such as back polishing or reactive ion etching to remove excess precursors from the substrate.

#### 2.5 PATTERNING ON INSULATING SUBSTRATES IN VARIABLE PRESSURE MODE

Soft-eBL is first employed on grounded conducting substrates or semiconducting substrates such as Pt and Si wafer. In many cases, electrically insulating substrates are required for a number of different applications. These include conventional materials in semiconductor processing such as SiO<sub>2</sub> and Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub>, materials for optoelectronics such as GaN and glass as well as polymers for applications including so-called flexible plastic electronics. Particularly, single crystal oxide substrates are widely used for epitaxial growth of high quality oxide thin films and micro- or nano-structures. These include MgO, SrTiO<sub>3</sub>, MgAl<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> and sapphire, among many others. Despite the importance of using insulating substrates for the above purposes, efforts on direct patterning these substrates using eBL have been scarce due to the severe charging effect.

In a typical run of soft-eBL process, the resist layer is about 300 nm thick in order to optimize the exposure profile in the resist. Given the thin resist layer and the high energy beam energy (30 kV), the vast majority of the electron dose is deposited in the substrate. Because insulating substrates lack a means of charge dissipation, using conventional eBL to directly pattern on insulators can result in significant astigmatism and pattern distortion.<sup>121</sup> Methods have been developed to minimize the charge-induced pattern distortion by creating pathways for the charge to dissipate. For example, a thin metal grounded layer can be deposited on top of the resist.<sup>122</sup> This method introduces additional process steps such as film deposition prior to exposure and film removal by wet etch after exposure but prior to development. Other methods include using ion shower and using conductive polymer resists.<sup>123, 124</sup> However, these methods may raise concern regarding chemical compatibility with the resist as well as the liquid precursor

used in soft-eBL. It is highly favorable to develop a widely applicable method for eliminating substrate charging effects without additional processing steps or the use of nonstandard materials.

An effective solution to this problem was developed and demonstrated in our laboratory two years ago, using the capability of variable pressure SEM (VP-SEM) for in-situ charge dissipation in eBL process.<sup>125, 126</sup> In the following section, the principle of charge dissipation in VP-SEM is introduced briefly. The effectiveness of minimizing charging-induced pattern distortion in eBL is then demonstrated. The optimized patterning condition in variable pressure mode is discussed.

#### 2.5.1 Charge dissipation mechanism in VP-SEM

Since its inception in 1990s, VP-SEM has been used for imaging of electrically insulating materials in pristine condition, without the need for conductive coatings or lengthy and difficult dehydration processes.<sup>127</sup> The charge dissipation is realized by introducing a low pressure of gas (typically water vapor,  $N_2$ , Ar, or He) into the SEM chamber. Differential pumping system is normally used to maintain high vacuum (10<sup>-11</sup> Torr) in the electron column. The gas molecules can be ionized by electron beam. Due to the positive bias (about +600 volts) applied on the gaseous secondary electron detector (GSED), the positive ions in the sample chamber may migrate to the negatively charged surface and balance the surface charge, as shown in figure 2.7.



Figure 2.7: Schematic illustration of ionization of gas molecules and charge compensation in VP-SEM. Courtesy: Benjamin Myers

The presence of gas molecules in the SEM chamber has several other important consequences. For example, secondary electrons (SEs) released from the sample encounter gas molecules once they exit the surface. The gas molecules, when struck by these SEs, produce SEs themselves, which in turn produce SEs from adjacent gas molecules. Thus the gas functions as a cascade amplifier for the original secondary electron signal from the sample. The so-called "gas cascade" effect may lead to different contrast mechanism in VP-SEM.<sup>128</sup> Further, the primary beam will be scattered to some extent by collisions with the gas molecules resulting in the formation of a beam "skirt" around the focused primary beam at the sample surface, as illustrated in figure 2.8. The beam skirt deteriorates the spatial resolution for x-ray spectroscopic analysis in VP-SEM and eBL patterning capability, which will be discussed in detail in chapter 4.



Figure 2.8: Schematic diagram illustrating formation of electron scattering "skirt" around the focused beam in VP-SEM

#### 2.5.2 Application of VP-SEM in eBL patterning on insulators

In spite of the effectiveness of VP-SEM in imaging and microanalysis of electrically insulating materials, very few attempts have been made so far on its application in eBL. The charge-balance concept has been applied in a recurrent-eBL process for the production of MEMS devices.<sup>129, 130</sup> However, to our knowledge the technique of variable pressure eBL (VP-eBL) has not yet been systematically applied to the fabrication of nanostructures. As a result, understanding towards the influence of instrumental parameters on the patterning capability has been limited.

During the past two years, our laboratory has applied the charge-balance mechanism of the VPSEM to the fabrication of nanometer-scale features on insulating substrates with a technique called VP-eBL. The effects of water vapor gas pressure, working distance (beam-gas path length), beam energy and detector bias on proximity dose, linewidth and exposure dose have been systematically investigated.<sup>125</sup> Figure 2.9 shows a proof-of-concept example demonstrating

the effectiveness of VP-eBL in eliminating the charging-induced pattern distortion. The distortion-free electrode pattern in figure 2.9(b) is fabricated using VP-eBL under the same condition as that in figure 2.9(a), with exception of a chamber pressure of 1 Torr.



Figure 2.9: VP-SEM images of Au/Pd electrodes patterned via eBL and lift-off processing in PMMA on glass with a 30 kV beam in high vacuum (a) and with the VP-eBL using 1 Torr of water vapor (b), at the same magnification. The inset in (b) is a close-up of the ~30 nm electrode gap. Courtesy: Benjamin Myers

#### 2.5.3 Optimization of VP-eBL parameters

In conventional eBL (high vacuum), change of instrumental parameters (kV, working distance, probe current, etc.) dose not influence the primary beam profile (i.e., the energy density deposition profile in the resist), and consistent pattern size can be achieved under the same designed dose profile. However, in VP-eBL, the real received dose at exposed area is strongly dependent on SEM instrumental parameters. This is the most significant distinction between VP-eBL and the conventional eBL.

The reason for the dose-instrumental parameter dependence is because the electron-resist and electron-substrate interactions are made more complicated by the scattering of the gas molecules. For example, the development of beam skirt has been described as<sup>127</sup>:

$$r_s = \left(\frac{364Z}{E}\right)\left(\frac{p}{T}\right)^{1/2} L^{3/2}$$
(2.1)

where

 $r_{\rm s} = {\rm skirt \ radius \ (m)}$ 

Z = atomic number of the gas

E = primary beam energy (eV)

P = pressure (Pa)

T = temperature (K)

L = beam path length in gas (m).

Obviously the radius of beam skirt increases with higher gas pressure, causing undesirable influences on the VP-eBL performance including: (1) the effective size of the focused beam may be altered and limit the resolution of eBL; (2) the received dose at e-beam addressed area may be re-distributed by the skirt and deviate from the designed value. This causes lower dose contrast between patterned and un-patterned areas, and poor pattern definition with increasing developing time or developer concentration. In fact, changes of pattern size have been observed at different gas pressure for small beam currents.<sup>129</sup> It can be expected that the above phenomena are more

prominent for conditions such as low primary beam energy, high working distance, and high chamber pressure, all of which increase the number of gas-electron scattering events.

Based on the above argument, one needs to be very careful choosing VP-eBL patterning condition to (1) effectively reduce the charging-induced pattern distortion; and (2) avoid the undesirable influences of beam skirt on pattern dimension definition. We discuss the proper range of primary beam energy and the chamber gas pressure, while keeping the working distance fixed at 7 mm.

In the previous study in our laboratory, qualitative assessment of the VP-eBL patterns has determined a chamber pressure threshold for pattern distortion elimination on highly insulating substrate is near 0.6-0.7 Torr (water vapor) at 30 keV beam energy for the minimum dwell time required to completely expose the resist. This threshold value corresponds well with experimental evidence for minimum pressures to achieve charge balance during imaging (0.1-0.6 Torr).<sup>131</sup> Up to 2 Torr vapor pressure has shown a more significant effect in reducing the charging-induced distortion, without degrading the patterning resolution.

However, this does not suggest that higher gas pressure is more preferred for VP-eBL patterning. Myers *et. al.*<sup>126</sup> have shown decreasing trench size as a function of increasing gas pressure due to the dose attenuation, particularly at low primary beam energy (e.g., 5 keV). A modification of the trench shape can also be visualized with increasing gas pressure, indicating a modification of the sub-surface space charge distribution. This size change is significantly subdued when 30 keV beam energy is used even for gas pressure as high as 2 Torr, due to the higher kinetic energy carried by the incident electrons and much smaller scattering cross section.

It can be seen from the above experimental observations that there exists a trade-off between charge dissipation and pattern definition, i.e., higher gas pressure ensures better charge elimination up to 2 Torr, but may cause weaker control over the ultimate pattern dimension. Using higher beam energy is an effective way to reduce the beam skirt-induced pattern size alteration. Therefore, we finalize the gas pressure to be 1~1.5 Torr and the primary beam energy to be 30 keV. The patterning conditions for highly insulating substrates in VP-eBL are summarized in table 2.2 below.

Primary beam energy	30 keV
Gas pressure (water vapor)	1~1.5 Torr
Working distance	7 mm
Probe current	~150 pA
Resist thickness	~ 300 nm

 Table 2.2 Experimental conditions for patterning on insulating substrates in VP-eBL

Using the above conditions, direct patterning of oxide nanostructures on insulators can be achieved without any extra processing step in eBL. The next section will cover examples of oxide nanostructures on either single crystal oxide substrates for high quality epilayer formation, or on  $Si_3N_4$  thin membranes for direct observation under transmission electron microscopy. The expansion from soft-eBL to variable pressure soft-eBL (VP-soft-eBL) has significantly broadened the scope of this patterning approach. It further paves the way for microstructural engineering on these nanostructures through invoking substrate effect, as discussed in chapter 3.

#### 2.6 VP-SOFT-EBL CAPABILITIES

In this section, the key attributes of VP-soft-eBL are summarized and demonstrated through multiple patterning examples.

#### 2.6.1 Etch free fabrication of ceramic nanostructures

One unique characteristic of VP-soft-eBL technique is the combination of the state-of-theart lithography and wet chemistry. Using eBL-patterned resist as mold, the materials are deposited by spinning of liquid precursors. Therefore the definition of the pattern size and shape is realized in eBL patterning on polymeric resist, not directly on the oxide materials. When proper spinning condition is employed for certain sol system, the extra material left on top of unexposed areas forms a very thin layer after spinning that can be readily removed along with the underlying resist in lift-off step. This approach eliminates the application of chemical etching or ion beam milling which may introduce sidewall re-depositions, contaminations and structural damage.<sup>132</sup> Therefore it is particularly suitable for patterning refractory and chemically inert ceramics, or delicate organic systems that otherwise are difficult to pattern through top-down routes.

#### 2.6.2 High spatial resolution

The VP-soft-eBL inherits very high spatial resolution of the electron beam lithography. We have demonstrated its capability of patterning ceramic structures such as ZnO and SnO<sub>2</sub> as small as 30 nm. This is possibly the smallest size reported for ZnO fabricated with a lithography

approach. Figure 2.10 shows a few examples of the ZnO patterns made on Si wafer (with 600 nm thick thermal oxide) after annealing at 700 °C in air. It clearly demonstrates the precise control on the size and shape at sub-100 nm scale. The preparation of ZnO sol used in this experiment is introduced in an earlier publication of our group.<sup>133</sup>



Figure 2.10: ZnO line patterns on Si wafer after annealing showing the high spatial resolution of VP-soft-eBL patterning.

Nanostructures of other ceramic materials with lateral dimension ranging from sub-100 nm to a few microns can also be readily fabricated. Since the patterned resist is used as a mold, the thickness of resist provides an upper bound for the vertical dimension of the pattern. That is, the height of the patterns made in this work is less than 300 nm. In fact, patterns made using single layer 300 nm-thick PMMA resist normally show a height less than 150 nm before annealing. This suggests the sol precursor only fills in a portion of the 300 nm-deep trench, probably due to the high spinning speed used.

The sol precursors used in this work are normally very low in mass content. Therefore the as-deposited patterns are in the form of amorphous dry gel containing a large amount of organic residue. During annealing, the pattern dimension decreases, resulting from both the elimination

of organic component and the phase change from an open-structured amorphous state to a dense crystalline structure. Atomic force microscope (AFM) measurements (not shown here) have disclosed that most sol-derived patterns shrink about  $30\% \sim 40\%$  in lateral dimension and about 50% in vertical dimension. Taking into account the shrinkage in both width and height of a typical disc pattern, these values translate to about  $70.5\% \sim 82\%$  volume shrinkage. Such large volume shrinkage contributes to the stress evolution in sol-derived nanostructures and leads to interesting phenomena regarding morphologic development as discussed in detail in chapter 3. On the other hand, the large volume shrinkage also suggests that much smaller nanostructures can be achieved than the eBL defined trench size in the resist. For example, CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> line patterns with width as small as 70 nm can be achieved by patterning 120 nm-wide trenches in eBL resist followed by spinning 0.1 M CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> sol and annealing in air at 900 °C.

#### 2.6.3 Material/substrate generality

#### 2.6.3.1 Versatility in patterned materials

The VP-soft-eBL can be in principle applied to patterning any liquid precursor that shows good chemical compatibility with the resist system. It is well known that PMMA and copolymer resists dissolve easily in ketone and toluene, but stay fairly stable in many alcohol and water solution environments. The sol precursors in this study are prepared in alcohol solutions and therefore very compatible with the resist. Our experiments further show that the 300 nm thick resists have fairly good resistance to diluted acetic acid ( $\sim$ 50% volume ratio in de-ionized water) environment. This is the maximum concentration used in this study to prepare CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> and BiFeO<sub>3</sub> sols. The sol systems that have been applied to VP-soft-eBL include, but not limited to,

ZnO, SnO<sub>2</sub>, BaTiO<sub>3</sub>, (Ba, Sr)TiO<sub>3</sub>, Pb(Zr, Ti)O<sub>3</sub>, BiFeO<sub>3</sub> and CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>. The spinning condition should be adjusted based on the concentration, gelation speed of particular sol system and the geometry of the designed pattern. However, we have noticed that spinning speed of  $3000 \sim 6000$  rpm typically render satisfactory lift-off for the above sol systems. Therefore, unlike other "top-down" patterning methods, the materials deposition process does not require significant adjustment for different precursors. Examples of sol-derived VP-soft-eBL patterns are shown in figures 2.11(a) to 2.11(c).

The robust VP-soft-eBL technique can also be combined with multiple other wet chemistry routes. For example, ZnO colloidal solution with particle size of 200 nm is spun on eBL patterned PMMA resist. After baking at 100 °C to evaporate the solvent, the sample is soaked in acetone for lift-off. The ZnO particles that have filled in the eBL-determined trenches can withstand the lift-off and even slight ultra-sonication. The final patterns on the substrate are arrays of nanoparticles aligned inside the predetermined areas. The line pattern formed by ZnO colloidal particles on Si wafer is shown in figure 2.11(d). Further explorations also demonstrate that the VP-soft-eBL can be used to fabricate arrays of well-aligned ZnO nanorods by first spinning the ZnO seed solution on patterned resist, followed by soaking the as-spun sample in Zn-rich liquid environment for room temperature growth.

Another interesting attempt has been made by using polymeric solutions as precursors. For example, nanostructures of polypyrrole, a conducting polymer, are patterned on Si wafter. The precursor is prepared by diluting the as-purchased polypyrrole solution (5 wt.% in water) to 1:3 ratio of polypyrrole to water. The SEM image of the polypyrrole pattern is shown in figure 2.11(e). The chemical identity of these patterns are proved to be consistent with polypyrrole
using secondary ion mass spectrometry by Donthu et al.<sup>133</sup> Given the difficulty in milling or etching polymers from thin films without significant damage to the nanostructures, the VP-softeBL can be particularly useful for patterning polymeric structures.



Figure 2.11: Versatility of VP-soft-eBL demonstrated through multitude of materials patterned with various liquid phase precursors. (a) SEM image of Pb(Zr, Ti)O<sub>3</sub> discs on Nb:SrTiO<sub>3</sub> single crystal substrate, before annealing. (b) SEM image of BiFeO<sub>3</sub> discs on Si wafer, annealed in air at 600 °C for 30 min. (c) AFM image and cross section profile of CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> discs on SrTiO<sub>3</sub> single crystal substrate, annealed in air at 1000 °C. (d) SEM image of ZnO line pattern formed by colloidal particles on Si wafer. (e) SEM image of polypyrrole line patterns on Si wafer. Besides the high versatility in material systems that can be patterned, VP-soft-eBL approach also exhibit remarkable generality on substrate selection. The impact of this generality can be viewed from two aspects, i.e., fabrication control capability and compatibility with multiple characterization techniques.

First, the incorporation of variable pressure mode has significantly expanded the scope of the soft-eBL approach by enabling direct patterning on highly insulating substrates that are important for microstructural control over the patterned oxide materials. For example, BaTiO<sub>3</sub> nanodisc arrays are patterned on different substrates after annealing. The substrates are: 1 wt.% Nb doped SrTiO<sub>3</sub> (001) single crystal (Nb:STO), 50 nm-thick epitaxial SrRuO<sub>3</sub> thin film coated SrTiO<sub>3</sub> (001) single crystal (SRO/STO) and pure SrTiO<sub>3</sub> (001) single crystal (STO). The experimental conditions are the same for patterning all three types of substrates, with the exception of the gas pressure in VP-eBL process. The room temperature resistivity of the above substrates and the chamber gas pressure used in VP-soft-eBL are listed in table 2.3. It can be inferred from the table that VP-soft-eBL is capable of patterning on a wide substrate resistivity range from  $10^{-3}$  to  $10^9 \Omega$  cm under proper patterning conditions. Due to the different lattice parameters of STO (or Nb:STO) and SRO, the edges of annealed BaTiO<sub>3</sub> pattern on these substrates align with different crystalline orientations accordingly, as shown in figure 2.12. Further study has demonstrated that the VP-soft-eBL allows exquisite control over the internal microstructure as well as the external morphology of multiple oxide nanostructures by invoking the substrate effect (see chapter 3 for detail). The substrate generality therefore has become the critical capability to ensure high quality oxide nanopatterns.

Substrate	Resistivity	Chamber pressure (Water vapor)
Nb:STO	0.0035 Ω·cm	High vacuum (10 <sup>-11</sup> Torr)
SRO/STO	$\sim 0.21 \ \Omega \cdot cm^{134}$	High vacuum (10 <sup>-11</sup> Torr) if SRO film is grounded or low vacuum (1.2 Torr) if SRO film is not grounded
STO	$4 \times 10^9 \Omega \cdot \mathrm{cm}$	Low vacuum (1.5 Torr)

 Table 2.3 Room temperature resistivity and gas pressure used for VP-soft-eBL patterning on Nb:STO, SRO/STO and STO substrates



Figure 2.12: Patterning of BaTiO<sub>3</sub> on substrates with significantly different electrical resistivities. (a) VP-SEM image of BaTiO<sub>3</sub> discs patterned on pure STO substrate. (b) SEM image of BaTiO<sub>3</sub> discs patterned on SRO/STO substrate. The white arrows in the left corner of both images indicate the <100> orientations of the substrate. Please note the different edge alignment in (a) and (b).

Second, the VP-soft-eBL employs spinning of liquid precursor for materials deposition. Therefore it is a gentle technique that can be applied on fragile substrates. This is demonstrated by patterning various oxide nanostructures directly on SiN<sub>x</sub> membrane as thin as 50 nm. The thin, electron-transparent membranes (SPI Supplies, Structure Probe, Inc.) are fabricated by deposition of SiN<sub>x</sub> thin film on Si wafer followed by back etching through the wafer to produce a "membrane window" with desired thickness. Using the thin membrane window as substrate, nanostructures can be directly viewed and characterized under transmission electron microscope (TEM). This saves great effort and time on painstaking traditional TEM sample preparation procedures including cutting, polishing, dimpling and ion beam thinning. On the other hand, direct patterning on the membrane also prevents structural damage to the samples introduced by conventional TEM sample preparation, which can be of particular detrimental for miniaturized structures. Figure 2.13(a) shows SEM images of the Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub> membrane (image obtained from SPI Supplies website), and figure 2.13(b) shows a schematic illustration of VP-soft-eBL direct patterning on the opposite side of such membrane.



Figure 2.13: VP-soft-eBL direct patterning on thin membrane window. (a) SEM image of the membrane window with surrounding silicon support. Total dimension is 3.0 mm diagonally. (b) Schematic illustration of spinning liquid precursor on VP-eBL patterned resist on top of the membrane window, followed by lift-off.

It should be pointed out here that a few modifications have been made for patterning on  $SiN_x$  membrane windows compared with regular VP-soft-eBL process for bulk sample. The windows as manufactured tend to be highly hydrophobic, causing difficulties in coating resist with desired thickness as well as retaining proper amount of liquid precursor in the trenches during spinning. This problem is solved by using oxygen plasma treatment immediately before spinning resist and spinning the liquid precursor. Also, we have noticed that area dose almost twice as high as that on Si wafer is needed for patterning on the 50 nm-thick  $SiN_x$  membrane to achieve effective exposure. This is probably because the very thin sample produces lower density of backscattered electrons compared with bulk substrate. Several examples of nanostructures patterned using the modified procedures are shown in figure 2.14. Figures 2.14(a) to 2.14(c) are scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM) images of CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> nanodisc patterns annealed in air at 1000 °C and energy dispersive x-ray (EDX) analysis result from this sample. The STEM mode is very sensitive to mass and thickness variation. The dark field STEM image

in figure 2.14(b) therefore clearly shows thickness variation across the 50 nm-diameter CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> disc. Inset of figure 2.14(b) is an electron diffraction pattern obtained from one individual  $CoFe_2O_4$  disc (the SiN<sub>x</sub> membrane is amorphous). The diffraction pattern demonstrates the single crystallinity of the disc and is indexed to the [001] zone axis of the spinel structured CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>. The EDX spectra obtained from the disc and the plain membrane in figure 2.14(c) confirm the chemical constituents of the patterns. Figure 2.14(d) shows the STEM image of a  $BaTiO_3$  disc pattern on the SiN<sub>x</sub> membrane annealed at 1000 °C and the electron energy loss spectroscopy (EELS) line scan profile across such disc at 10 nm intervals. The relative intensity variations in the Ti L<sub>2,3</sub> edges and Ba M<sub>4,5</sub> edges originate from the thickness variation of the nanostructure across its diameter. The spectra clearly identify the chemical constituents of the nanopattern, and demonstrate no significant diffusion of Ba and Ti on the SiN<sub>x</sub> membrane outside the patterned area. The oxygen K edge showing in and outside the pattern indicates that the SiN<sub>x</sub> membrane is oxidized upon annealing in air. The examples in figure 2.14 demonstrate the feasibility of imaging as well as chemical analysis under TEM on VP-soft-eBL patterned nanostructures without requiring any additional sample preparation procedure.



Figure 2.14: (a-b) STEM images of CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> nanodiscs on SiN<sub>x</sub> membrane; inset of (b) shows the diffraction pattern taken from the disc with [001] zone axis, illustrating its single crystal nature. (c) EDS spectra taken on the disc and on the plain membrane. (d) STEM image of BaTiO<sub>3</sub> 50 nm-diameter disc on SiN<sub>x</sub> membrane and the point-by-point analysis of EELS spectra across the pattern.

The capability of patterning on SiN<sub>x</sub> membrane not only enables direct observation under advance electron microscopy for structural/chemical characterization, it also provides a platform for applying multiple other analytical techniques on the nanopatterned system. For example, Donthu et al. have measured the photoluminescence property from ZnO (doped with Eu) nanodots patterned on membrane using near-field scanning optical microscopy (NSOM).<sup>135</sup> Figure 2.15 schematically illustrates the multiple characterization techniques that we have incorporated on the patterned membrane samples, along with the source used and the signal detected in each technique.



Figure 2.15: Capability of patterning on fragile membrane allows multiple characterizations on one individual sample. These characterization techniques include xray diffraction, x-ray scattering, SEM, TEM/STEM, AFM and NSOM. As a short summary for section 2.6.3, the highly versatile nature of the VP-soft-eBL scheme is highlighted through fabrication of nanostructures of diverse materials (including ferroelectric, magnetic, optoelectronic and conducting polymeric materials) at different length scales and spatial density on a multitude of substrates (including highly insulating substrates and fragile electron transparent membranes). VP-soft-eBL enjoys remarkable attributes of independence of material systems and substrate choice and gentle nature of the process. These attributes can be extremely valuable to study the microstructural evolution and stress distribution in the solderived pattern systems by choosing proper substrates and using suitable characterization techniques.

#### 2.6.4 Site-specificity

VP-SEM used in this work is equipped with fine stage movement control and superb NPGS system. Therefore patterning can be carried out at certain specific position on the substrate with high repeatability and precision. This ensures excellent site-specific patterning capability. Figure 2.16 shows an example of a group of ZnO lines patterned across two Au electrodes in order to measure their conductivity. To prepare this sample, the Au electrodes and alignment markers are first patterned using photolithography on the Si wafer. Then the patterned sample is spun with PMMA resist and patterned with line features using VP-soft-eBL, by aligning the entire sample with the aid of the alignment markers (not shown). This greatly facilitates the integration of nanostructures into device architectures.



Figure 2.16: ZnO lines (75 nm-wide) patterned across two Au electrodes. Inset shows the detail at the end of one line.

### 2.7 EVALUATION ON EASE OF PRACTICE OF VP-SOFT-EBL

In general, VP-soft-eBL can be readily carried out for exploratory research in a lab setting. The ease of practice for VP-soft-eBL can be evaluated from the following aspects:

(1) *Precursor synthesis*: The sol-gel chemistry for the oxide precursors used in this work has been very well-developed. Modification on sol concentration or solvent systems can be readily conducted in lab. Synthesis of colloidal particle suspension has also been established in our laboratory.

(2) *eBL process*: eBL patterning condition on copolymer and PMMA resists has long been established and highly repeatable, particularly on semiconducting or conducting substrates. Patterning on insulating substrates under variable pressure mode can be less straightforward.

However, optimized VP-eBL condition in terms of gas pressure and primary beam energy has been established. Further knowledge regarding the beam skirt effect has been obtained through quantitative analysis (chapter 4) to obtain better control in VP-eBL.

(3) *Etch-free lift-off*: The lift-off effectiveness is dictated by an integrated effect of sol recipe, pattern geometry and spinning speed. Therefore precise estimation of the optimized lift-off condition can be very difficult. However, an empirically obtained spinning condition can achieve satisfactory lift-off effect for most of the sol systems used in this work.

(4) *Thermal treatment of as-deposited patterns*: Proper high temperature annealing condition has to be selected based on the sol property, pattern dimension, choice of substrate, and desired crystalline structure and density.

### 2.8 SUMMARY

This chapter reports a facile yet effective nanopatterning approach for fabrication of nanostructures from a wide variety of solid state materials on diverse substrates, with controlled dimensions and locations. Combining the advantages of the state-of-the-art electron beam lithography and the highly versatile wet chemistry, the VP-soft-eBL possesses the four key attributes pertinent to patterning functional oxide nanostructures. These include: etch-free, high spatial resolution, registry and material/substrate generality.

With its remarkable versatility, VP-soft-eBL can be adapted to achieve various goals for ceramic nanopatterning. As a matter of fact, multiple developments and improvements to the

VP-soft-eBL have been achieved over the past two years. The scope of VP-soft-eBL has been greatly expanded in two regimes. One is to explore the patterning capability in fabrication of ceramic nanostructures under substrate constraint at multi-dimensionalities. The other is to employ the VP-soft-eBL as an enabler for exquisite control over morphology, shape evolution, and crystalline orientation of these nanostructures, akin to what has been possible in the past with semiconductor heterostructures by thin film approaches. The effort made in the above areas will be systematically demonstrated in chapters 3 to 5.

### **CHAPTER 3**

# MCIROSTRUCTURAL AND MORPHOLOGIC CONTROL OF VP-SOFTeBL PATTERNED 0D AND 1D NANOSTRUCTURES



This chapter details the microstructural control strategy incorporated with VP-soft-eBL scheme for sol-gel-derived complex oxide nanopatterns. Our observations show that, besides the elastic property matching of the substrate/material system, the original pattern aspect ratio has significant influence on the microstructual development of the 0D patterns during heat treatment. Particularly, epitaxial single crystal patterns with preferred orientation are obtained and confirmed by structural, chemical and functional characterizations using TEM and SPM. The chapter also highlights the capability of achieving "patterningcontrolled morphology" for 0D and 1D nanostructures of materials with high surface energy anisotropy.

Part of the work presented in this chapter was published in Nano Lett., 6, 2344 (2006) and Appl. Phys. Lett., 91, 143105 (2007) (selected for the October, 2007 issue of Virtual Journal of Nanoscale Science & Technology). Other parts were presented at 2006 MRS Fall Meeting and 2007 MRS Fall Meeting.

Fabrication and assembly of zero-dimensional (0D) and one-dimensional (1D) functional oxide nanostructures, particularly of those with magnetic and/or ferroelectric order parameters, have attracted considerable research interest in recent decades.<sup>136-140</sup> Properties and performances of such nanostructures are heavily influenced by their internal microstructure as well as external morphology. Such significant influences arise from two factors: 1) ferroelectricity and magnetism are intrinsic material properties that are extremely sensitive to parameters such as crystallinity, orientation, aspect ratio, and pattern-substrate interface structure; and 2) small alterations in chemistry,<sup>141</sup> shape,<sup>142</sup> and even surface roughness<sup>143</sup> of 0D and 1D nanostructures have a rather strong impact due to miniaturization. This has become the central driving force for the development of innovative design strategies to: (i) manipulate functional ceramic materials at nanometer length scales; (ii) control the dimensions and morphology of the nano-features and (iii) engineer their internal microstructure. The realization of the above capabilities, while appealing, is equally challenging for both pure "top-down" approaches<sup>132, 144-146</sup> and pure "bottom-up" approaches.<sup>65-67</sup> It is particularly difficult to fabricate single crystalline or uniformly textured functional ceramic nanopatterns in order to probe their intrinsic or enhanced properties.

We have introduced the VP-soft-eBL approach as a highly versatile patterning scheme suitable for fabrication of diverse oxide nanostructures. We also notice that VP-soft-eBL allows exquisite control over the internal microstructure of oxide nanopatterns. For example, Donthu *et. al.*<sup>147, 148</sup> have demonstrated that VP-soft-*e*BL enables grain size control of ZnO line patterns through changing the line width. The scope of structural engineering can be further expanded by utilizing the unique characteristic of VP-soft-eBL. Basically, its "top-down" feature implies that the microstructure of patterns can be dictated by the underlying substrate, akin to what has been

possible in the past with semiconductor heterostructures by thin film approaches. Its "bottom-up" quality, i.e., compatibility with sol precursors, has provided an etch-less and damage-free route for making miniaturize structures. Therefore, the behavior of the as-prepared patterns with different dimensions can be directly cross-compared to single out the influence of morphology.

In this chapter, we report a strategy incorporated with VP-soft-eBL scheme to control the microstructure of sol-gel-derived complex oxide nanopatterns, particularly to obtain epitaxial single crystal patterns with preferred orientation. The patterning-controlled morphology development for 0D and 1D nanostructures is also discussed.

# 3.1 MECHANICAL STABILITY OF SOL-GEL SYSTEMS AND MICROSTRUCTURAL ENGINEERING STRATEGY

The principle sol-gel-processing routes for oxide ceramics involve the gelation or the crosslinking between hydrolyzed metal alkoxides in an alcoholic solvent. The final conversion to the oxide is accomplished by heat-treating the gel. There are large shrinkages to accommodate at two stages: as the gel dries and as the dried gel sinters to dense ceramic. For a sol-derived blanket thin film system, the shrinkage induces residual tensile stresses in the film and causes film cracking when the film thickness is larger than a critical value. Cracking-related mechanical and microstructural instability of sol-derived thin films has become the focus of intensive research.<sup>149-153</sup> For example, Atkinson and Guppy<sup>154</sup> proposed that the critical thickness  $h_c$  above which through-film cracking happens is dependent on the elastic properties of the systems as:

$$h_c = \frac{EG_f}{0.6\pi\sigma^2} \tag{3.1}$$

where *E* is the modulus of both the film and the substrate (assumed equal);  $G_f$  is the critical strain energy release rate for crack extension in the film which is related to the free surface energy of the film material;  $\sigma$  is the stress in the film.

Equation 3.1 implies that mechanical stability of a sol-derived system can be tuned by adjusting the strain energy in the system, i.e., the value of  $\sigma$  and  $G_f$ . For a blanket thin film, this can be practically realized by adjusting processing parameters like solvent-to-alkoxide ratio, pyrolysis temperature and heating rate.<sup>155</sup> For a nanopatterned system, another degree of freedom for tuning the strain energy is introduced due to the strong correlation between the pattern geometry and the constraint imposed by the substrate. It can therefore be expected that the mechanical stability and the microstructure of the discrete nanopatterns will change with their size and shape. On the other hand, the crystalline structure and orientation of the nanopatterns can be dictated by the underlying substrate with appropriate lattice matching. This has become the motivation of microstructural engineering on the as-deposited, amorphous nanostructures made from VP-soft-eBL.

#### **3.2 EXPERIMENTAL DETAILS**

In this study, nanodisc arrays of technologically important magnetic oxide  $CoFe_2O_4$  (CFO) and ferroelectric oxide  $BaTiO_3$  (BTO) are fabricated with various diameters using the VP-softeBL approach. Diverse single crystal oxide substrates are selected to provide different degrees of lattice matching with CFO or BTO. These substrates include: (1) (001) SrTiO<sub>3</sub> (STO); (2) (001) MgO; (3) 50 nm-thick epitaxial SrRuO<sub>3</sub> film sputtered on (001) SrTiO<sub>3</sub> substrate (SRO/STO); (4) (110) GdScO<sub>3</sub> (GSO); (5) (110) DyScO<sub>3</sub> (DSO). The lattice constants and crystalline structures of substrates used in this study are listed in table 3.1. The lattice mismatch  $\alpha$  between the patterned material and the corresponding substrate is defined as:

$$\alpha(BTO) = \frac{a(substrate) - a(BTO)}{a(BTO)} \times 100\%$$
(3.2)

$$\alpha(CFO) = \frac{2a(substrate) - a(CFO)}{a(CFO)} \times 100\%$$
(3.3)

where *a* stands for the lattice constant of the patterned material or the substrate. Please note that here *a* is the lattice spacing of (100) plane ( $d_{(100)}$ ) for CFO, BTO, STO, SRO and MgO. For (110) DSO and GSO substrates, *a* takes the value of the in-plane lattice spacing of the nearly square surface mesh for comparison with the pervoskite BTO.<sup>1</sup> The factor 2 is used in equation 3.3 because the lattice constant of spinel CFO is about twice that of the substrates used in this work.

Patterned materials	Substrate	Substrate Parameters			er ( <b>0</b> / )
		a (Å)	Structure	Space group	α(%)
CFO	(001) SrTiO <sub>3</sub>	3.905	Perovskite	Pm3m	-6.9
Spinel (Fd3m) <i>a</i> = 8.391 Å	(001) MgO	4.212	Rock salt	Fm3m	0.39
вто	(001) SrTiO <sub>3</sub>	3.905	Perovskite	Pm3m	-2.3
Perovksite (P4mm)	(001) SrRuO <sub>3</sub> /SrTiO <sub>3</sub>	3.92	Perovskite	Pbnm	-1.9
<i>a</i> = 3.997 Å	(110) DyScO <sub>3</sub>	3.95	Distorted-perovskite	Pbnm	-1.2
c = 4.03  Å	(110) GdScO <sub>3</sub>	3.97	Distorted-perovskite	Pbnm	-0.68

Table 3.1 Lattice mismatch between different substrates with CFO and BTO

VP-soft-eBL and scanning electron microscope (SEM) imaging are both conducted in Quanta 600F environmental SEM (FEI Co.). Patterning conditions for discrete 0D and 1D nanostructures in VP-eBL have been reported in chapter 2. In order to crystallize and fully densify the patterns, all patterned samples are annealed at 1000 °C using 80 °C/min heating rate and cooled down to room temperature with 30 °C/min. The CFO patterns are annealed in air, whereas the BTO patterns are annealed in 1 atm O<sub>2</sub> atmosphere to subdue the development of oxygen vacancies.<sup>156</sup> The crystalline structure and chemical constituents of the annealed nanopatterns are characterized in transmission electron microscope (TEM, JEM-2100F, JEOL, Japan), equipped with high angle annular dark field (HAADF) detector to provide high atomic number contrast under scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM) mode. The external

morphology and the thickness of the nanopatterns are measured using atomic force microscope (AFM, Nanoscope III microsope, Digital Instruments). The site-specific characterizations on the magnetic and piezoelectric behavior of the patterns are conducted using scanning probe microscopy based technique, i.e., magnetic force microscopy (MFM) and piezo-force microscopy (PFM), separately. The experimental condition of MFM and PFM operations will be introduced in related sections.

# 3.3 VARIATION OF MICROSTRUCTURAL DEVELOPMENT WITH PATTERN SIZE: CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> 0D DISC PATTERNS

In this section, we first demonstrate patterning of CFO discs on (001) STO substrate and site-specific characterizations on their chemical and functional identities. We then discuss the pattern size effect on microstructure development of CFO discs on STO substrate, and propose a strategy using which epitaxial single crystal disc patterns can be achieved.

### 3.3.1 Development of CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> disc patterns on (001) SrTiO<sub>3</sub> substrate

Figure 3.1 shows typical AFM images of soft-eBL-patterned CFO arrays on STO substrate after annealing, illustrating the size uniformity of the CFO patterns. The cross-sectional profile shows that each disc has uniform diameter of about 150 nm and height of about 90 nm. In the following, samples with different pattern diameters on STO substrate are selected in order to understand the influence of pattern size on the morphology and crystallinity of CFO discs. The height of the final patterns for different samples generally falls in the range of 80~100 nm.



Figure 3.1: AFM images of CFO disc array on STO. Scale bar = 1 μm.

Figures 3.2(a) to 3.2(c) are SEM images of CFO discs with 500 nm, 200 nm and 100 nm diameters, respectively. In figure 3.2(a), the 500 nm-diameter patterns appear to break into several discrete crystallites. This tendency is significantly diminished for smaller patterns. In fact, two types of morphologies are observed to coexist for pattern diameter between 500 nm and 200 nm: one showing polycrystalline CFO network with small pores trapped inside, and the other with dense CFO discs. Patterns with 200 nm and smaller diameters (figures 3.2(b) and 3.2 (c)) are all developed into fully dense nanodiscs. In order to obtain explicit evidence for crystallinity of smaller patterns, tapping mode AFM phase images are taken on the 200 nm-diameter discs. AFM phase image can provide superior grain boundary contrast especially when grains are smaller than 20 nm.<sup>157</sup> Figures 3.3(a) to 3.3(b) show the typical phase images of 200 nm-diameter patterns, where no grain boundary features are observed. Although the original patterns in the e-beam resist are circular discs, a certain percentage of annealed CFO patterns present faceted shape which is consistent with the Wulff construction for cubic m3m point group

symmetry (truncated octahedron with  $\{100\}$  and  $\{111\}$  facets<sup>158</sup>), as illustrated in figure 3.3(c). The sharp angle between the side and bottom surfaces measured from cross-sectional profiles of figure 3.3(b) is around 56~58°, corresponding well to the angle between cubic  $\{001\}$  and  $\{111\}$  planes (57.4°). It suggests the single crystal nature of the nanopatterns with less than 200 nm diameter and their uniform cube-on-cube epitaxial orientation with respect to the substrate.



Figure 3.2: VP-SEM images of CFO disc arrays on STO substrate, with (a): 500 nm, (b): 200 nm, and (c):100 nm diameters, respectively. Scale bar =  $1 \mu m$ .



Figure 3.3: AFM phase images of CFO discs with 200 nm diameter and cross sectional profile. The line contrast on the substrate (indicated by arrows) comes from the terraces on (001) STO due to its surface reconstruction during annealing. Figure 3.3 (c) shows colored facets of one disc, illustrating the possible crystallographic orientations that are consistent with the Wulff construction for cubic m3m point group symmetry (inset).

TEM investigation on a plan view sample (CFO 200 nm-diameter disc arrays on (001) STO substrate after annealing) provides unambiguous evidence of the single crystal nature and detailed information on the orientation of the nanodiscs. Well-defined pattern shape can be readily observed from figures 3.4(a) and 3.4(b). Typical selected area diffraction (SAD) pattern obtained from one such disc (figure 3.4(c)) further reveals the cube-on-cube heteroepitaxy between the single crystal CFO nanodiscs and the STO substrate. This heteroepitaxy implies that one magnetocrystalline easy axis (i.e., <100>) of CFO nanopatterns is aligned normal to the

substrate plane, which is highly favorable to harness the magnetization direction of such nanopatterns. While current attempts for fabrication of textured or epitaxial ferrite thin films or miniaturized structures are mainly focused on high energy deposition (e.g., pulsed laser deposition, magnetron sputtering, and molecular beam epitaxy)<sup>159</sup> with careful monitoring of the film growth, the approach we demonstrate here can serve as an attractive alternative to fabricate highly textured ferrite nanostructures and heterostructures.



Figure 3.4: (a-b) TEM plan view images of 200 nm-diamter CFO discs on (100) STO substrate. (c) SAD pattern obtained from one CFO disc pattern illustrating the cube-oncube heteroepitaxy between the pattern and the substrate. To probe the localized chemical information of the nanostructures, energy dispersive x-ray (EDX) spectra are collected using STEM mode. Figure 3.5 shows the HAADF-STEM image of a CFO pattern, where the faceting and thickness variation can be observed across the pattern. An electron probe with nominal size of 1 nm is used to obtain point-by-point EDX spectra across the CFO pattern. The yellow box on the image indicates the area for spatial drift correction while collecting the EDX data. The EDX analysis confirms the coexistence of Fe and Co elements on the pattern, but not outside on the STO substrate. The peak intensity change in Fe and Co signals is due to the thickness variation.



Figure 3.5: STEM image of 200 nm CFO nanodiscs (right) and point-by-point EDX spectra analysis (left) taken on the disc and on the STO substrate.

The fact that majority of the 200 nm-diameter CFO nanopatterns exhibit heteroepitaxy with respect to the STO substrate suggests that their magnetocrystalline easy axes (i.e., <100>) are aligned normal to the substrate plane. To study the spontaneous magnetization of the CFO

patterns, lift-mode MFM is employed. The AFM tip used is coated with cobalt thin film and magnetized before scanning. The lift height in MFM operation is 40 nm above the sample. Topographic and MFM phase images obtained on an area covering  $5 \times 5$  disc array is scanned. The sample is not subjected to magnetization. In figure 3.6, the phase contrast from the discs suggests that most CFO discs carry an out-of-plane spontaneous magnetization component, which is in accordance with the microstructural observation.



Figure 3.6: (a) Topographic image of a  $5 \times 5$  array of CFO disc patterns; (b) MFM phase image on the same area without external magnetization. Scale bar = 1  $\mu$ m.

### 3.3.2 Equilibrium aspect ratio for "crack-free" patterns

Based on the observation on CFO disc arrays on STO substrate through SEM, AFM and TEM, their microstructural change with pattern dimension is described in table 3.2.

Diameter <i>d</i> (after annealing, nm)	500	200	100
Average height <i>h</i> (nm)	~80	80	84
Aspect ratio <i>h/d</i>	0.16	0.4	0.84
Microstructure	Cracked; polycrystalline	Dense; mostly single crystal; epitaxially grown on STO	

Table 3.2 Microstructural development of CFO disc patterns on STO with dimension

From table 3.2 it can be noticed that the pattern morphology appears to diverge at a critical diameter of around 200 nm, i.e., larger patterns tend to break into discontinuous crystallites, whereas smaller patterns develop into dense discs. Considering that the epitaxial nanodiscs, to an approximation, resemble strained epitaxial islands in typical semiconductor systems,<sup>160-162</sup> the morphology change may be qualitatively explained using the analytical results derived for the latter systems. By assuming the total free energy of the system to consist mainly of elastic strain energy and free surface energy of the islands, studies on the mechanics of epitaxial semiconductor islands<sup>160, 162</sup> point out that: 1) the strain energy per unit volume stored in the island is a decreasing function of aspect ratio, whereas the normalized surface energy is an increasing function of aspect ratio, due to the fact that the ratio of its surface area to the amount of substrate surface covered is increasing. Consequently, for islands of larger volume for which elastic effects are more important than surface energy effects, the equilibrium aspect ratio is expected to be larger. This implies that for CFO patterns with large diameters (therefore larger volume and small aspect ratio), the strain energy can be so high that the patterns tend to crack to partly release the strain energy at the price of increasing the free surface energy; 2) an equilibrium aspect ratio of the islands for fixed island volume at which the total free energy density is a local minimum can be determined, with a dimensionless parameter R for a fixed volume. R is defined by:

$$R \sim \frac{2\pi\gamma}{M\alpha^2 A^{1/2}} \tag{3.4}$$

where

 $\gamma$  = free surface energy of the island;

M = biaxial elastic modulus of the pattern, i.e.,  $M = 2\mu \frac{1+\nu}{1-\nu}$ , where  $\mu$  is the elastic shear modulus and  $\nu$  is the Poisson's ratio;

 $\alpha$  = lattice mismatch between the island and the substrate, with the same definition as in equations 3.2 and 3.3;

A =cross-sectional area of the island.

The parameter *R* here represents a measure of the relative importance of surface energy to strain energy in the system. The above argument assumes the islands take mesa morphology and are completely coherent with the substrate. Although the contributions to the free energy of a nanopattern from crystallographic shape and facets<sup>163, 164</sup> and possible dislocations formed in the pattern<sup>160, 165</sup> are not included, the model can still be used to give approximate estimation on the morphology of CFO patterns. For dense and epitaxial 200 nm-diameter CFO patterns on STO (001) substrate that exhibit faceted morphology, the system parameters have approximate values

of  $\gamma = 1 \text{ J/m}^{2,166} M = 100 \text{ GPa},^{167} \alpha = -0.07$ , and  $A = 6000 \text{ nm}^{2}$  for which *R* is about 0.2. For this value of *R*, the minimization of the free energy density in the literature<sup>160</sup> implies an equilibrium aspect ratio larger than 0.4 (i.e., pattern height  $\geq 80 \text{ nm}$ ), which corresponds to the observed dimension of the CFO patterns with the "critical" diameter of 200 nm.

It should be pointed out that the above theoretic model is based on a few assumptions on factors including the shape of the pattern and the interface energy for simplicity of calculation. Also, it considers the main contributions to the total free energy only from free surface energy and elastic strain energy due to lattice mismatch. Therefore it is more suitable to predict the equilibrium shape and size for self-assembled epitaxial systems such as semiconductors. The case for sol-derived nanopatterned system can be much more complicated because the contributions from phase transformation and intrinsic stresses induced by densification are not negligible. Because nucleation and grain growth are both diffusion-controlled, the pattern morphology development for sol-system must also be related to diffusion kinetics. Although detailed investigation on such correlation can be complicated, one may expect that it is more difficult for large patterns to develop into a single grain than for small ones because a significant amount of mass has to be transferred and re-arranged for this purpose.

Here we use the model of considering free energy as a balance of strain energy and surface energy to provide a lower bound of crack-free morphology development for a given nanopattern/substrate system. It can be expected that if substrate of smaller lattice mismatch with CFO is selected, crack-free and epitaxial patterns can be achieved for larger parameters. It reveals the potential of this approach for structural engineering via nanopatterning, i.e., to obtain poly- or single-crystalline ceramic nanostructures through controlling the pattern size, and to achieve specific crystallographic orientation of the nanostructure by choosing proper substrates. This has led to the following experiments to prove the single crystal conversion strategy by patterning CFO or BTO nanodiscs with appropriate dimension on low-mismatch substrates.

### 3.4 SINGLE CRYSTAL CONVERSION STRATEGY AND ORIENTATION CONTROL

### 3.4.1 Example 1: CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> disc patterns on (001) MgO substrate

Due to its very low lattice mismatch (0.39%), the CFO/MgO system serves a nice test system for comparison with the previously studied CFO/STO system. In fact, it is observed for CFO/MgO system that the disc patterns with diameter ranging from 100 nm to 500 nm can all develop into dense, crack-free structures after annealing (for the same 80 ~100 nm average height). The fact that crack-free morphology exhibit for larger diameters can be explained by the much less strain energy stored in the coherent CFO/MgO system and therefore a smaller critical aspect ratio required. Figure 3.7 shows a typical single crystal conversion result for such system. Figure 3.7(a) is a VP-SEM image of 200 nm-diameter CFO circular discs after development with about 130 nm average height (revealed by AFM). After annealing, all the circular discs develop into dense crystalline phase with a uniform square-bottom pyramid shape as shown in figure 3.7(b). The AFM image (figure 3.7(c)) confirms this shape development and reveals the sharp bottom edges and smooth side facets. Measurement of the angle between side facets and the bottom substrate surface gives a precise  $57.4^{\circ}$  angle, corresponding to that between  $\{111\}$  and  $\{100\}$ . The <100> in-plane orientations for the single crystal MgO substrate are indicated with

white arrows on all images. Please note that the CFO bottom edge orientation is along <110>. The schematic representation of the CFO pyramid-shape pattern is shown in the inset of figure 3.7(c). The well-defined faceted shape further proves the single-crystallinity of the CFO converted from as-deposited amorphous phase.



Figure 3.7: Single crystal conversion of CFO disc patterns on (100) MgO substrate. (a) VP-SEM image before annealing; (b) VP-SEM image after annealing in air at 1000 °C; (c)
AFM image after annealing. Inset shows the schematic representation of the faceted shape (up) and a magnified three dimensional image of one CFO pattern (bottom). White arrows indicate the <100> directions of the MgO substrate.

As addressed before, the densification and phase transformation of sol-derived patterns are diffusion-controlled and should be related to annealing kinetics. In our study, the annealing time required for the single crystal conversion and the faceted shape development is studied. Particularly, four groups of patterned samples are annealed in air at 1000 °C for 30 min, 1 hr, 2 hr and 4 hr, respectively. These samples are patterned with same geometry of 200 nm-diameter circular disc arrays, under identical VP-eBL condition. The typical VP-SEM images of these annealed samples are shown in figure 3.8. Multiple small grains can be observed on top of the sample annealed for 30 min in figure 3.8(a). Annealing for 1 hr facilitates the development of the <110> edge directions and the square bottom (figure 3.8(b)). The structure is further densified, although sporadic small grains still exist on the top. This development has been advanced given longer annealing time and the single crystal conversion is achieved for patterns annealed for 4 hr. The single crystal conversion is accompanied by size shrinkage, particularly in the out-of-plane direction. AFM measurements (not shown here) have disclosed that the average height of the pattern changes from the original 130 nm to 75 nm during annealing. The observation that the square shape development initiates from the pattern bottom and advances towards the top suggests that the heterogeneous nucleation mechanism is dominated during sintering of solderived pattern.



Figure 3.8: VP-SEM images of CFO disc patterns annealed at 1000 °C with increasing annealing time. (a) 30 min; (b) 1 hr; (c) 2 hr; (d) 4 hr. Scale bar = 500 nm.

### 3.4.2 Example 2: BaTiO<sub>3</sub> disc patterns on (001) SrRuO<sub>3</sub>/SrTiO<sub>3</sub> substrate

The single crystal conversion of BTO has also been carried out on SRO, STO, DSO and GSO substrates. Among them, epitaxial thin film of SRO is particularly useful as electrodes for ferroelectric materials and junctions in microelectronic devices due to its structural compatibility with diverse perovskite ferroelectric oxides, electric conductivity, high resistance to chemical corrosion and outstanding thermal conductivity.<sup>168-170</sup> Here we use the BTO/SRO system as an example to illustrate the efficacy of this single crystal conversion strategy.

In this study, ferroelectric BTO discs are patterned on SRO epilayer on STO substrate. The lattice mismatch between SRO and BTO is about -1.9%. Shown in figure 3.9 are SEM and AFM images of BTO disc patterns developed from the originally defined circular discs after annealing. The annealed BTO patterns exhibit truncated-pyramid shape and well-defined facets, with four bottom edges aligned along the <110> directions of the substrate, similar to what has been observed for CFO/MgO system. Given the similar structure and close lattice parameters of BTO and SRO, this morphology suggests that the BTO patterns are single crystalline, with cube-on-cube epitaxy with respect to the substrate.


Figure 3.9: BTO single crystal patterns on SRO/STO substrate with faceted shape. (a) SEM image. (b) AFM image. Arrows indicate the <100> directions of the substrate.

The epitaxial relationship is further confirmed by TEM electron diffraction and high resolution imaging of the BTO/SRO interface. The cross-sectional TEM sample shown in figure 3.10(a) is prepared by using focused ion beam (FIB) lift-off method followed by cleaning in low angle ion milling (Fischione Instruments) to reduce FIB damage. The high resolution image at the BTO/SRO interface (figure 3.10(b)) reveals the heteroepitaxy between the pattern and the SRO film. This suggests a uniform 'a'-domain or 'c'-domain configuration of all BTO nanostructures, which is highly favorable to harness the ferroelectric properties of nanopatterns towards possible application such as high density memories. We notice that BTO patterns with less than 300 nm diameter on SRO substrate can all be readily converted into single crystal frustums with a typical height of about 50 nm (from AFM analysis, not shown) upon annealing.

Thus, this approach enables a reliable control over crystallinity, orientation and morphology of BTO patterns in sub-100 nm regime.



Figure 3.10: (a) TEM cross-sectional image of BTO/SRO/STO structures. Sample is cut along <110> direction of the substrate, through 10 nanopatterns. (c) TEM high resolution image at BTO/SRO interface showing the heteroepitaxy between the nanostructure and the substrate. Arrow indicates the interface position. The uneven background is due to the ion beam damage introduced during FIB lift-off procedure.

For BTO nanopatterns, it is essential to investigate the nature of the ferroelectric-electrode interface (i.e., BTO/SRO), which is expected to have a significant effect on interfacial strain and the ferroelectric properties in sub-100 nm thick structures.<sup>171</sup> The chemical constituent

distribution of BTO pyramids at the interface is analyzed using electron energy loss spectroscopy (EELS) under the STEM mode. The spectra are collected at 9 nm interval across a  $260 \times 300 \text{ nm}^2$  area (with a nominal electron probe size of ~ 0.2 nm) that covers one BTO pattern and the underlying SRO/STO (cross-section sample). Figure 3.11 shows the elemental map constructed using EELS spectrum imaging with Ba (M<sub>4,5</sub>), Ti (L<sub>2,3</sub>) and C (K) edges. It clearly identifies the constituent elements of the nanostructure and does not imply any noticeable diffusion of Ba or Ti into SRO or STO, even after high temperature annealing.



Figure 3.11: EELS map across one BTO pattern showing the chemical constituent distribution. The color scheme is set as: green=Ti (L<sub>2,3</sub> edges), red=Ba (M<sub>4,5</sub> edges), blue=C (K edge; carbon is introduced during TEM sample preparation), which brings a yellowish hue to the BTO pattern. The black layer under BTO pattern corresponds to the SRO film. Inset shows the corresponding dark field STEM image of the pattern. Pattern edge is indicated by the dash line.

Piezoelectric behavior of the BTO nanopatterns is confirmed with piezo-response force microscope (PFM) on a Nanoscope IV-Dimension 3100 AFM instrument. The AFM is equipped

with a signal access module and an external lock-in amplifier (Signal Recovery Model 5210). Pt/Ti coated conductive AFM probes (NSC 18, MickroMasch) with a nominal force constant of 3 N/m are used to apply dc or ac signal on and collect the piezo-response from the nanopatterns. Figure 3.12 is a phase-bias hysteresis loop obtained from one BTO disc pattern. The 180° phase change with *dc* bias changing from negative to positive clearly verifies the piezoelectric behavior. An overall shift of the hysteresis loop toward the positive bias is observed, which may be attributed to the polarization pinning due to either mechanical stress or trapped electronic charges near the interface. Such polarization pinning has been observed in thin film ferroelectrics and is still a subject of active study.<sup>71, 172, 173</sup>



Figure 3.12: Bias-phase hysteresis loop obtained with PFM from one BTO disc pattern with 200 nm width on SRO/STO substrate.

As demonstrated above, the critical aspect ratio for different material/substrate systems can be estimated based on their lattice mismatches and mechanical parameters. The estimation can be then used as gauge to help design the pattern dimension in order to achieve epitaxy. Patterns obtained this way not only possess very uniform shape and size, but a highly-aligned crystalline orientation dictated by the substrate. This is particularly important for materials with crystalline-

anisotropic properties, of which CFO and BTO are good examples.

Epitaxial conversion from amorphous phase for functional oxide 0D structures by using appropriate heating condition has also been observed by Ma *et.*  $al_{..}^{25}$  in their attempt of depositing BaTiO<sub>3</sub> and SrBi<sub>2</sub>Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>9</sub> using room temperature pulsed laser deposition (PLD) over self-organized latex spheres. However only hexagonal ordering can be achieved due to the nature of the sphere arrangement, and the pattern thickness is limited. Szafraniak et. al. have reported fabrication of Bi2O3 and PZT discrete nano-islands using the so-called "microstructuralinstability" of ultra-thin film derived from liquid precursors.<sup>105</sup> The nanostructures obtained this way exhibit a random site distribution and significant shape variation.<sup>174, 175</sup> It has been proposed that the registration and the shape of the islands can be tuned by engineering the strain fields in the substrates and adjusting the film deposition condition, separately. However these approaches may see practical challenges. These results project the great potential of using low temperature methods to deposit oxide materials followed by the microstructural engineering to achieve desired crystallinity. On the other hand, they underscore the necessity of acquiring a true patterning technique in order to guarantee the dimension uniformity. The e-beam lithography based strategy proposed in our work therefore may provide a practical solution to this dilemma.

# 3.5 FACETED SHAPE DEVELOPMENT AND PATTERNING-CONTROLLED MORPHOLOGY

It is interesting to notice the well-defined truncated pyramid shape for CFO/MgO and BTO/SRO/STO systems. In this section, we discuss the possible reasons that account for this pyramid shape development, and propose that patterning-controlled morphology can be obtained for VP-soft-eBL obtained 0D and 1D nanostructures.

#### 3.5.1 Faceted shape development for different material/substrate systems

During the single crystal conversion experiments, the out-of-plane orientations of the patterns are dictated by the underlying single crystal substrate if the lattice mismatch is moderate. Therefore most single crystal patterns exhibit {001} top facets, given the (001) single crystal used in this study (the (110) GSO and DSO substrates can be considered as (001) orientation for a distorted perovskite). However, the side facets and the bottom edge orientations for different material/substrate systems may vary. This variation is summarized in table 3.3 from observations made on 200 nm-diameter disc patterns annealed under the same condition, i.e., 1000 °C for 4 hr. The side facets are determined by measuring the angle between the side and bottom in AFM.

System	CFO/STO	CFO/MgO	BTO/GSO	BTO/SRO/STO	BTO/STO
Lattice mismatch	-6.9%	0.39%	-0.68%	-1.9%	-2.3%
Side facets	Some with {111} and {100}; others not defined	All {l11}	{111} dominates	{111} dominates	Not defined <sup>1)</sup>
Bottom edge	Some <110>	<110>	<110>	<110>	<100>
Typical image <sup>2)</sup>		\$	\$		0

Table 3.3 Morphology development for different material/substrate systems

<sup>1)</sup> BTO/STO: the angle between the side facets and the bottom substrate varies between  $40^{\circ}$ ~ $65^{\circ}$ .

<sup>2)</sup> All image frames are aligned with <100> directions of the substrates for comparison

The bottom edges of the crystallized patterns are essentially the intercepts of side facets and the bottom surface. We notice from table 3.3 that systems with low lattice mismatch (i.e., CFO/MgO, BTO/GSO and BTO/SRO/STO) seem to present consistent {111} side surfaces and therefore <110> edges, probably due to the low free surface energy of {111}. However systems with larger lattice mismatches (CFO/STO and BTO/STO) show less defined side facets development. One can understand this difference by considering that the total amount of energy supply (by the heat treatment) for the sol-derived system is consumed in both directions: i.e., to achieve structural transformation (nucleation, grain growth and densification) and to achieve the free surface arrangement that is thermodynamically favored. Larger lattice mismatch implies

larger amount of energy has to be consumed in the structural change to accommodate this structural distinction. Therefore the shape development may deviate from the thermodynamically favored form given, the limited annealing time and temperature. The chemical stability of different lattice planes can also contribute to the complexity of the final faceted shape development.<sup>176</sup> The influence of the lattice mismatch on the development of side facets is also reflected in the difference between CFO/STO and CFO/MgO systems. Small {100} facets at the four corners of CFO patterns are observed on STO substrate, probably functioning as to minimize the high interface energy between CFO/STO by decreasing the interfacial area. Similar phenomenon has been reported by Zheng *et. al.*<sup>177</sup> on CFO nanopillars self-assembled in BTO matrix during pulsed laser deposition and is explained as incomplete wetting of CFO on the STO substrate.

The morphology variations for different systems suggest that, by changing the material/substrate combination and therefore the misfit strain energy and interfacial energy between them, it is possible to tune the equilibrium shape of the nanopatterns accordingly. This can be readily investigated using VP-soft-eBL, given its high versatility in patterning on a very broad range of substrates.

#### **3.5.2** Patterning controlled morphology of 0D and 1D nanostructures

As discussed above, the patterned system tends to minimize free surface energy by developing specific facets with low free surface energy. This has two interesting implications. First, providing enough BTO material at each patterned site, one may expect the ultimate shape of BTO pattern on SRO to be a pyramid with four {111} side planes intersecting at the top corner,

in order to minimize the total surface energy. Given that *a* and *c* lattice constants for BTO are very close, patterns developed into pyramid geometry take an aspect ratio of height/width= $c/(\sqrt{2} a) \sim 1/\sqrt{2}$ . That is, a pyramid with 200 nm bottom width should have a height of about 143 nm. This can be achieved by increasing the thickness of the eBL resist, which allows more sol precursor to be filled in each patterned trench. Second, the morphology control strategy to obtain 0D nanostructures with well-defined facets can be expanded to fabrication of 1D nanostructures for material systems with high surface energy anisotropy.

We now demonstrate the shape alterations based on the above argument. Shown in figures 3.13(a) and 3.13(b) are the development of a full pyramid versus a truncated pyramid shaped BTO nanostructures on SRO (both with 200 nm bottom width), obtained by patterning with 600 nm-thick and 300 nm-thick resist films, respectively. The AFM analysis (not shown) reveals a 50 nm height for the frustum and a 136 nm height for the pyramid, corresponding well to the estimated 143 nm. In order to verify the morphology development for 1D nanostructures, CFO lines are patterned on MgO substrate. CFO is an ideal example for this purpose, because spinel oxides normally show a strongly anisotropic surface energy due to the complexity in the arrangement of atoms.<sup>178</sup> In these materials the surface energy of  $\{111\}$  planes is typically smaller than that for the  $\{001\}$  planes by a factor of five, and smaller by a factor of ten than that for the {110} planes.<sup>58, 179</sup> Figures 3.13(c) through 3.13(f) are VP-SEM images of 4 µm-long CFO lines on (100) MgO substrate. When patterned along <100><sub>MgO</sub>, the line develops into a saw-tooth-edged morphology, which can be considered as a group of aligned frustums. However, when patterned along <110>MgO, the CFO line shows very flat and smooth edges. The single crystallinity of the <110> lines can be confirmed with AFM phase image (not shown) where no

grain boundary contrast is observed. It has been reported in both micromagnetic simulations and experimental results that edge roughness of elongated magnetic nanostructures may contribute to increased coercivity due to the edge morphology induced spin-state distortions.<sup>143, 180</sup> Thus, the control strategy of edge roughness and edge morphology for magnetic oxide introduced in this work may provide an interesting test-bed to study such phenomena. Another attribute of this approach is the simplicity of shape control, i.e., the dramatic morphology control of 0D or 1D functional oxide nanostructures is achieved by simply tuning the patterning parameters. This unique capability of soft-eBL to obtain "patterning-controlled morphology" implies a new degree of freedom for the design and fabrication of oxide nanostructures for functional devices.



Figure 3.13: (a, b) BTO frustum and pyramid, obtained by patterning with different eBL resist thickness. (c) VP-SEM image of CFO line patterned along  $<100>_{MgO}$ . (d) shows detail of the zig-zag edge. (e) VP-SEM image of CFO line patterned along  $<110>_{MgO}$ . (f) Image of one end of the line showing the faceting detail.

#### **3.6 SUMMARY**

In summary, this chapter shows successful fabrication and site-specific characterization of 0D nanodisc patterns of CFO and BTO on diverse substrates with well-defined size and separation using the VP-soft-eBL approach. We demonstrate that below a certain pattern aspect ratio, the as-deposited amorphous nanodiscs can be readily converted into dense, single-crystal form that exhibit cube-on-cube heteroepitaxy with respect to the underlying single crystal substrate.

For systems with low or moderate lattice mismatch, single-crystal discs develop into truncated-pyramid morphology with defined side facets and edge direction. The mechanism of morphology development with the pattern size change is discussed. Patterning controlled morphology is demonstrated on 0D and 1D nanostructures by simply tuning the patterning parameters such as resist thickness and patterning directions with respect to underlying substrate orientation.

The structural, chemical nature and functional identity of the VP-soft-eBL fabricated nanostructures are probed with a complementary set of characterization tools. The flexibility of the approach described here allows patterning diverse oxides into nano-devices in order to explore their behavior at different length scales. In addition, given its material- and substrate-generality, the proposed strategy to control the microstructure and morphology of nanostructures via patterning is expected to be applicable to a wide variety of materials systems. It opens up the possibility of fabricating all-oxide heterostructures with novel functionalities, and may pave the way for innovative applications which require nanopatterned architectures.

# **CHAPTER 4**

# DETERMINATION OF PROXIMITY FUNCTION IN VP-SOFT-EBL FOR FABRICATION OF 2D HIGH DENSITY FERROELECTRIC GRID



The aim of this chapter is to resolve the pressing challenges in patterning high density 2D nanostructures due to the enhanced proximity effect in VP-eBL. An analytical method is proposed to predict the distribution of the electron energy deposited by the beam skirt in the resist. This method allows estimation of multiple proximity parameters simultaneously based on VP-eBL exposure experiments with simple geometry design. Incorporation of these proximity effects in pattern design and dose compensation enables fabrication of high density 2D ferroelectric grid structures with precise dimension control.

The work demonstrated in this chapter will be presented on 2008 Microscopy and Microanalysis Meeting.

## 4.1 VP-SOFT-EBL FOR 2D GRID PATTERNS

As discussed in chapter 1, geometric parameters (including shape, size and aspect ratio) of substrate-integrated patterns have vital influence on the constraint condition in the system, and consequently, its performance related to the stress or strain. Developing the multi-dimensional patterning capability of VP-soft-eBL will greatly enhance the versatility of this nanofabrication approach and help establish the preparation-structure-property relationship for a patterned system. Three typical nanopatterned geometries in different dimensionalities are illustrated in figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Schematic diagram of 0D, 1D and 2D nanopatterns

It is worth pointing out that the artificial-lattice-like 2D geometry shown in figure 4.1 is of particular interest to probe the accommodation of magnetic or electric moments in a geometrically frustrated system. "Geometrical frustration" refers to the phenomenon in accommodation of spins or dipoles on a geometric framework. When the intrinsic interaction between neighboring spins or dipoles is incompatible with the lattice symmetry, equal energy states exist in term of moments arrangement on the lattice topology. Geometrical frustration contributes to interesting intrinsic properties of many complex oxides, such as sensitivity of

electric properties to magnetic field. These oxides include perovskites RMnO<sub>3</sub>,<sup>181</sup> RMn<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> (R: rare earths),<sup>182</sup> Ni<sub>3</sub>V<sub>2</sub>O<sub>8</sub>,<sup>183</sup> delafossite CuFeO<sub>2</sub>,<sup>184</sup> Spinel CoCr<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>,<sup>185</sup> MnWO<sub>4</sub>,<sup>186</sup> and hexagonal ferrite (Ba, Sr)<sub>2</sub>Zn<sub>2</sub>Fe<sub>12</sub>O<sub>22</sub>.<sup>187</sup> A practical way to directly probe such dipole-dipole or spin-spin interaction is to create an artificial lattice and find out how the spontaneous magnetization or polarization locally accommodates the geometric topology. Towards this end, previous workers have demonstrated recently that arranging magnetic permalloy nano-islands into an artificial lattice leads to certain spin arrangement distribution.<sup>188, 189</sup> As an obvious extension to this effort, patterning of ferroelectric oxides into similar 2D grid structure may serve as a perfect analogy to study the dipole arrangement on such geometry.

To precisely mimic the dipole interaction on crystal lattice, an ideal ferroelectric 2D artificial lattice structure should satisfy the following: 1) uniform line width and thickness throughout the patterned area to eliminate any dimension-induced perturbation; 2) line width comparable to ferroelectric typical single domain size; 3) small periodicity to ensure the effective interaction between neighboring domains and to facilitate statistical observation on the order parameter arrangement; 4) controlled microstructure of the pattern. Particularly, in-plane polarization along the grid longitunidal direction is preferred. That is, the nanofabrication technique has to provide the capabilities of both high spatial resolution patterning and microstructural engineering. The 2D grid pattern therefore is an ideal application for VP-softeBL approach.

When attempting to apply VP-soft-eBL on the 2D high density grid, one may expect a major challenge from the proximity effect. It is known that dense pattern fabrication in eBL normally suffers from the electron proximity effect, as the incident electron beam is scattered by

the resist and the substrate. The scattering of electrons contributes to undesired exposure of a resist in regions adjacent to those actually addressed by the e-beam, causing lower dose contrast and wider feature size than designed.<sup>190, 191</sup> Under VP-eBL conditions, the proximity effect is further complicated by the beam skirting phenomenon.<sup>125</sup> In order to pattern the high density 2D grid with precise control over dimension and shape, the exposure profile has to be modified through a quantitative understanding of the proximity effect in VP-eBL. In particular, the contribution of the beam skirt effect has to be characterized.

On the other hand, although VP-SEM has been widely used for imaging insulating samples since 1990s, the application of VP-SEM in eBL patterning has been a very recent endeavor. Investigation of the beam skirt influence on VP-eBL patterning has been particularly scarce. From this point of view, it is imperative to develop analytical method to characterize the VP-eBL process. The two-fold importance of obtaining quantitative understanding of the proximity effect in VP-eBL is the main motivation for the work reported in this chapter.

In the following sections, we present a facile approach for obtaining statistically averaged proximity parameters with good precision. Using Expectation-Maximization algorithm, quantitative understanding on the extent of proximity effect in high vacuum is obtained by fitting analytical equations related to the so-called "proximity function" to experimental results. The proximity function is then modified to include the contribution of beam skirt effect. The fitting results are then used to provide guidance for patterning the 2D high density structures successfully.

# 4.2 OBSERVATION OF PROXIMITY EFFECT IN PATTERNING HIGH DENSITY 2D GRIDS

A  $100 \times 100 \ \mu\text{m}^2$  area of 2D grid with 100 nm line width and a periodicity of 700 nm has been proposed as the geometric design of the artificial lattice structures. The first attempt is made by patterning BaTiO<sub>3</sub> (BTO) into this geometry on single crystal (001) SrTiO<sub>3</sub> (STO) substrate. The eBL and development conditions are listed in table 4.1.

Substrate(001) STO, coated with 300 nm-thick 950 PMMA resistPrimary beam energy30 keVWater vapor pressure1.5 TorrWorking distance7 mm (also the beam-gas path length)Area dose400 μC/cm²DevelopmentMIBK:IPA = 1:3 for 60 sec

Table 4.1 Experimental conditions used for patterning the 2D grid shown in figure 4.2

This set of conditions has been used to fabricate isolated 0D and 1D nanopatterns on STO with precise size control, i.e., the pre-annealing in-plane dimension of the pattern is very close to the designed value. However, the high density 2D geometry patterned under the same conditions exhibits much larger line width (about 220 nm) than the designed value, as shown in figure 4.2. The expansion is more significant at the node area, causing the dimensional non-uniformity. It should be pointed out that the e-beam only exposes once at each spot inside the designed area. Therefore the expansion at the node is due to the higher aerial density there.



Figure 4.2: (a) A portion of the geometric design of the 100 × 100 μm<sup>2</sup> 2D grid. (b) VP-SEM image of BaTiO<sub>3</sub> grid pattern on SrTiO<sub>3</sub> substrate based on the design in (a). The pattern exhibit ~220 nm line width and overexposed node areas before annealing.

The wider line width and more severe expansion at the nodes are direct evidences of the "proximity effect" in eBL. In conventional (high vacuum) eBL processes, this effect is mainly induced by the electron forward scattering in the resist film and back-scattering by the substrate. It manifests up to a distance of several microns. In VP-eBL, however, the primary beam is also scattered by the gas molecules above the resist surface (i.e., the beam skirt effect). It can be expected that the proximity effect becomes more severe and the resultant feature widening may span much larger area in VP-eBL. Figure 4.3 illustrates the proximity effect under VP-eBL condition due to multiple contributions from the different scattering mechanisms. Obviously, the addition of the beam skirt significantly modifies the electron energy deposition profile at and near the spot of illumination. Achieving quantitative knowledge about the profile in VP-eBL is of primary concern in order to pattern the high density 2D structure with precision.



Figure 4.3: Proximity effect due to the primary beam scattering with resist film, substrate and the gas molecules in VP-eBL process.

## 4.3 PROXIMITY FUNCTION AND PROXIMITY PARAMETERS DETERMINATION

This section focuses on obtaining a quantitative understanding of the proximity effect in VP-eBL. Particularly, concepts of the proximity function in high vacuum eBL (hereafter HV-eBL for short) are briefly introduced in section 4.3.1. Modification of the proximity function in VP-eBL under low vacuum (hereafter LV-eBL for short) is then presented. Section 4.3.2 contains the fitting methodology, problem definition and the fitting results for HV-eBL. The fitting results for LV-eBL and the precise fabrication of 2D grid using the estimated dose are presented in section 4.3.3. Section 4.3.4 provides comments on the Expectation-Maximization algorithm and the implications of this analytical approach in understanding the VP-eBL mechanism.

# 4.3.1 Proximity function and proximity parameters

4.3.1.1 Proximity function in HV-eBL

In HV-eBL, a model function termed "proximity function" describing the electron scattering process is normally used. The general form of the proximity function is suggested by calculation of the energy deposition of electrons in the resist-substrate system. Theoretical calculations have shown that the proximity function can be approximated with fairly good accuracy by the combination of two components, i.e., the effect of forward scattering of the incident focused electron beam and the backscattering of electrons where the substrate serves as a source.<sup>192</sup> The proximity function f(r) can be written as the sum of two Gaussians in form of

$$f(r) = \frac{1}{(1+\eta)\pi} \left[ \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\alpha^2}) + \frac{\eta}{\beta^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\beta^2}) \right]$$
(4.1)

where  $r = \sqrt{x^2 + y^2}$  is the lateral distance from point (x, y) to the incidence point of the e-beam in a Cartesian coordinate with the incident point as origin;  $\alpha$  represents the characteristic width of forward scattering effect and  $\beta$  that of backward scattering effect;  $\eta$  is the ratio of total energy deposited by the backscattered electrons to that deposited by the forward scattered contribution. Variables  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\eta$  are generally referred to as "proximity parameters" since they determine the energy (or electron dose) deposition distribution in the resist and subsequently the extent of the proximity effect for a given resist/substrate system under specific patterning conditions.

The absorbed effective dose Q at the position (x, y) is related to the designed exposure dose E through the convolution of E and f(r) over the exposed area S:

$$Q(x,y) = \iint_{S} E(x',y') f(x-x',y-y') dx' dy'$$
(4.2)

with

$$f(x, y) = f(\sqrt{x^2 + y^2}) = f(r)$$
(4.3)

where x' and y' denotes the source point in S. Note the normalization condition

$$\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} f(x, y) dx dy = 1$$
(4.4)

is assumed in equation 4.1.

# 4.3.1.2 Modification of the proximity function in LV-eBL

Considering the skirted electrons around the focused probe, the proximity function with skirting effect is proposed to have the following form:

$$s(r) = (1 - \lambda)f(r) + \lambda g(r) \tag{4.5}$$

where  $\lambda$  is the proportion of electrons that are 'skirted' or dispersed out of the focused portion, and g(r) corresponds to the impact of the beam skirting effect and has the following form:

$$g(r) = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{\gamma^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\gamma^2}) \otimes f(r)$$
(4.6)

where  $\frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{\gamma^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\gamma^2})$  is the Gaussian envelope of beam skirting, and  $\gamma$  is the characteristic

width of the beam skirt. The impact of the beam skirting, g(r), is the convolution of Gaussian

envelope of beam skirting  $\frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{\gamma^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\gamma^2})$  and the energy deposition function f(r), since the electrons that are scattered by the gas molecules will also go through forward and backward scattering once hitting the resist and the substrate. The form of s(r) is based on the following considerations: 1) due to the elastic nature of primary electrons scattering by gas molecules,<sup>193,</sup><sup>194</sup> the kinetic energy loss of skirted electrons can be neglected; 2) the proximity parameters  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\eta$  are mainly influenced by the primary energy and the resist/substrate system; 3)  $Q_c$  describes the sensitivity of resist to certain development condition. Therefore the value of these four parameters that are applicable to HV-eBL can remain unchanged for LV-eBL, if other processing conditions remain the same.

Typically, the Gaussian envelope of beam skirting is much wider than that of the scattering event with resist and the substrate, i.e.,  $\alpha \ll \gamma$ ,  $\beta \ll \gamma$ . Under this circumstance, the convolution of Gaussian envelope of beam skirting and the energy deposition function can be well approximated by the Gaussian envelope of beam skirting itself, that is:

$$g(r) = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{\gamma^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\gamma^2}) \otimes f(r) \approx \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{\gamma^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\gamma^2}), \text{ when } \alpha \ll \gamma, \beta \ll \gamma$$
(4.7)

Putting equation 4.7 into 4.5, the proximity function with skirting effect can be expressed as:

$$s(r) \approx \frac{1-\lambda}{(1+\eta)\pi} \left[ \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\alpha^2}) + \frac{\eta}{\beta^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\beta^2}) \right] + \frac{\lambda}{\pi} \frac{1}{\gamma^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\gamma^2})$$
(4.8)

At this point, the task to determine the proper dose required for patternig high density 2d geometry boils down to two steps: first to estimate the proximity parameters  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\eta$ ,  $\gamma$  and  $\lambda$  in

addition to the critical dose  $Q_c$  and determine the electron deposition profile s(r) in LV-eBL; then to calculate the nominal dose desired for the specific geometry using the defined s(r).

Theoretical calculations have helped to achieve tremendous understanding of the proximity effect in HV-eBL.<sup>195-197</sup> Simulations based on Monte-Carlo method or Boltzmann transport equation were able to generalize proximity parameters so they could be applicable to a large set of resist and substrate materials. However, proximity parameters  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\eta$  are functions not only of the primary beam energy, composition of the resist and substrate materials, but also of development processes which are unique in most applications. Also, the effect of electron beam spot size must be measured for the purpose of simulation. Discrepancy between the simulation result of proximity parameters and experimentally achieved values has been reported, due to empirical processes such as the inclusion of intermediate scattering and the developer effects.<sup>198</sup> This underscores the importance of empirical determination of proximity parameters for proximity effect correction and validation of the modeling results.

#### 4.3.2 Determination of the proximity parameters in HV-eBL

#### 4.3.2.1 Methodology

In principle, one can obtain the proximity parameters empirically following the scheme illustrated in figure 4.4 (using HV-eBL as an example). The key steps involve: (1) Prepare a series of patterns with different dimensions. Square shaped patterns are usually chosen to facilitate dimension measurement. (2) Expose these patterns with different doses. (3) Measure the dimension of the patterns after development. (4) Formulate a system of analytical equations corresponding to equation 4.2 for each pattern developed from the above procedure. To do this,

another variable is introduced as critical dose  $Q_{c}$ . The critical dose is the minimum dose required to develop a pattern and therefore corresponds to the absorbed dose at the edge of the observed pattern. With the knowledge of the designed exposure profile E(x, y) and the edge positions x, yin the developed pattern, a series of equations corresponding to the convolution (equation 4.2) are formulated. Solving these equations provides the fitted value of proximity parameters  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\eta$  and the critical dose  $Q_{c}$ .



Figure 4.4: Procedure of determining proximity parameters from exposure experiments. P(x,y) denotes the mathematic form of the pattern geometry.

The practical complication in this approach is: the analytical equations are highly nonlinear and involve information of all proximity parameters and  $Q_c$  simultaneously. Normally, nonlinear least-square fitting is used to estimate all proximity parameters from the equations at the same time.<sup>199, 200</sup> This process may lead to inaccuracy of the estimation with multiple unknowns.<sup>192</sup> To avoid these problems, effort has been spent on developing special pattern geometry. Examples include the "four-dot" technique<sup>201</sup> or line-density exposure wedge.<sup>199</sup> The idea is to derive approximate analytical expressions of proximity parameters by tuning the dimension and the exposure dose, so that each proximity parameter can be determined separately. However, obtaining approximation expressions of individual proximity parameter can be a lot more challenging when the number of unobserved data increases. Therefore this approach is not suitable for estimation of proximity effect in LV-eBL, where additional parameters describing beam skirt effect have to be added.

To solve these equations in an efficient manner, we apply an Expectation-Maximization (EM) algorithm for proximity parameters estimation. Particularly, experimental data are collected from exposures in both HV-eBL and LV-eBL at varied doses on two pattern designs, namely periodic line arrays and grid pattern. Using the data in HV-eBL, values of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\eta$  and  $Q_c$  are first determined using alternating EM algorithms. These parameters are then applied in another EM algorithm to determine  $\gamma$  and  $\lambda$  and the modified proximity function for LV-eBL. Finally the desired nominal dose for specific geometry is estimated based on the fitting results of f(r) and s(r).

# 4.3.2.2 Pattern geometry and problem definition

The two sets of pattern geometries are designed as: (1) A series of parallel lines that are 100 nm wide, 6  $\mu$ m long, and 5  $\mu$ m separated from each other. This pattern is denoted as  $P_{\_L}$ . (2) A

grid with perpendicular lines. Lines width is still 100 nm; periodicity of the grid is 700 nm. The grid spans across 100  $\mu$ m × 100  $\mu$ m area. This pattern is denoted as  $P_{_G}$ . Figure 4.5 shows schematic drawings of the two patterns and the selection of the Cartesian coordinate.



Figure 4.5: Schematic diagram of the two pattern designs. Up: Pattern  $P_{L}$ ; Bottom: Pattern  $P_{G}$ .

The mathematical forms of the two patterns are as follows:

$$P_{L} = \sum_{i=-K}^{K} U(x - i \cdot d, y)$$
, where K is the number of lines to the left and right of origin, d is

the line spacing, and U(x, y) is the functional form for one line, i.e.,

$$U(x, y) = \begin{cases} 1, & -\frac{W}{2} \le x \le \frac{W}{2}, -\frac{L}{2} \le y \le \frac{L}{2}, \text{ where } W \text{ is line width and } L \text{ is line length} \\ otherwise \end{cases}$$

$$P_{G} = \sum_{i=-K}^{K} U_{x}(x-i \cdot d, y) + \sum_{j=-N}^{N} U_{y}(x, y-j \cdot d), \text{ where } K \text{ is the number of lines to the left and}$$

right of origin in x direction and N for y direction, d is the line spacing.  $U_x(x, y)$  is the functional form for one line in y direction and  $U_y(x, y)$  is the functional form for one line in x direction:

$$U_{x}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1, & -\frac{W}{2} \le x \le \frac{W}{2}, -\frac{L}{2} \le y \le \frac{L}{2}, \\ 0, & otherwise \end{cases}$$

$$U_{y}(x, y) = \begin{cases} 1, & -\frac{L}{2} \le x \le \frac{L}{2}, -\frac{W}{2} \le y \le \frac{W}{2} \\ 0, & otherwise \end{cases}$$

Both patterns are exposed in HV-eBL and LV-eBL respectively on Si substrate (coated with 300 nm thick PMMA resist). For each set of pattern, a series of exposure experiments with doses increasing from 300 to 600  $\mu$ C/cm<sup>2</sup> with step size of 37.5  $\mu$ C/cm<sup>2</sup> are carried out. The other instrumental parameters remain the same as described in table 4.1. Patterns are transferred to the substrate via lift-off processing (through deposition of a 20 nm-thick Au/Pd thin film). The line widths in both  $P_{\_L}$  and  $P_{\_G}$  patterns exposed under different designed doses are imaged and measured in SEM. The line width in the grid pattern is measured from the center position between two neighboring nodes so that the influence from the node geometry is minimized.

The mathematical description of this estimation process is as follows. For each pattern with a form P(x, y) that is exposed under a series of area doses  $\{Q_s, s = 1 \sim S\}$ , the designed exposure profile is  $E(x, y) = Q_s \cdot P(x, y)$ . The developed lines expand beyond the targeted width of W (in both cases 100 nm) due to the proximity effect. Different beam dose leads to different degree of line expansion. The line expansions under different doses are denoted as  $\{e_s, s = 1 \sim S\}$ . Each  $e_s$  (in nm) represents the expansion on one side of a line under dose  $Q_s$ , hence the developed line width is  $(W+2e_s)$  nm. The problem is to estimate the proximity parameters and  $Q_c$  to form the proximity function from the designed experiments above.

# 4.3.2.3 Determination of $\alpha$ , $\beta$ , $\eta$ and $Q_c$ with Expectation-Maximization algorithm

In this section, fitting approach for HV-eBL to obtain  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\eta$  and  $Q_c$  with alternating EM algorithm is demonstrated.

## (1) Computation of the effective dose

For each point (x, y) in the defined coordinate system, effective dose Q(x, y) is determined by the convolution of the pattern function P and the proximity function f(r). For example, the convolution corresponding to the line pattern is shown below in equation 4.9 (detailed deduction of the final form of Q(x, y) is included in appendix 4.1).

$$Q(x,y) = Q_{s} \iint_{u v} P_{\_LHV}(x-u,y-v)f(u,v)dudv$$

$$= Q_{s} \sum_{i=-K}^{K} \frac{1}{4(1+\eta)} \left[ \left( erf(\frac{x-id+W_{2}}{\alpha}) - erf(\frac{x-id-W_{2}}{\alpha}) \right) * \left( erf(\frac{y+L_{2}}{\alpha}) - erf(\frac{y-L_{2}}{\alpha}) \right) + \eta \left( erf(\frac{x-id+W_{2}}{\beta}) - erf(\frac{x-id-W_{2}}{\beta}) \right) * \left( erf(\frac{y+L_{2}}{\beta}) - erf(\frac{y-L_{2}}{\beta}) \right) \right]$$

$$(4.9)$$

where  $erf(z) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_0^z \exp(-t^2) dt$  is the error function.

Similarly for the grid pattern, the effective dose Q(x, y) is given by equation 4.10 (detailed deduction in appendix 4.1):

$$\begin{split} Q(x,y) &= Q_s \iint_{u \ v} P_{_{GHV}}(x-u,y-v) f(u,v) du dv \\ &= \frac{Q_s}{4(1+\eta)} \left[ \begin{cases} erf(\frac{x-id+W_2}{\alpha}) - erf(\frac{x-id-W_2}{\alpha}) \\ + \eta \left( erf(\frac{x-id+W_2}{\beta}) - erf(\frac{x-id-W_2}{\beta}) \right) \\ + \eta \left( erf(\frac{x-id+W_2}{\beta}) - erf(\frac{x-id-W_2}{\beta}) \right) \\ + \eta \left( erf(\frac{x-id+W_2}{\beta}) - erf(\frac{x-id-W_2}{\beta}) \right) \\ + \left( erf(\frac{y+L_2}{\beta}) - erf(\frac{y-L_2}{\beta}) \right) \\ + \eta \left( erf(\frac{x+L_2}{\alpha}) - erf(\frac{x-L_2}{\beta}) \right) \\ + \eta \left( erf(\frac{x+L_2}{\beta}) - erf(\frac{x-L_2}{\beta}) \right) \\ + \left( erf(\frac{y-jd+W_2}{\beta}) - erf(\frac{y-jd-W_2}{\beta}) \right) \\ \end{cases}$$

(4.10)

#### (2) Expectation-Maximization algorithm

As stated previously, for each nominal dose  $Q_s$ , the developed pattern is expanded to a certain extent  $e_s$ . For a point  $(\frac{W}{2} + e_s, \frac{d}{2})$  on the extended line boundary, the absorbed effective dose is  $Q(\frac{W}{2} + e_s, \frac{d}{2})$ . Solving the following non-linear least square problem gives the maximum-likelihood estimate of the parameters of f(r), based on the series of experiments with increasing beam doses  $\{Q_s, s = 1 \sim S\}$ :

$$(\alpha, \beta, \eta) = \underset{\alpha, \beta, \eta}{\operatorname{argmin}} \sum_{S=1}^{S} \left| Q(\frac{W}{2} + e_s, \frac{d}{2}) - Q_c \right|^2$$
(4.11)

where each Q is given by equation 4.9 or 4.10 and  $Q_c$  is the critical dose.

In principal, either the line pattern or the grid pattern can be used in equation 4.11 to estimate the parameters. In practice, since the backscattering characteristic width is normally much larger than that of the forward scattering, we may anticipate more prominent backscattering effect for the high density grid pattern. Therefore it is expected that the fitting with data obtained from line pattern will give a better estimate of  $\alpha$ , and that from the grid pattern will give a better estimate of  $\beta$  and  $\eta$ . However, all these parameters are involved simultaneously in the analytical equations. Therefore, when estimating  $\alpha$  from the line pattern,  $\beta$  and  $\eta$  should be known beforehand and vice versa. This "chicken-and-egg" problem is solvable with an elegant Expectation-Maximization (EM) algorithm.

An EM algorithm is used in statistics for finding the maximum-likelihood estimates of parameters of an underlying distribution from a give data set, where the data is incomplete or partially observed. EM alternates between performing an expectation step (E-step), which computes an expectation of the likelihood by including the latent variables as if they were observed, and a maximization step (M-step), which computes the maximum likelihood estimates of the parameters by maximizing the expected likelihood found on the E-step. The parameters found on the M-step are then used to begin another E-step. The E-step and M-step are iterated as necessary, until convergence and a predefined maximum number of iteration is reached.

Mathematic specification of the EM procedure is introduced below.

Let *X* denote incomplete data consisting of values of observable variables. Let *Y* denote the missing data. *X* and *Y* together forms complete data Z=(X, Y). Also assume *Z* takes the following joint distribution:

$$p(Z|\Theta) = p(X, Y|\Theta) = p(Y|X, \Theta)p(X|\Theta)$$
(4.12)

where  $\Theta$  is the set of parameters of the distribution. The EM algorithm first finds the expected value of the complete-data log-likelihood log  $p(X, Y | \Theta)$  with respect to the missing data *Y*, given the observed data *X* and the current parameter estimates, *i.e.*, the following auxiliary function can be defined as

$$K(\Theta, \Theta^{i-1}) = E\left[\log p(X, Y \mid \Theta) \mid X, \Theta^{i-1}\right] = \int_{y \in Y} \log p(X, y \mid \Theta) p(y \mid X, \Theta^{i-1}) dy$$
(4.13)

where  $\Theta^{i-1}$  is the parameter estimates of iteration *i*-1, and  $p(y | X, \Theta^{i-1})$  is the marginal distribution of the missing data, given the observed data and the current parameter estimates.

The above procedure is the E-step of the EM algorithm. The second step, M-step, is to maximize the above expectation  $K(\Theta, \Theta^{i-1})$ , *i.e.*, to find the optimal parameter estimates for iteration *i* as follows:

$$\Theta^{i} = \underset{\Theta}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} K(\Theta, \Theta^{i-1}) \tag{4.14}$$

#### (3) Application of EM in proximity parameter determination in HV-eBL

To employ the E-M algorithm on our problem, two EM iterations are used: one EM estimates  $\alpha$  and  $Q_c$  from the line pattern  $(P_{-L})$  with  $\beta$  and  $\eta$  as unobserved data, the other E-M estimates  $\beta$  and  $\eta$  from the grid pattern  $(P_{-G})$  with  $\alpha$  and  $Q_c$  as unobserved. Using the first E-M as an example, here the incomplete data X is the set of line width expansion  $\{e_s, s = 1 \sim S\}$  for  $P_{-LHV}$  and the missing data are  $\beta$  and  $\eta$ , whereas  $\Theta = \{\alpha, Q_c\}$ . The marginal distribution  $p(y | X, \Theta^{i-1})$  in equation 4.9 therefore is now  $p(\beta, \eta | \{e_s\}, \alpha^{i-1}, Q_c^{i-1})$ . Similarly for the second EM in which  $\alpha$  and  $Q_c$  are the missing data, the marginal distribution is in form of  $p(\alpha, Q_c | \{e_s\}, \beta^{i-1}, \eta^{i-1})$ . For each of the two EMs, these marginal distributions can be assumed as Dirac distributions in practice for simplicity. A better estimate of these marginal Gaussian distributions will surely improve the accuracy of the estimates. In the M-step, assuming  $p(X, y | \Theta)$  is a Gaussian, i.e., assuming the observed data is corrupted with independent white

noise, the M-step in equation 4.14 boils down to the non-linear least square form as in equation 4.11. The detailed derivation of EM is presented in appendix 4.2.

#### (4) Experimental data and EM fitting results

The change of average line width  $(W+2e_s)$  with increasing designed dose  $Q_s$  under HV-eBL condition is plotted in Figure 4.6. The red lines are the linear fitting of the trend. The line width expansion can be observed throughout the dose range for both  $P_{\_L}$  and  $P_{\_G}$ . The proximity effect manifests itself in the high density  $P_{\_G}$  by causing much larger expansion and the higher rate of width increase with  $Q_s$ . From the exposure experiments,  $\{e_s, s = 1 \sim S\}$  values for both patterns are determined and used in the estimation.



Figure 4.6: Line width expansion with increasing designed area dose for patterns  $P_{L}$  (open squares) and  $P_{G}$  (filled squares). Blue line indicates the designed width W = 100 nm.

With the two EMs alternating between the line pattern and grid pattern data with different incidence beam doses, the estimated parameters of the proximity function f(r) are:  $\alpha = 58.4686$  nm,  $\beta = 3.2668 \,\mu\text{m}$ ,  $\eta = 0.9611$ . The estimated value of critical dose  $Q_c = 65.7438 \,\mu\text{C/cm}^2$ .

Our fitting results have been compared with reported values obtained using empirical methods. Table 4.2 summarizes data from patterning on Si wafer coated with PMMA resist of different thickness (t) and under different primary beam energy (kV). In all cases in table 4.2, the MIBK/IPA solution is used as developer. Since proximity parameters are highly dependent on the eBL operational conditions and the development procedure, it is hard to compare the specific values obtained from one's experiment with that of others directly. However, data shown in table 4.2 can provide a range in which the fitted values of proximity parameters are reasonable if the trends of these values changing with operational conditions are known. For example,  $\alpha$  is found to increase with higher resist depth/thickness.<sup>198</sup> It has also been reported that  $\alpha$  decreases for higher primary beam energy E following  $\alpha = A \cdot E^{B}$  (A and B are functions of resist material and thickness).<sup>197</sup> Therefore, we may expect from table 4.2 that the value of  $\alpha$  in our experiments (t = 300 nm; kV = 30) ranges between 50~70 nm. On the other hand,  $\beta$  is proportional to the incident electron energy to the 1.7 power but nearly independent of the resist depth, whereas  $\eta$  is not sensitive to the beam energy.<sup>202</sup> Therefore,  $\beta$  is likely to be between 2~4  $\mu$ m, and  $\eta$  should be around 0.7~0.9. The above argument confirms that the fitting results from our two alternating EMs are reasonable.

t (nm)	100	220	250	500	
kV					
	0.7~0.8	0.79	_	0.861	η
15	_	$\alpha = 270 \text{ nm}$	_	_	$\alpha, \beta, Q_{c}$
		β=1.11um			
		$Q_{\rm c}=60~\mu{\rm C/cm}^2$			
20	β~2 μm	-	_	$\alpha$ = 198 nm	
				$\beta$ = 2.15 µm	
30	<i>β</i> ~4 μm	_	<i>α</i> ≤50 nm	$\alpha = 60 \sim 70 \text{ nm}$	

Table 4.2 Reported values of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\eta$  and  $Q_c$  from literature<sup>197, 199, 202, 203</sup>

The following figures plot the corresponding f(r). The horizontal axes of figures 4.7(a) and (b) are the lateral distance r, and the vertical axes are the deposited energy density at r, shown in  $\log_{10}$  scale. The whole two-dimensional energy deposition profile therefore can be obtained by  $360^{\circ}$ -rotation of f(r) around vertical axis. As can be seen, forward-scattering contributes mainly to short-field proximity effect, while far-field proximity effect can be mainly attributed to the backward-scattering, with  $\beta$  around 56 times larger than  $\alpha$ .



Figure 4.7: Energy deposition function  $\log_{10} f(r)$  for the specific *e*BL patterning and development conditions used in the experiments, with  $\alpha = 58.4686$  nm,  $\beta = 3.2668$  µm, and  $\eta = 0.9611$ . Figure 4.7(b) shows the magnified portion of (a) encircles by the green lines.
#### 4.3.3 Estimation of the skirting effect in LV-eBL

In this section, experimental data and estimation result for deduction of proximity function in LV-eBL are demonstrated.

## 4.3.3.1 Experimental observation of patterning in LV-eBL

The line pattern and grid pattern described in figure 4.5 are patterned under LV-eBL using 1.5 Torr water vapor pressure. Change of average line width  $(W+2e_s)$  with increasing designed dose  $Q_s$  is measured. To demonstrate the effect of the low chamber pressure, the measured data are plotted together with the result from HV-eBL in figure 4.8. Here the line and grid patterns are referred to as P\_LHV and P\_GHV in HV mode, whereas P\_LLV and P\_GLV in LV mode, respectively. Two facts are observed for the low-vacuum experiments. First, the developed patterns are narrower than those developed under the same doses in the HV conditions, for both line and grid geometries. In fact, for nominal doses lower than 337.5  $\mu$ C/cm<sup>2</sup> in case of  $P_{_{GLV}}$  and 450  $\mu$ C/cm<sup>2</sup> in case of P\_LLV, pattern dimensions are smaller than 100 nm. This should be attributed to the attenuation of the received beam current at exposed area due to the beam skirt effect. Second, the value of  $[e_s(P_{\_GLV}) - e_s(P_{\_LLV})]$  is larger than  $[e_s(P_{\_GHV}) - e_s(P_{\_LHV})]$ . This is considered to be the accumulating effect of the beam skirt. Although the applied dose is dispersed due to skirting, the skirted electrons are accumulated to a significant amount to make important contribution to the received energy in the resist for a dense pattern over a large area ( $100 \times 100 \ \mu m^2$ ). From the above argument it can be noticed that the beam skirting effect has to be included in the proximity function for LV-eBL, in order to characterize the process precisely and fabricate nanostructures with high accuracy.



Figure 4.8: Comparison of line width change with area dose  $Q_s$  between high vacuum and low vacuum (1.5 Torr) conditions.

## 4.3.3.2 Determination of $\gamma$ and $\lambda$ with EM algorithm

The proximity function with skirting effect is proposed to have the form shown in equation 4.8, where  $\lambda$  is the proportion of electrons that are 'skirted', and  $\gamma$  is the characteristic width of the skirting effect. To estimate the values of  $\gamma$  and  $\lambda$ , the estimated parameters  $\alpha = 58.4686$  nm,  $\beta = 3.2668 \ \mu m$ ,  $\eta = 0.9611$  and  $Q_c = 65.7438 \ \mu C/cm^2$  are inserted in the expression of s(r). The framework of two alternating EMs can be used again, with one EM aims at learning  $\lambda$  from the

line pattern in low-vacuum assuming  $\gamma$  is unobserved, while the other aims at learning  $\gamma$  from the grid pattern assuming  $\lambda$  is unobserved.

The fitting result gives  $\lambda = 0.6155$ ,  $\gamma = 79.937 \,\mu\text{m}$ . That is, the low-vacuum environment generates a very broad beam skirt, with a characteristic width of nearly 80  $\mu$ m. Further, a more frequently used parameter that describes the significance of the electron-gas interaction,  $r_{0.5}$ , can be deduced. The parameter  $r_{0.5}$ , also referred to as the half width radius, is defined as the radius in the plane of the electron impact that contains 50% of the skirt electrons.<sup>127, 204</sup> With the Gaussian envelop determined by the estimated value of  $\gamma$ ,  $r_{0.5}$  under our experimental conditions is calculated to be 66.5519  $\mu$ m. This value is consistent with the calculated results from Newbury's work,<sup>205</sup> where a half width radius of 63.76  $\mu$ m is deduced for conditions of 30 keV primary beam energy, 7 mm working distance, 200 Pa (~1.5 Torr) of water vapor and room temperature (300 K).

With the knowledge of all the proximity parameters, the corresponding energy density deposition function s(r) is plotted in figure 4.9. Comparing with HV-eBL condition shown in figure 4.7, it can be clearly seen that energy deposited near the spot of illumination is lower in LV-eBL due to the scattering induced local dose attenuation, but at a larger scale, the beam skirt contributes to a very large and diffusive background extending far away from the spot of incidence. This corroborates the postulation proposed at the beginning of this chapter, that is, a significant amount of injected dose is dispersed out in the air and the skirting effect leads to deterioration of the developed patterns.



Figure 4.9: Energy deposition function  $\log_{10} s(r)$  in LV-eBL for the specific patterning and development conditions used in the experiments. Figure 4.9(b) shows the magnified portion of (a) encircles by the pink lines.

## 4.3.4 Comments on the fitting approach using EM algorithm and the beam skirt effect

(1) The EM algorithm used in this project shows the following advantages in determination of the proximity parameters from experimental observations:

The approach of using two alternating EM iterations is more suitable for fitting with multiple unobserved parameters. This is a potentially significant improvement compared with non-linear least-square method. When the number of unknown parameters increases, the solution space of non-linear least-square fitting becomes much larger and non-linear least-square is more prone to being stuck in local minima instead of finding the global optimal solution, leading to inaccuracy of the estimation. In contrast, the number of unknown parameters is reduced in each of the two alternating EMs. On this smaller problem scale, the problem with non-linear optimization is mitigated. Due to this characteristic of EM, fewer exposure experiments may be required in order to resolve the problem in LV-eBL. For example, three alternating EMs can be used with each EM dedicated to a subset of parameters, i.e., one for fitting ( $\alpha$ ,  $Q_c$ ), one for ( $\beta$ ,  $\eta$ ) and one for ( $\lambda$ ,  $\gamma$ ). All three EMs can be based on a single group of LV-eBL exposure experiments.

In general cases,  $p(\beta,\eta | \{e_s\}, \alpha^{i-1}, Q_c^{i-1})$  and  $p(\alpha, Q_c | \{e_s\}, \beta^{i-1}, \eta^{i-1})$  can assume, rather than Dirac distributions, more complicated distributions such as Gaussian or Wishart distribution which may give better approximation to the underlying true distributions; and  $p(\{e_s\}, \beta^{i-1}, \eta^{i-1} | \alpha, Q_c)$  and  $p(\{e_s\}, \alpha^{i-1}, Q_c^{i-1} | \beta, \eta)$  may take some form of distributions that better reflect the physical nature of data measurements. It is reasonable to expect that, with these better distribution forms, the proposed EM algorithms can achieve better estimation of parameters of proximity effect.

Finally, although the above fitting results are obtained from specific exposure experiments, the EM approach can be easily adapted to different processing conditions. Actually the resist thickness, beam energy, working distance, gas pressure and development process in our experiments are fixed for reasons described previously. This further facilitates the fitting process since only limited number of parameters (e.g.,  $\beta$  and  $\eta$ ) may need to be modified from the results on Si wafer, due to selection of the substrate. Such an example is demonstrated in section 4.4, where proximity parameters can be fitted for patterning on STO substrate.

(2) The method presented here provides a means to estimate desired dose for certain pattern geometry. For example, in order to obtain 2D grid in PMMA resist with precisely 100 nm line width on Si wafer, the fitting results give that an area dose of 145.9920  $\mu$ C/cm<sup>2</sup> should be used in HV-eBL and 343.0071  $\mu$ C/cm<sup>2</sup> should be used in LV-eBL under the given instrumental conditions.

A more significant implication is that we can utilize this analytical method to explore the VP-eBL patterning capability and test its limits on fabricating high density patterns. One such limit is the loss of exposure contrast in resist due to proximity effect. The broad beam skirt adds a diffuse background to the designed exposure profile and may wash out the contrast between exposed and unexposed areas for a densely packed geometry, causing poor pattern definition during development. A simple way to validate this effect on the 2D grid geometry is to calculate the critical designed line width (i.e., the value of W) with which the received dose at the center of

grid reaches  $Q_c$ . For a given periodicity (700 nm) and fixed LV-eBL experimental conditions, any line width larger than this critical value will cause the whole patterned area (100 × 100  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) to be developed. Assuming  $Q_s = 343.0071 \ \mu$ C/cm<sup>2</sup> is used for patterning on Si substrate, the critical width is determined to be 241.1737 nm. It can be inferred from this result that, when attempting to prepare high density pattern in LV-eBL, one needs to be very careful choosing the proper combination of instrumental parameters and the designed pattern geometry. The analytical approach demonstrated here may save laborious and very time-consuming experimental efforts on patterning with various doses on multiple samples, before the proper geometry or patterning condition is determined.

(3) As observed from s(r) plots, the scattering of electrons by the chamber gas molecules causes certain fraction of beam current transferred from the focused beam to the skirt. However due to the large range of the skirt, the electron current density (A/cm<sup>2</sup>) at any point in the skirt is much lower than that of the focused beam. The above nature of the beam skirt has different degree of influences on all three attributes of VP-SEM, i.e., imaging, x-ray spectrometry and eBL patterning. The major influences for each application, along with operational strategies to correct or minimize these influences, are summarized in table 4.3.

	Imaging	eBL	X-ray spectrometry
Influence of Beam skirt	<ol> <li>Adds a non-specific, steady state level to the measured signal</li> <li>Increases the statistical noise and lower the signal/noise ratio</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Causes lower localized dose received by the resist than the designed value</li> <li>Adds a steady background across a large area</li> <li>Deteriorates the proximity effect for high density, large area patterns</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Remotely scattered electrons produces x-ray signals indistinguishable from that by the focused beam</li> <li>Analytical performance of x-ray spectrometry is severely limited, particularly for minor or trace constituents' analysis; quantitative analysis at µm- scale; mapping, etc.</li> </ol>
Operational Strategies	Increase the pixel dwell time	Methods for correcting proximity effect in HV mode (e.g., dose modulation and pattern biasing) can be applied, under the circumstances that the extent of the beam skirt contribution is known for the given geometry and patterning conditions	Select proper instrumental parameters to minimize gas scattering Pressure variation method <sup>206</sup> Intercepting the unscattered beam <sup>207</sup> Bremsstrahlung normalization method <sup>208</sup>
Comments	The interaction of the beam skirt can be largely ignored <sup>205</sup>	Investigation on the beam skirt influence over eBL has been scarce	Inevitable challenges in x- ray microanalysis performance Some degree of control over the beam skirt induced artifacts can be exerted, but depending on the exact situation

Table 4.3 Influences of beam skirt effect on VP-SEM performance

The importance of studying the beam skirt effect in VP-SEM can be noticed from table 4.3, particularly for x-ray microanalysis and LV-eBL patterning of high density, large area patterns. Quantitative investigation of beam skirt parameters is of great importance in order to apply the proximity correction methods properly in LV-eBL. In the correction methods developed for regular high vacuum eBL such as dose modulation, pattern biasing or GHOST, the electron energy deposition profile needs to be determined before dose or pattern geometry can be adjusted. However, this research area for LV-eBL is surprisingly underdeveloped. The value of direct-patterning on insulators in VP-SEM can be so great in existing and emerging technologies that it is worth the efforts to achieve better understanding of the VP-SEM mechanism, and to implement patterning protocols to get the best possible results within the limitations imposed by gas scattering. We believe the attempt presented in this chapter to estimate the beam skirt parameters from empirical data can not only be used as a guide for patterning the 2D grid, but also disclose site-specific information of electron-gas and electron-sample interactions in VP-SEM operation.

## 4.4 FABRICATION OF 2D HIGH DENSITY GRID WITH DOSE CONTROL AND MODIFIED GEOMETRY

The fitting results obtained for HV-eBL and LV-eBL can be employed to determine the proper dose profile for 2D high density grid under the same patterning conditions. Here the question has become determination of the  $Q_s$  value for a given  $e_s$  with the known energy deposition function.

A more complicated circumstance is encountered when we consider patterning 2D ferroelectric grid from sol-gel precursor on single crystal STO substrate. First, the patterns obtained from 0.1 M BTO sol regularly go through a volume shrinkage of 60~75%, depending on the annealing condition. If we roughly assume the same linear shrinkage along in-plane as well as out-of-plane directions, the trench width in PMMA after development should be between 135.72 nm and 158.74 nm in order to achieve a final BTO line width of ~100 nm. These values correspond to  $e_s \in (17.86 \text{ nm}, 29.37 \text{ nm})$ . Second, the electron backscattered coefficient of STO is 0.2795, much higher than that of Si (0.1644). This means the contributions of  $\beta$  and  $\eta$  to the proximity function are different for STO. Further, the Gaussian form for description of the backscattered electron contribution may need to be altered. The cosine angular distribution of the backscattered electrons<sup>209</sup> suggests that the maximum number of backscattered electrons is emitted along the surface normal in case of a normal beam incidence. For Si wafer and other substrates with low backscattered coefficient, a Gaussian form with a relatively small standard deviation  $\beta$  is sufficient to simulate this distribution. However for substrates with high backscattered coefficient such as STO, the Gaussian form with a large  $\beta$  may not precisely portrait the high yield near the spot of illumination. To resolve this, another term can be added to the form of the energy deposition function.<sup>210, 211</sup> We modify the energy deposition function as the following:

$$s(r) = \frac{1 - \lambda}{(1 + \eta + \mu)\pi} \left[\frac{1}{\alpha^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\alpha^2}) + \frac{\eta}{\beta^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\beta^2}) + \frac{\mu}{\tau^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\tau^2})\right] + \frac{\lambda}{\pi} \frac{1}{r^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\gamma^2})$$
(4.15)

The extra term  $\frac{\mu}{\tau^2} \exp(-\frac{r^2}{\tau^2})$  is to better describe the electron energy density deposition for a heavier substrate.

Assume that  $\alpha$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\lambda$  and  $Q_c$  remain the same for STO (considering same resist thickness and instrumental conditions), we employ the line width expansion obtained on grid patterns in LV-eBL (shown in table 4.4) to fit the values of  $\beta$ ,  $\eta$ ,  $\tau$ , and  $\mu$ . The E-M fitting estimates  $\beta = 7.9998$   $\mu$ m,  $\eta = 0.7940$ ,  $\tau = 204.9849$  nm,  $\mu = 1.1040$ . The required dose to achieve ~100 nm line width after annealing, i.e.,  $e_s \in (17.86 \text{ nm}, 29.37 \text{ nm})$ , therefore is determined for the modified s(r) to be  $Q_s \in (281.5204 \ \mu\text{C/cm}^2, 315.6106 \ \mu\text{C/cm}^2)$ . This range of  $Q_s$  can be used as a guidance to control line with of the annealed grid pattern.

 $Q_s (\mu C/cm^2)$ 300 337.5 375 412.5 450 487.5 525 562.5 600  $W + 2e_s(nm)$ 146 187 209 261 267 318 432 503 555

Table 4.4 Change of average line width for  $P_{GLV}$  with exposure dose on STO substrate

Adjusting does alone will not fully prevent the overexposure at the node areas using the original perfect grid design, since the aerial density at the node area is naturally higher. A simple yet effective method to solve this problem is to modify the design geometry as shown in figure 4.10(a). That is, patterning an array of repeating "L" shape features with 10 nm edge-to-edge gap between neighboring "L"s. Here the proximity effect at the node areas is utilized, other than avoided, to expose the gaps and obtain an interconnected grid pattern with precise dimension all over the patterned area. Figure 4.10(b) shows a successful example of BTO grid with 118 nm

line width after annealing on STO substrate, where the expansion at the nodes is eliminated effectively. This pattern is prepared using the modified geometry and an area dose of 280  $\mu$ C/cm<sup>2</sup> determined by the fitting results. The line width is still larger than the expected 100 nm, probably because the in-plane shrinkage of the pattern is less than that of out-of-plane during annealing, leading to a higher estimated exposure dose. Such a structure has also been replicated on Nb:STO and GdScO<sub>3</sub> substrates. The preliminary work on piezoelectric property characterization of this 2D structure and its potential application in studying the geometrical frustration will be demonstrated in chapter 7.



Figure 4.10: (a) Geometric design to avoid overexposure at the nodes. (b) BTO grid on STO substrate (after annealing) patterned using the modified geometry in (a) with 280  $\mu$ C/cm<sup>2</sup> area dose.

## 4.5 SUMMARY

This chapter aims at patterning high density 2D grid structures with precise control over dimension and shape, as a complimentary expansion of the VP-soft-eBL portfolio. Proximity effect in eBL is found to be a major issue that causes significant line width expansion and hinders the precise fabrication of the ideal geometry. In particular, this phenomenon exacerbates under VP-eBL mode due to the scattering of the electron beam by the chamber gas molecules. On one hand, the scattering leads to a lower energy density deposition at the incident position; on the other hand, it adds a broad background within the range of the beam skirt which may contribute to the overexposure for large area patterns.

We present a facile approach for obtaining statistically averaged proximity parameters at regular eBL mode as well as variable pressure eBL mode with good precision. This approach utilizes experimental observation on the pattern dimension development of two special design geometries. Alternating Expectation-Maximization algorithm is employed to estimate the proximity parameters from fitting with experimental results. For the first time, the proximity function is modified and expanded to describe the electron energy density deposition in low vacuum eBL. Based on the modified proximity function, area dose required for patterning 2D grid on STO substrate is determined. With modified geometric design and the predetermined dose, a high density 2D ferroelectric grid structure is fabricated with high precision on insulating STO substrate.

The advantages of the analytical approach presented here are three-fold: (1) It has been used to determine the proper exposure dose in order to achieve the designed high density grid structure; (2) It can serve as a versatile framework that easily adapts to estimating the proximity effect for systems with different pattern geometries and on diverse substrates; (3) The performance of VP-SEM in terms of eBL patterning can be evaluated using the postulated LV-eBL proximity function model. We hope this study can provide site-specific information and add to the understanding of electron-gas and electron-sample interactions in VP-SEM operation.

## **CHAPTER 5**

# FABRICATION OF THREE-DIMENSIONAL (3D) HETEROSTRUCTURE PATTERNS



This chapter pursues extending the VP-soft-eBL scope into the capability of three-dimensional stacking of heterostructures. The goal is approached from two directions, i.e., vertical stacking through double-step VP-soft-eBL with strict alignment procedures, and formation of radially stacked heterosturcture through controlled substrate hydrophobicity.

The work described in this chapter was published in Small, 2, 274 (2006) and presented on the 2005 American Ceramic Society Meeting (student poster).

The recent decade has witnessed emergence of diverse techniques for patterning wide variety of molecular and "soft" nanostructures within two-dimensional regime.<sup>212-215</sup> However, as the nanostructure paradigm shifts from monolithic single-phase materials and planar geometry to complex compounds and stacked 3D architecture, there is continuing need for advancing non-planar stacking of solid-state structures, especially for multifunctional materials, in a patterned geometry. Heterostructures composed of multifunctional oxides (e.g., multilayer structures) exhibit fascinating breadth of properties for applications such as microelectromechanics,<sup>216</sup> optoelectronics,<sup>217, 218</sup> microwave devices,<sup>219</sup> and data storage,<sup>220</sup> among many others, based on the interaction between different phases when stimulated by external fields. Recently, vertically aligned heterostructures (such as nano-pillars of one phase embedded in the matrix of another)<sup>51, 55</sup> have attracted considerable attention as these nanostructures significantly enhance such interactions. While these vertical heterostructures are fabricated using phase separation based self-assembly approach, a patterning technique that affords controlled dimension and separation of such miniature structures is highly favorable.

Current "top-down" patterning techniques are well suited for fabrication of single component planar structures. There are considerable challenges in fabricating non-planar ceramic heterostructure nanopatterns. The key bottleneck is the stringent requirement on feature realignment between multiple patterning steps<sup>215, 221-223</sup> required in order to form non-planar patterns composed of more than two materials. Such constraint is particularly critical for nanometer sized structures as it would mandate alignment precision at a relatively small scale. Methods such as polymer phase separation,<sup>224</sup> templated growth,<sup>225</sup> interference lithography<sup>226</sup> and nanotransfer printing<sup>215</sup> have been developed for fabricating non-planar nanostructures

without the need for high precision feature-alignment. However they are demonstrated mainly for metals and polymers, and are not well suited for ceramics. Direct deposition methods such as robotic deposition<sup>227</sup> enable fabrication of intricate ceramic structures, yet there are restrictions on the deposition environment and the smallest feature size attainable.

We have pursued the fabrication capability of oxide 3D hybrid architectures using VP-softeBL. Examples of our endeavor include: (1) two-step patterning of vertically stacked bi-layer heterostructure patterns by utilizing the excellent registry capability of eBL, and (2) fabrication of radially stacked structures without feature realignment based on a modified soft-eBL procedure. Both two approaches will be demonstrated in this chapter.

## 5.1 TWO-STEP PATTERNING OF VERTICALLY STACKED HETEROSTRUCTURE PATTERNS

Vertically stacked bi-layer heterostructures are fabricated by virtue of properly designed alignment markers and exquisite stage movement control. Stacking of two different materials is done in a straightforward manner, as illustrated in figure 5.1.



Patterning three groups of alignment markers

Deposition of bottom pattern with respect to the markers

Deposition of top pattern with respect to the markers

**Figure 5.1: Fabrication procedures for vertically-aligned patterns** 

In an attempt of patterning BaTiO<sub>3</sub>/CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> heterostructures, three groups of Au/Pd alignment markers in cross shape are first prepared on the substrate. The arm widths of these markers are 5  $\mu$ m, 1  $\mu$ m and 50 nm, respectively. The four smallest markers are positioned at four corners of a 100 × 100  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> square area inside which the patterning of oxides are conducted. The substrate is then coated with 300 nm thick PMMA resist. The bottom BaTiO<sub>3</sub> layer is patterned by exposing 500 nm-diameter disc arrays covering 100 × 100  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> area, through aligning the three groups of markers from the largest to the smallest, and positioning the center of disc array with respect to the smallest markers. After drying of the BaTiO<sub>3</sub> pattern and lift-off, the same alignment approach. The CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> patterns are designed to be 200 nm-diameter disc arrays with the same periodicity and same area coverage as the previous BaTiO<sub>3</sub> discs. Smaller diameter for CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> patterns is designed so that the efficacy of vertical stacking can be directly observed using planview SEM. Figure 5.2 shows the SEM and AFM images of such heterostructure patterns. The ability of positioning one material with respect to the other, with

sub-100 nm precision over  $100 \times 100 \ \mu\text{m}^2$  area has clearly demonstrated the great potential of the site-specificity of the VP-soft-eBL.



Figure 5.2:  $CoFe_2O_4/BaTiO_3$  heterostructure patterns fabricated through double-alignment procedure in VP-soft-eBL. (a) SEM image of  $BaTiO_3$  (bottom)/CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> (top) on Si wafer, before annealing. (b) SEM image of  $BaTiO_3$  (bottom)/CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> (top) on SRO/STO, annealed at 900 °C. Inset shows the detail of one such heterostructure, the top white contrast corresponds to the CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> layer due to the higher thickness. (c) VP-SEM image of CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> (bottom)/ BaTiO<sub>3</sub> (top) on MgO substrate, annealed at 900 °C. (d) AFM topographic image and cross section analysis of CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> (bottom)/ BaTiO<sub>3</sub> (top) on MgO substrate. Inset shows the three-dimensional profile for one pattern.

## **5.2 FABRICATION OF RADIALLY STACKED HETEROSTRUCTURES**

The direct stacking of the bi-layer structures involves two-step patterning procedure. This method, albeit effective, requires preparation of markers before hand and double eBL exposure steps. Also, the alignment precision is strongly dependent on the operational proficiency of the experimentalist. In the following section, we present an alternative of patterning hybrid structures without the need for feature-alignment or etching.

## 5.2.1 Barrel-shape pattern development

VP-soft-eBL is characterized by spinning liquid precursors on patterned eBL resist films. Normally the shape and size of the as-developed pattern is determined by that of the trench in the resist. However, it has been noticed in certain cases that the shape of the sol pattern can be deviated from the design in resist. We report below one such example where a "barrel" shape oxide pattern is developed from a disc-shaped trench in eBL resist.

In a typical run, platinized silicon wafer (Pt/Si) is spin-coated with a bi-layer resist (copolymer at the bottom and PMMA on the top). The resist coated substrates are patterned with array of circular (1 $\mu$ m diameter) or square discs (1 × 1  $\mu$ m). After development, the patterned substrates are treated with oxygen plasma and spun with Pb(Zr<sub>0.3</sub>Ti<sub>0.7</sub>)O<sub>3</sub> (PZT) sol (0.1 M concentration). The samples after drying and lift-off are shown in figure 5.3. The AFM topographic images and the cross-sectional profile in figure 5.3(a) and 5.3(b) indicate that the square patterns have in fact developed into barrel shapes. Each barrel has about 90 nm wall thickness and 150 nm height as analyzed by AFM profiles. SEM images of the pattern before annealing and after annealing at 600 °C for 1 hr are shown in figures 5.3(c) and 5.3(d). Please

note the thin layer of PZT at the bottom of the barrels and that the substrate surface is not completely free of the patterned material. After annealing, the wall thickness reduced by nearly 30% to about 60 nm and the bottom layer becomes thinner. The underlying Pt substrate can be observed in figure 5.3(d) inside as well as outside of the pattern.



Figure 5.3: PZT barrels developed from square ring patterns on platinized silicon substrate.
(a) AFM topographic image and cross sectional analysis of PZT barrels before annealing.
(b) AFM 3-D construction of the barrels. (c) SEM image of PZT barrels before annealing.
(d) SEM BSE image of PZT barrels annealed at 600 °C for 1hr. Insets in (c) and (d) shows image of one pattern.

We attribute the barrel shape formation out of a disc trench to a combined effect of both high spinning speed and the capillary force. That is, certain amount of the sol material is expelled out of the air holes due to high centrifugal force. The remainder sol preferentially accumulates towards the walls of the discs upon drying with the contact line pinned by the wall. The latter effect is illustrated in figure 5.4. When a sessile drop of solution dries on a surface, the behavior of the contact line of the drop determines the thickness profile of the dried film. A contact line should move toward the center of the droplet to keep the liquid/substrate contact angle constant during the process of solvent evaporation. However, if the contact line is pinned near the initial position, a radial capillary flow takes place to compensate for the differences in volume change and evaporation rate across the droplet, carrying solute to the contact line. This results in a ridge structure at the edge, also known as "coffee-stain" effect discussed first by Deegan et. al.<sup>228, 229</sup> In practice, a thin wetting layer is often present in the central areas of the droplet during evaporation because the viscosity of the solution increases and therefore hinders the flow. This explains why the majority of gelated mass in our pattern agglomerates at the edges and forms barrel shape geometry.



Figure 5.4: Evaporation of a sessile droplet on the substrate with pinned contact line and formation of barrel-shape geometry after drying.

The mechanism of rings (or barrels) formation has been explained in terms of correlation between surface tension, liquid-substrate wetting properties, and evaporation-driven convective flows.<sup>230, 231</sup> Particularly, the evaporation flux J(r) at position r is found to be strongly dependent on the liquid/substrate contact angle  $\theta_c$  following the equation:<sup>229</sup>

$$J(r) \propto (R-r)^{\frac{\pi-2\theta_c}{2\pi-2\theta_c}}$$
(5.1)

where *R* is the radius of the droplet-substrate contact area. Higher contact angle implies higher value of J(r) and therefore more effective mass transfer from the central area to the edge. By adjusting the wetting behavior of certain liquid/substrate system (i.e.  $\theta_c$ ), the shape and thickness of the contact-line deposition can be controlled. This method has been utilized in assembly of nanoparticles or nanoaggregates from their liquid suspensions.<sup>232, 233</sup>

The above argument implies the possibility to control the shape of the sol-derived ceramic patterns by varying the surface property of the exposed substrate area. Further, building radially stacked heterostructure patterns would be possible if the bottom center of the patterns are made free of spin-coated material to attain pure (bottom-less) ring geometry. By simply filling the rings with another functional oxide sol, columnar "core-shell" architecture can be fabricated without requiring painstaking realignment and multi-step patterning. In the following section, we describe our effort in achieving pattern shape control by tuning the substrate hydrophobicity using chemical modification such as self-assembled monolayers.

### 5.2.2 Surface modification and fabrication of ring reservoirs

## 5.2.2.1 Surface Modification using Self-Assembled Monolayers (SAMs)

One way to keep the substrate surface inside of the ring free of sol material is to increase the contact angle of the sol with the substrate, which can be achieved through chemical modification using SAMs.<sup>234-237</sup> For example, 1-octadecanethiol (ODT) and octadecanetrichlorosilane (OTS) can effectively increase the contact angle of water or alcohol on noble metal and silicon oxide surface, separately.<sup>236, 237</sup> The result of the contact angle increase is summarized in table 5.1. Further, the SAMs modification procedure is compatible with the VP-soft-eBL approach. Therefore, SAMs are utilized after developing the patterns in e-beam resist and oxygen plasma treatment to render a hydrophobic substrate surface.

 Table 5.1 Contact angle change of water and ethylene glycol on substrates functionalized with ODT and OTS SAMs<sup>238</sup>

Solid Su	rface	Contact Angle $\theta_{\rm C}(^{\circ})$	
Substrate	SAM	Water	Ethylene Glycol
Au		65.9	53.1
Au	ODT	110.0	83.3
SiO <sub>2</sub>		9.8	2.3
SiO <sub>2</sub>	OTS	110.4	78.9

Particularly, Si substrates (with 60 nm thermal oxide) are functionalized with OTS, while Au substrates (30 nm thick Au sputter-coated Si wafer with 5 nm Ti adhesion layer) are functionalized with ODT. SAM modification of the patterned substrates is conducted by immersing the Au substrates in 3 mM ODT-isopropanol solution for 3 hr and the bare Si substrates in 5 mM OTS-anhydrous hexane solution for 20 hr. The substrates are then thoroughly rinsed with corresponding solvents, blown dry with nitrogen. The treated substrates are immediately used for spin-coating PZT sol. Subsequent steps are same as outlined earlier. Sol patterning is done on the same substrate but without SAM treatment for control experiments.

The AFM topographic images and cross-sectional profiles of PZT structures on unmodified and ODT modified Au/Ti/SiO<sub>x</sub>/Si substrates are shown in figure 5.5(a) and 5.5(b), respectively. From cross-sectional profiles it can be noted that on unmodified substrate PZT structures form as barrels with nearly 50 nm thick film at the center of each barrel. In contrast, ODT modified surface generates a pure ring structure with the same height inside as well as outside of each ring. Chemical maps are obtained using secondary ion mass spectroscopy (SIMS, PHI TRIFT III, Physical Electronics, USA)) to further confirm the absence of PZT at the bottom of the rings. The Ti<sup>+</sup> ion map of the pattern in figure 5.5(c) clearly shows that the interior of each ring is devoid of any PZT material, and therefore validates the AFM results.



Figure 5.5: The effect of Au surface functionalization using ODT SAM on PZT ring formation (a) AFM image of PZT patterns on bare Au. The patterns developed into barrel shape after drying, leaving 50nm thick PZT at the center of the bottom. (b) AFM image of PZT rings formed on ODT modified Au surface. (c) SIMS Ti<sup>+</sup> map further confirms the pure ring structure formation. The rings appear to be connected due to the shadowing effect from the restriction of the incident angle and the probe size of the ion beam.

Similar results have been observed on OTS modified Si wafer as shown in figure 5.6(a) and 5.6(b), where both AFM and SIMS images offer clear evidence for the PZT ring formation. Besides the modification on noble metal and Si substrates, we have also extended this approach to complex oxide substrates such as SrTiO<sub>3</sub> (STO) single crystals. Such perovskite structured substrates have excellent structural compatibility with PZT and may provide control over PZT crystallography (e.g., high texture or epitaxy).<sup>239-242</sup> It should be noted that SAM formation on complex oxides is scarcely reported, probably due to the bonding difficulty between the organic molecule's head groups and the complex oxide surfaces. Nonetheless, we have attempted to increase the hydrophobicity of STO single crystal using the same SAM treatment as for Si substrates, considering that a layer of -OH group readily forms on STO surfaces may facilitate SAM formation through the reaction with trichrolosilane.<sup>243</sup> Furthermore, the oxygen plasma treatment utilized prior to SAM modification may help increase the density of hydroxyl groups on oxide surface<sup>243, 244</sup> and even facilitate the –OH group to be preferentially oriented,<sup>245</sup> both of which can boost the silane-hydroxyl reaction. Although the bonding density may be lower than that for the silane/Si case, they may still be effective in changing the surface energy even if partial monolayer is formed. Figure 5.6(c) shows the SEM images of a PZT ring on OTS treated STO crystal substrate demonstrating the effectiveness of OTS treatment on the ring structure formation. We have also succeeded in patterning PZT rings on SiN<sub>x</sub> surface using this approach. These collective results demonstrate the effectiveness and broad applicability of substrate functionalization with SAMs as an approach to realize oxide pure rings with nanoscale width on variety of substrates, starting from micrometer sized prior patterns. Our experiments have shown that the process is highly reproducible and can be readily used to pattern areas as large as 1 mm<sup>2</sup>.



Figure 5.6: PZT rings on Si substrate and SrTiO<sub>3</sub> substrate modified by OTS SAM. (a) AFM topographic image and cross sectional profile of PZT rings formed on OTS modified Si wafer. (b) SIMS Ti<sup>+</sup> map further confirms the pure ring structure formation. (c) VP-SEM image of PZT ring structure on OTS modified single crystal SrTiO<sub>3</sub> substrate. Inset shows backscattered electron image.

## 5.2.2.2 Influence of resist undercut geometry

Besides the surface modification through SAM treatment, the eBL undercut also plays an important role in defining the geometry of the ring structure. The undercut profile is created due to the higher e-beam sensitivity of the bottom copolymer layer compared to the top PMMA layer. Figure 5.7 shows the cross-sectional SEM image of the bi-layer resist after *e*BL patterning and development. The undercut length, defined as the length of PMMA layer overhanging the copolymer layer, is about 100 nm which is close to the width of PZT rings shown in figure 5.3, 5.5 and 5.6. In addition, the thickness of PMMA and copolymer is about 150 nm each, which is

remarkably close to the height of PZT rings. This suggests the following explanation for the formation of ring structures.



Figure 5.7: eBL undercut profile in bi-layer resist. White dotted line in inset schematically shows the edge of the profile. The thickness of the copolymer layer is 150nm and the undercut length is 100nm.

The undercut profile functions in a way analogous to an aperture on top of a barrel. It allows part of the sol to be expelled under high rotational speeds, yet retains the remaining sol which is pushed to the perimeter of each disc and preferentially accumulates there due to the solvophobicity of the bottom surface to form the ring structures after drying. Thus, the PZT ring height is determined by the thickness of the copolymer layer and the width is defined by the undercut length. We have further confirmed the above model through control experiments. When a 300 nm thick PMMA single layer was used instead of a bi-layer of same thickness and patterned SAM-treated substrates, nearly 90% of the patterned area was devoid of ring structures. Moreover, the height and thickness distributions of the rings in the rest area were nonuniform

(image not shown). The low yield and poor geometric uniformity therefore underscore the significance of the undercut.

## 5.2.3 Fabrication of radially stacked heterostructures

Based on the controlled formation of the nanoscale rings, radially stacked vertical heterostructure patterns are developed by simply spinning the sol of a second material to fill the rings and form the "core", and this process can be repeated for additional radial stacking. We choose  $CoFe_2O_4$  (CFO) as the "core" material due to its high magnetostrictivity and relatively high Néel Temperature.<sup>246</sup> Also, CFO and PZT have commensurate lattice parameters  $(a_{CFO}\approx 2a_{PZT})$ .<sup>60</sup> This innate structural compatibility between the two phases with large magnetostriction or electrostricition (i.e., piezoelectricity) can enhance magneto-electric coupling effect when made into appropriately aligned heterostructures, <sup>53, 247, 248</sup> particularly for "vertically aligned" geometry.<sup>55, 249</sup> The patterning scheme of the heterostructures is illustrated in figure 5.8. PZT is first spun at 6000 rpm on SAM treated substrates and heated at 150 °C for 5 min to generate PZT rings. This is immediately followed by cooling the substrate and spinning CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> sol at 5000 rpm to fill the PZT rings. The lower spinning speed for the core material is used to achieve larger bottom thickness of the barrels after drying. The substrates are then heated at 150 °C again and soaked in acetone to lift-off material outside patterned areas.



Figure 5.8: Scheme of patterning radially stacked heterostructures without feature realignment.

Figure 5.9(a) shows an SEM image of the columnar core-shell heterostructures (on  $Pt/SiO_x/Si$  substrate, annealed at 700 °C for 1 hr). The inset BSE image shows the average atomic number contrast between the "core" and the "shell" materials. Similar heterostructures have been fabricated on  $SiN_x$  surfaces treated by OTS. The TEM images, before (figure 5.9(b)) and after annealing (figure 5.9(c)) at 750°C in air for 1.5 hr, further corroborate the "core-shell" geometry. Electron diffraction pattern taken from one of the heterostructure patterns (figure 5.9(c) inset) shows polycrystalline rings, and the diffraction rings correspond well to PZT (tetragonal phase) and CFO. This indicates that both the core and the shell materials have crystallized after

annealing, and thus demonstrate the feasibility of this approach in preparing solid heterostructures with appropriate ceramic phases. There is no hint of third phase in the diffraction profile, suggesting the phase purity of the heterostructures. Since the interface between the piezoelectric and the magnetic materials play vital roles in the their interaction in order for such heterostructures patterns to function, more detailed studies on the microstructure of each phase and the inter-diffusion between the core and the shell materials are required and are in progress.





Figure 5.9: Radially stacked PZT/CFO heterostructure patterns fabricated using the PZT rings as building block "containers". (a) SEM image of PZT shell/CFO core on Pt, after annealing. Inset is the BSE image showing contrast between the core and shell materials with white lines indicating the edge of the PZT shell. (b, c) TEM images of PZT shell/CFO core heterostructures on amorphous  $SiN_x$  membrane, before (b) and after annealing (c). Inset shows the electron diffraction pattern taken from one core-shell pattern, where "P" stands for PZT (tetragonal phase) and "C" for CFO.

These collective results reveal a facile and general route to fabricate oxide heterostructure patterns with excellent control over pattern dimensions from both "bottom-up" and "top-down" directions: SAM treatment determines the pattern shape (i.e., ring or barrel), while the high resolution eBL and the undercut profile simultaneously provide more rigorous control over the dimensions of the structure (i.e., thickness and height of the shell, diameter of the core, etc.). It does not require painstaking feature re-alignment between steps to generate the "shell" and placing the "core" inside the sub-100 nm-thick shell, and the simple spin-coating exploited eliminates the need for subsequent etching. This basic approach can be further extended to fabricate other radially stacked structures (e.g., concentric multi-ring patterns) if appropriate spinning speed with substrate surface property control can be utilized. The different schemes to achieve barrel (or disc) shape, pure ring shape and radially stacked heterostructures are summarized in figure 5.10 for comparison. On the other hand, in addition to patterning on different substrates, we also have patterned heterostructures of different oxide systems such as ZnO/PZT and BaTiO<sub>3</sub>/CFO. This approach should be broadly applicable to patterning solid-state structures from any appropriate solution (e.g., sols, liquid phase polymer precursors and colloid particle suspensions<sup>250, 251</sup>) that is compatible with e-beam resists.



Figure 5.10: VP-Soft-eBL process for pattern shape control from disc-shape trenches in ebeam resist. Scheme I: For barrel structure development; Scheme II: For nanoring structure development; Scheme III: For radially stacked heterostructures development.

## **5.3 SUMMARY**

The content of this chapter can be summarized as the following:

(1) Direct fabrication of vertically stacked hybrid nanopatterns has been demonstrated by double-step alignment and eBL exposure. Using the current alignment marker design, ~100 nm alignment precision can be obtained over  $100 \times 100 \ \mu m^2$ .

(2) Barrel-shape development of VP-soft-eBL prepared oxide patterns from disc trenches has been observed. It is argued that such as shape development is a joint effect of fast spinning speed, capillary flow of the sol with pinned liquid contact line during solvent evaporation and the undercut geometry of the eBL-defined trench in bi-layer resist.

(3) By carefully controlling the surface solvophobicity with appropriate self-assembled monolayers, pure ring structure with sub-100 nm thickness can be generated from the micron-sized patterns determined in the e-beam resist.

(4) The nanorings can be utilized as building block "containers" by filling them with a second sol to form radially stacked "core-shell" heterostructure patterns. This directed patterning of oxide heterostructures is successfully achieved on diverse substrates with control over their dimensions, and it avoids painstaking feature-alignment procedure between patterning of the first and second materials. This contribution demonstrates the efficacy and feasibility of fabricating radially stacked "core-shell" heterostructures via VP-soft-eBL.

Through chapters 3 to 5, the multi-dimensional patterning capability of VP-soft-eBL has been successfully demonstrated with examples spanning 0D disc array, 1D nanolines, 2D high
density grids and 3D heterostructure patterns. The wide versatilities of this patterning scheme in material/system selection, pattern geometry control and patterning site control are highlighted through these examples. VP-soft-eBL therefore presents itself as an enabling tool and an excellent platform, on which the substrate confinement on functional oxide nanostructures at diverse dimensionalities can be compared and investigated systematically.

# **CHAPTER 6**

# PROBING EPITAXIAL 1D NANOPATTERNED SYSTEM USING X-RAY MICRODIFFRACTION: A PRELIMINARY STUDY

Motivated by the novel properties and the increasing technological interest based on the confinement effect of oxides (note for instance, the crucial advances in high-Tc superconductors, ferroelectrics and colossal magnetoresistors), extensive scientific attention has been paid to the new emerging oxide-based nanotechnology, as discussed in detail in chapter 1. Patterning substrate-integrated oxide architectures is the prerequisite of exploration of this rich field and realization of novel functional miniature devices. Patterning, as a critical means of material processing, also has a profound bearing on the way functional materials interact with the underlying substrate and/or surrounding capping layers. For semiconductor systems, for instance, vast literature has reported experimentally or predicted theoretically that nanopatterning significantly changes the strain field in a heteroepitaxial architecture compared with in a blanket thin film.<sup>252-255</sup> The same trend is also expected in the functional oxide regime. Although far from being a mature field, investigation of stress and strain distribution in spatially-confined structures is now turning into one of the frontier subjects in the field of functional oxide nanotechnology. It is particularly important for ferroelectrics and ferrimagnetics, given the high sensitivity of their operational characteristics to the stress field.<sup>256-258</sup>

The capability to site-specifically measure the strain field in and around a confined oxide nanostructure will fill in the gap between analytical or simulation result on mechanical behaviors

and experimental observation of material functionality change. To achieve this capability, developing and advancing suitable characterization techniques are of great importance and research value. We have attempted to approach this goal by applying x-ray microdiffraction technique on our VP-soft-eBL patterned 1D nanostructure. In this chapter, we describe our preliminary effort in this direction.

# 6.1 STRESSES EVOLUTION IN SOL-GEL DERIVED THIN FILMS

We first review the possible sources of stress in a soft-eBL patterned system. Soft-eBL approach is characterized by the employment of sol precursor and heat treatment after deposition for crystallization of the pattern. In this context, it is similar to preparation of sol-gel-based oxide thin film. It is well known that significant residual stresses develop in sol-gel processing of thin films during the transformation of metalorganic gel to oxide upon annealing.<sup>155, 259, 260</sup> This transition is embodied in several stages: i) drying of solvent and pyrolysis of organics; ii) structural rearrangement and densification; iii) crystallization and grain growth; iv) cooling. The total residual stress in the final polycrystalline film consists of intrinsic and extrinsic contributions. The intrinsic stress (or growth stress) is induced by shrinkage and constrained densification during drying and firing, and formation of intergranular stresses as anisotropic grains grow. For ferroelectric materials such as PZT, intrinsic stresses can also be induced upon cooling through the Curie temperature.<sup>259</sup> Intrinsic stresses as high as 200 MPa to 500 MPa have been reported for various sol-gel-derived thin film.<sup>260</sup> Intrinsic stresses depend on the relative rates of evaporation, viscous deformation and flow of liquid through the pores of the gel. These

parameters are extremely sensitive to the sol chemistry (i.e., concentration, precursor, solvent, etc.) and the heating condition (i.e., pyrolysis temperature, heating rate, etc.). Therefore, it is very hard to estimate the amount of intrinsic stress for a given sol-derived thin film. Extrinsic stresses for a polycrystalline gel film are mainly induced upon cooling due to the thermal mismatch between the film and the substrate. The thermal stress  $\sigma_{th}$  in the film can be described as the following:

$$\sigma_{th} = E_f (\alpha_f - \alpha_s) \Delta T \tag{6.1}$$

where  $E_f$  is the elastic modulus of the film,  $\alpha_s$  and  $\alpha_f$  are thermal expansion coefficients of the substrate and the film, separately, and  $\Delta T$  is the temperature range of cooling. The stress evolution in polycrystalline gel films or patterns during heating and cooling is schematically shown in figure 6.1.



Figure 6.1: Stress evolution in gel patterns during heating and cooling

For epitaxial thin films, extrinsic stress also originates from the lattice mismatch between the film and the substrate, which can be described as:

$$\sigma_{epi} = \frac{E}{1 - \nu} \varepsilon = \frac{E}{1 - \nu} \cdot \frac{a_s - a_f}{a_s}$$
(6.2)

where *E* and *v* are the elastic modulus and poisson's ratio of the film,  $a_f$  and  $a_s$  are lattice parameters of film and substrate, separately. From equations 6.1 and 6.2, the thermal stress and the epitaxial stress in a large-area, epitaxial CFO film on MgO single crystal substrate can be roughly calculated based on their mechanical properties and lattice parameters listed in table 6.1. Given the annealing temperature used in our experiments (between 850 ~ 1000 °C), the largest cooling range  $\Delta T = 1000 - 25 = 975$  °C. The thermal stress  $\sigma_{th} = -546$  MPa (the negative sign means the stress in film is compressive), and the  $\sigma_{epi} = 983$  MPa. Therefore, the amount of intrinsic stress (200 MPa to 500 MPa) in a sol-gel-derived thin film system can be quite comparable to that of the extrinsic stress. This is a very different scenario from thin films deposited via metalorganic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD), in which case the extrinsic contribution dominates the residual stress in the thin films.

 Table 6.1 Mechanical properties of CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> and MgO

	Elastic Modulus (GPa)	Poisson's ratio	Thermal expansion coefficient (10 <sup>-6</sup> /°C)	Lattice Parameter (nm)
CoFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> <sup>4</sup>	173.4 (polycrystalline)	0.33	8	0.4196 (1/2 a <sub>CFO</sub> )
MgO <sup>5</sup>	294.7	0.186	11.23	0.4212

#### 6.2 "EDGE-EFFECT" IN NANOPATTERNED SYSTEMS

The above stress-evolution mechanisms also apply for a micro- or nano-patterned system derived from sol-gel approach. However, unlike a continuous film which is fully "clamped" by the underlying substrate, the patterns carry a great number of free edges and free side-wall surfaces. It has been extensively predicted by theoretic analysis that, at the neighborhoods of discontinuities in thin film, the edge of the film has a large effect on the stress field in both the film and the substrate.<sup>261, 262</sup> This phenomenon is usually referred to as "edge-effect". Particularly, stresses in the film material are relaxed near the free edges. Therefore the amount of stress near the edge of the discontinuity is always smaller than the stress in the middle of a

blanket film (given by equations 6.1 and 6.2). Figure 6.2 below schematically illustrates three possible mechanisms of edge-induced stress relaxation that have been discussed in theoretical analysis of epitaxial islands/substrate systems.<sup>263</sup>



Figure 6.2: Schematic illustration of different mechanisms for edge-induced stress relaxation in a patterned system (assuming tensile stress in the initial pseudomorphic pattern before relaxation).

Free edges also modify the strain field in the substrate. In a blanket film under a uniform biaxial tensile strain on a rigid substrate, the stress field in the middle of the film does not strain the substrate (except for a small strain caused by the curvature) because the thickness of the substrate is considerably larger than that of the film. In contrast, near the film discontinuities or pattern free edges, the lattice of the substrate can be distorted. For convenience we assume that a stretched discrete pattern tends to shrink. In doing so, a compressive stress is caused in the substrate. The signs of the stresses induced in the substrate by the pattern edges are therefore reversed at the pattern edge. The stresses in the exposed part of the substrate will show sharply peaked maximum values close to the edges of the film and then decay to zero as distance from the edges increases. Figure 6.3 shows the simulation result done by Jain *et. al.*<sup>264</sup> of normal and shear stresses distribution in the Si substrate induced by the edges of Ge<sub>0.5</sub>Si<sub>0.5</sub> stripe pattern (note in this case the patterned material is under compression initially).





When the size of the deposited materials decreases (as in the case of nanopatterning), the number of edges and interfaces increases and they come close together. Therefore, nanopatterning significantly modifies the stress field in both the patterned material and the substrate, which may further change the material's behavior related to the stress. For example, it has been demonstrated experimentally that patterning ferroelectric thin film into discrete islands greatly enhanced the piezoresponse (the nominal  $d_{33}$  value).<sup>44, 45</sup> Finite element analysis by Roytburd et. al.<sup>265</sup> on patterned piezoelectric systems further reveals that the strain induced by the substrate local deformation should also contribute to the measured piezoelectric coefficient of the pattern, besides the intrinsic piezo-strain in the pattern. Obviously, the phenomena related with the stress or strain will become more significant as well as complicated as the size of the features decreases and as more complex structures are designed and fabricated. It is also worth noticing that the edge-induced stress in the substrate is highly localized, i.e., the stresses decay rapidly along in-plane directions and along the depth direction. Further, the distribution of the stress field is very sensitive to the geometry of the pattern, including width, length, thickness, and the aspect ratio. In order to better understand the contribution of a patterned architecture to the modified stress, it is critical to be able to visualize the "edge effect" and the localized stress or strain distribution in the substrate near the pattern for a given geometry.

For micro- or nano-patterned semiconductor systems such as Ge or GeSi patterns on Si wafer, extensive theoretical studies have been conducted since 1990s.<sup>266-268</sup> Experimental observation of stresses in substrates of such systems were made mainly using Raman scattering spectroscopy.<sup>252, 269, 270</sup> Practically, this is done by either collecting Raman shift signals from a large number of patterns as statistical results, or by using micro-Raman technique to obtain

spatially resolved information from patterns at least a few micrometer in size. As a sharp contrast, edge-effect in oxide-on-oxide patterned systems has remained significantly under-explored, both theoretically and experimentally. Besides the difficulties in achieving uniformly patterned epitaxial oxide nanostructures, a few major reasons for this underdevelopment are: 1) the intrinsic stresses induced during deposition of oxide thin film or nanopatterns are non-negligible and hard to estimate theoretically, particularly for sol-gel-derived systems; 2) experimental investigation is challenged by the oxide materials property and the high spatial resolution required. For example, the well-developed micro-Raman spectroscopy technique for semiconductors is not very well suited for oxide-on-oxide systems. Most ferroic oxides are wideband-gap materials. Conventional visible Raman spectroscopy works poorly for these materials because the visible photon energy is much smaller than their band gap.<sup>271</sup> UV-Raman can provide the proper photon energy, but it usually suffers from lower throughput efficiency, and high stray light level.<sup>272</sup> Furthermore, stress measurements using Raman techniques require knowledge of the relation between the observed shift in the spectrum frequency and the elastic response of the oxide material. On the other hand, conventional x-ray stress measurements performed with the use of a relatively large beam (~ mm) have been used to assess the volumeaveraged stress within arrays of features, such as patterned Al lines on Si.<sup>273</sup> However, much higher resolution is required in order to differentiate the stress at the edge of the pattern versus outside of the pattern, when the typical feature size is less than 500 nm. The above reasons have underscored the significance of both developing a versatile oxide patterning approach and employing a high resolution, high precision experimental technique to characterize the "edge effect" on the as-prepared patterned system.

As shown in the previous chapters of this dissertation, the VP-soft-eBL approach has been developed into an enabling tool to fabricate diverse oxide-on-oxide nanopatterned systems with precise size, shape and structural control. It is a tantalizing task to employ the nanopattern fabricated with VP-soft-eBL as test-bed structures and investigate the distribution of strain or stress in a given structure using a characterization technique suitable for non-destructive, high resolution analysis.

#### **6.3 X-RAY MICRODIFFRACTION TECHNIQUE**

We attempted to employ the x-ray microdiffraction technique to probe the VP-soft-eBL patterns. Unlike the conventional in-house x-ray sources, the introduction of synchrotron x-ray microbeam techniques allows for a localized examination of the strain within crystalline thin-film features.<sup>274</sup> In particular, the ability to resolve lattice spacing as a function of position within the feature at a submicron resolution provides us with a method to map elastic deformation due to the presence of free edges. Equipped with these capabilities, we aim at obtaining direct observation of the edge-modified strain field in the patterned system for a given pattern geometry, and revealing the type of deformation induced in the substrate and its extent.

#### 6.3.1 Experimental set-up

Measurements are conducted at station 2-ID-D of the Advanced Photon Source (APS) at Argonne National Laboratory. The hard x-ray microprobe uses the radiation generated by an APS undulator. The first main optical component located 29.5 m from the source (centre of the undulator) is a water-cooled, grazing-incidence, horizontal-deflection mirror designed to

preserve source brilliance and beam coherence and to suppress high order harmonics of the undulator radiation. A double-crystal Si(111) monochromator located 62 m away from the source is used to select a beam energy of 10.08 keV, corresponding to a wavelength of 1.230 Å. A hard x-ray phase zone plate located 71 m from the source is employed to achieve high focusing power. In this experimental set-up, a focused beam with 200 nm diameter is produced with a divergence smaller than 0.01° (the footprint of the beam on the sample surface is usually larger than the beam diameter depending on the incident angle). An order-sorting aperture (OSA) of 20 µm is used to select the first-order focusing beam, and a gold beam stop (30 µm in diameter and 40 µm thick) is used to reduce the zero-order beam through the OSA. A photon flux of  $10^{10}$  photons s<sup>-1</sup> can be achieved at the focal spot. The focal point of the x-ray beam is aligned with the center of an x-ray diffractometer to allow precise diffraction measurements. Diffracted x-rays are collected with a charge-coupled device (CCD) camera that allowed measurements of the angular position, angular width, and intensity of x-ray reflections. An x-ray fluorescence (XRF) detector is equipped so that diffraction and fluorescence can be simultaneously measured. By monitoring the fluorescence signals, the beam location with respect to the micro- or nanopatterns can be determined at all times. The sample stage can be moved in-plane at less than 100 nm step size, which allows line scan or mapping of the scattering or XRF signal. Figure 6.4 shows a schematic diagram of the zone-plate optical system.



Figure 6.4: Schematic diagram of the x-ray microprobe set-up at the 2-ID-D station of the APS. All of the slits and the mirror are omitted. <sup>275</sup>

# **6.3.2 Sample preparation**

Single crystal (001) MgO substrate patterned with CFO line nanostructures is used in the diffraction experiment, for a few reasons. First, although the line width is comparable to beam size, the length of the lines is in the range of a few micrometers, much larger than the beam footprint. Therefore the spatial resolution of the scattering signal should be high enough to resolve the change along the line, if not inside each line. From this point of view, the line pattern is a better test structure for x-ray microdiffraction than the 0D nanodiscs. Second, due to the high aspect ratio of length/width for line patterns, the stress distribution along the line is expected to be different from that across the line from theoretical calculations.<sup>46</sup> It is of great interest to investigate this effect experimentally.

Specifically, CFO lines with a nominal width of 200 ~ 500 nm and length of 6  $\mu$ m are patterned on (001) single crystal MgO substrate. The line direction is along <100> direction of the substrate, therefore the lines exhibit zig-zag edged morphology. The line thickness is around 20 to 50 nm, determined by AFM measurement. Center-to-center separation between neighboring lines is 6  $\mu$ m. After annealing the CFO lines, the sample is patterned with Au/Pd cross marker at the center of CFO line groups as shown in figure 6.5. The Au/Pd cross is 5  $\mu$ m wide, 50  $\mu$ m long, and 50 nm thick. The cross can be easily located using XRF due to the strong fluorescence signal produced by Au/Pd and the large dimension of the cross. By recording the relative position of the CFO lines with respect to the center of the cross using SEM beforehand, the line patterns can be conveniently located by offsetting the sample stage from the center of the marker in both "x" and "z" directions.



Figure 6.5: Schematic illustration of the sample with CFO line patterns and Au/Pd marker on (001) MgO substrate.

Figure 6.6 shows a simplified illustration of geometry for detection of the diffraction and XRF signal from the nanopatterns. The angle between the diffracted beam and the incident crystal plane (indicated by the green plane) is  $\chi$ . Using the CCD detector allows recording of the diffracted beam intensity in association with  $2\theta$  and  $\chi$  angles.



Figure 6.6: A simplified illustration of geometry for detection of the diffraction and XRF signal from the nanopatterns.

# 6.3.3 Experimental procedure

6.3.3.1 Methodology and determination of Bragg angle

In principle, diffraction signal from either the epilayer or the substrate can be used to determine the strain field in a patterned epitaxial architecture. Using x-ray microbeam technique, both have been pioneered at station 2-ID-D of APS on semiconductor systems. For instance,

SiGe stripe (20 µm wide, 240 nm thick) on Si substrate has been investigated by Murray et. al.<sup>22</sup> using the SiGe (008) diffraction peak intensity change across the line. In another experiment by the same group, diffraction intensities of the (004) and (333) diffraction peaks of the Si substrate were collected from samples patterned with a few micron wide SiGe stripes and 190 µm Ni dots, respectively.<sup>276</sup> In these examples, the moderate lattice mismatch between the pattern and the substrate as well as the large pattern dimension ensure either a distinguishable diffraction signal from the pattern itself or a noticeable diffractional intensity change of the out-of-plane substrate lattice due to the pattern. However, this may not be the case for the CFO/MgO system. The small feature size of the CFO lines and the lattice mismatch between CFO and MgO as low as 0.4%, (almost 10 times smaller than the SiGe/Si) make it difficult to directly observe the Bragg diffraction intensity of CFO (001) plane. This is because the diffraction pattern collected by the CCD at the corresponding Bragg angle will be presumably dominated by the strong intensity from the single crystal bulk MgO substrate, and very short exposure time has to be used to prevent CCD from saturation. Selection of CFO (311) plane diffraction may resolve this problem since MgO does not have the corresponding lattice plane at similar Bragg angle. However, this operation is not allowed by our set-up geometry. Therefore, we select using the diffraction signal from the MgO substrate at or around the Bragg angle of the (004) plane.

The Bragg angle of (004) plane of MgO (001) single crystal substrate is determined by the Bragg's Law, i.e.,

$$2d \cdot \sin \theta_{\scriptscriptstyle B} = \lambda \tag{6.3}$$

Input  $\lambda = 1.230$  Å and  $d_{(400)} = 1.052$  Å, the Bragg angle  $\theta_{\rm B}(004) = 35.724^{\circ}$ . This is practically done by first aligning the sample into the geometry shown in figure 6.6., and then collecting the diffracted beam intensity in a  $\theta$ -2 $\theta$  scan at an area free of CFO pattern on the substrate. A typical  $\theta$ -2 $\theta$  scan profile is shown in figure 6.7. After this, the peak position to set to be 35.724°.



Figure 6.7: Theta-2theta scan about  $\theta_B(400) = 35.724^\circ$ . The intensity drop at the center is due to the beam stop used to reduce the zero-order beam and prevent the saturation of CCD.

#### 6.3.3.2 X-ray scattering from MgO substrate

Signal is first obtained from an area free of CFO pattern on the MgO substrate, and the diffracted beam intensity ( $I_D$ ) within a certain range of  $2\theta$  and  $\chi$  is collected by the CCD detector. It is observed that two subspots with high intensity consistently appear on CCD pattern when the incident angle is slightly off the Bragg angle of (004) MgO, as shown in figure 6.8. Figure 6.8 is taken at  $\theta_{in} = \theta_B + 0.2^\circ = 35.924^\circ$ . White dotted line indicates the two subspots as two areas

of interest (ROI), ROI-1 and ROI-2, respectively. The sharp, bright ROI-1 subspot is centered at  $(2\theta = 71.85^\circ, \chi = 0.81^\circ)$ , whereas the relatively diffuse ROI-2 subspot is centered at  $(2\theta = 71.62^\circ, \chi = 0.81^\circ)$  (ROI-2). The center splitting of the two subspots along  $2\theta$ -direction is about 0.23 degrees, whereas the splitting along  $\chi$ -direction is negligible. On the other hand, the diffuse subspot itself shows a fairly broad intensity distribution within a certain range of  $2\theta$  as well as  $\chi$ . The two subspots are consistently observed for  $\theta_{in} = \theta_B \pm \Delta$ , where  $\Delta$  ranges from 0.05° to 0.4°.



Figure 6.8:  $2\theta \chi$  frame collected by exposure on an area of MgO substrate free of CFO pattern,  $\theta_{in} = \theta_B + 0.2^\circ = 35.924^\circ$ .

The  $2\theta$  angle positions of ROI-1 and ROI-2 intensity change differently with the incident angle, as measured from the CCD detector. Table 6.2 summarizes this change and the outgoing angle  $\theta_{out}$  (i.e., the angle between the outgoing beam and the substrate surface in the goniometer plane) for ROI-1 and ROI-2 at different incident angles (all angles are in degree unit).

0 - 0 + 1	$\theta_{\rm in} < \theta_{\rm B}$		$\theta_{\rm in} > \theta_{\rm B}$	
$\sigma_{ m in}=\sigma_{ m B}+\Delta$	35.524	35.624	35.824	35.924
$2 \times \theta_{\rm in}$	71.048	71.248	71.648	71.848
(2 <i>0</i> ) <sub>ROI1</sub>	71.05	71.25	71.65	71.85
$\theta_{out}$ (ROI1) =(2 $\theta$ ) <sub>ROI1</sub> - $\theta_{in}$	35.526	35.626	35.826	35.926
(2 <i>θ</i> ) <sub>ROI2</sub>	71.32	71.38	71.49	71.62
$\theta_{out}$ (ROI2) =(2 $\theta$ )ROI2- $\theta_{in}$	35.796	35.756	35.666	35.696
$\theta_{\rm B}$ - $\theta_{\rm out}$ (ROI2)	-0.072	-0.032	0.058	0.028

Table 6.2 Change of ROI  $2\theta$  angle and outgoing angle with incident angle

The narrow intensity distribution inside ROI-1 subspot and the intensity drop at the center position (due to the beam stop) suggest that the origin of ROI-1 intensity is the specular reflection from the MgO substrate surface. This is further corroborated by the fact that the  $2\theta$  position of ROI-1 remains precisely two times that of the incident angle, as listed in table 6.2. That is, the outgoing angle corresponding to the ROI-1 intensity equals to the exact incident angle. Comparatively, the  $2\theta$  positions of ROI-2 satisfy ( $2\theta$ <sub>ROI2</sub> > ( $2\theta$ <sub>ROI1</sub> when  $\theta_{in} < \theta_{B}$ , and ( $2\theta$ <sub>ROI2</sub> < ( $2\theta$ <sub>ROI1</sub> when  $\theta_{in} > \theta_{B}$ . The outgoing angle corresponding to ROI-2 subspot is very close to the Bragg angle, with a maximum offset of 0.07°. Therefore the origin of ROI-2 is considered to be diffuse scattering, as illustrated in figure 6.9.



Figure 6.9: Schematic illustration of specular reflection and diffuse scattering from a single crystal substrate (with zero-miscut in the goniometer plane).

As compared with specular diffraction which provides information about the average crystal structure, x-ray diffuse scattering contains information about the deviations from the average over a range of 10 to 1000 Å.<sup>277</sup> In case of small-angle Bragg reflections, diffuse scattering is mainly caused by electron-density fluctuations at surfaces (e.g., surface roughness). In contrast to that, in case of lattice Bragg diffractions, diffuse scattering is also caused by variations in lattice strain. It has been well-known that the final stage of single crystal substrates fabrication usually requires substantial cutting, shaping and polishing, all of which may introduce residual strain and defects in terms of roughness and crystallographic misorientaion.<sup>278</sup> Besides, many oxide single crystal substrates such as SrTiO<sub>3</sub> and MgO show structural rearrangements involving several atomic layers upon thermal treatment.<sup>279, 280</sup> All these structural deviations from a perfect crystal

can contribute to the diffuse scattering intensity collected. In fact, we have conducted similar off-Bragg angle scattering on a (001) SrTiO<sub>3</sub> single crystal substrate annealed in O<sub>2</sub> flow at 1000°C. Similar intensity distribution with two subspots is observed for an incident angle that is 0.1° away from the Bragg angle of STO (004) plane. The  $2\theta$  positions of the two subspots follow the same trend as stated earlier.

X-ray diffuse scattering provides a useful tool for surface/interfacial roughness and strain field studies in thin films,<sup>281</sup> superlattices<sup>282</sup> as well as mesoscopic heterostructures.<sup>283</sup> Since the existence of the CFO 1D epitaxial lines may cause non-uniform strain field in the substrate area in close proximity of the patterns (e.g., lattice bending or disorientation in MgO), it will then be interesting to detect the diffuse scattering intensity change of the substrate site-specifically around the nanostructure. This is done practically by moving the sample in small step size in x-z-plane so that the x-ray beam scans across the CFO line or a two-dimensional area containing CFO lines, and collecting the integrated intensity of ROI-2 as described in the section below. It is worth pointing out that diffuse scattering is normally several orders of magnitude weaker than the Bragg scattering. In order to observe it, either a very long exposure time or very intense incident radiation is required. In our experiments, synchrotron x-ray source has greatly facilitated the observation of diffuse scattering in our experiment. On the other hand, Bragg scattering is diminished by incidence at deviation angles  $\theta_m = \theta_B \pm \Delta$ , which helps to follow the diffuse scattering intensity on the Bragg peak tail.

# 6.3.3.3 Variation of diffuse scattering intensity across CFO line

(1) Z-scan across one CFO line

The integrated intensity of ROI-1 and ROI-2 are first plotted as a function of the beam position perpendicularly across an individual CFO line over 6  $\mu$ m length. The ROI-1 and ROI-2 ranges in terms of (2 $\theta$ ,  $\chi$ ) are carefully selected and kept constant so that the intensity value from each point of the plot can be compared. The step size used for z-scan is 200 nm. The exposure time for CCD detector is 2 sec, and the XRF collection time is 1 sec. To ensure the generality of the observation, the z-scan experiment is repeated many times on different areas of the sample after careful beam alignment at each area. The incident angles for these scans are set to be within 0.2° range of offset from  $\theta_{\rm B}$ .

A typical result of the z-scan at  $\theta_n = 35.824^\circ$  is shown in figure 6.10. Figure 6.10(a) is a schematic illustration of the sample cross-section. Figures 6.10(b) to 6.10(d) are the XRF signal of Co K $\alpha$  intensity, the integrated intensity of ROI-1, and the integrated intensity of ROI-2, separately. Figures 6.10(a) through 6.10(d) are labeled with yellow, green and grey colors to indicate the substrate surface area near the edges of the pattern, just below the pattern, and far away from the pattern, respectively. Inset of figure 6.10(a) is a VP-SEM image of part of a CFO line from the area investigated. The full-width-half-maximum (FWHM) of XRF peak is about 2  $\mu$ m, much larger than the pattern width observed with SEM. This is due to the large beam footprint on the sample at  $\theta_n = 35.824^\circ$  and the resultant beam interaction with CFO even when the beam center is certain distance away from the edge of the pattern (see appendix 6.1 for schematic explanation). Figure 6.10(c) shows a valley at around  $z = 3 \mu$ m, corresponding to the ROI-1 intensity drop with a magnitude of about 3000 counts. This drop is about 21% of the reference integrated intensity measured from the areas far away from the pattern (14300 counts on average). The offset between the XRF peak position and the center position of the ROI-1

valley is due to the asymmetric XRF signal yield from the left and right sides of pattern induced by the scanning direction, as detailed in appendix 6.1. From figure 6.10(d) it is interesting to notice two sharp peaks centered at  $z = 2 \ \mu m$  and  $z = 4 \ \mu m$  positions. The relative intensity increase at the peak is about 17% of the reference intensity. At the center position of the pattern, the ROI-2 intensity drops down to a value slightly (about 6%) higher than the reference intensity. The significant difference of the integrated ROI intensities from substrate areas under the line (green region), near the edge of the line (yellow region), and far away from the line (grey region) indicates a non-uniform strain distribution in the MgO substrate around the patterned area.



Figure 6.10: Diffraction result from scanning across one CFO line. (a) Schematic illustration of the sample cross-section. Inset shows the VP-SEM image of the line at the illuminated area. (b) XRF signal; (b) Integrated intensity of ROI-1 across the line; (c) Integrated intensity of ROI-2 across the line.

In the following paragraphs, we discuss the possible mechanism for the formation of multiple maxima and minima in ROI-1 and ROI-2 plots. We consider two factors that may contribute to a decreased intensity of the substrate specular reflection (ROI-1) from the patterned area, i.e., x-ray absorption of CFO pattern and the destructive interference of the beams reflected at different surfaces and interface of the heterostructure. The relative intensity decrease caused by the absorption due to a 50 nm-thick CFO stripe at  $\theta_{in} = 35.824^{\circ}$  is only 1.16%, much smaller than the 21% drop observed from figure 6.9. The detailed calculation is shown in appendix 6.2. Therefore the major contribution to the intensity decrease can be ascribed to the destructive interference of the x-ray beams reflected at different interfaces and surfaces due to the existence of the epitaxial layer of CFO. Such interference has been widely reported in x-ray reflectivity experiments on superlattices and epitaxial thin films.<sup>284, 285</sup> The interference in principle may cause either increase or decrease of the reflection intensity, depending on parameters such as the thickness and electron density of the film and the incident angle. When condition applies, the drop in reflectivity intensity may reach up to a few tens of percentage. Estimation of the exact amount of intensity drop due to the destructive interference is under exploration in our laboratory and is beyond the scope of this dissertation. Considering the nature of the ROI-1 intensity as the specular reflection, its valley position may represent the position of the CFO line more precisely than the XRF signal peak position.

The origin of the two sharp peaks in ROI-2 plot is of great interest to us. The peaks are observed consistently on different patterns and with different incident angles (both  $\theta_{in} < \theta_B$  and  $\theta_{in} > \theta_B$ ). The peak positions are about 700 nm away from the physical line edges suggested by the ROI-1 intensity plot and the SEM image. The intensity variation of the diffuse scattering for

an epitaxial nanopatterned system may include the following contributions: (i) lattice perturbation in the substrate a few nanometers or tens of nanometers deep from the top surface, caused by the local strain gradients due to the pattern edge-effect. We refer to this effect as the structural factor; (ii) roughness variation of the substrate surface. This includes the true roughness change across the nanostructure due to the patterning process (if any) and the abrupt edges of the pattern that can be considered as nominal height variation of the surface. Both are referred to below as the morphological factor. Considering the patterning procedure involves mainly gentle e-beam lithography and sintering of sol-gel precursor, it is reasonable to assume that the true morphological roughness change raised by the patterning process can be neglected. On the other hand, the nominal height variation due to the existence of the CFO line is highly localized within the nanostructure, as can be seen from the inset of figure 6.9(a). This minimizes the possibility of diffuse scattering change due to the influence of morphological factor. Given the near-Bragg scattering condition (i.e., the incident and diffracted angles are both close to Bragg angle), the pattern-modified inhomogeneous strain field that causes deviations from perfect lattice periodicity may carry significant weight in the diffuse scattering intensity variation.

# (2) Two-dimensional high resolution mapping of diffuse scattering intensity

To confirm the observation from figure 6.10 and demonstrate the ROI intensity change in a more illustrative way, z-x-mapping has been conducted on an area that covers a few CFO lines. The mapping is done by sample translation along x and z directions, equivalent to scanning the x-ray beam across the sample at fixed incident angle. The area under investigation is a  $12 \times 4$ 

 $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> square containing portions of 3 CFO lines. The sample moving step size is 200 nm along xdirection, and 100 nm along z-direction. X-ray scattering data are acquired at  $\theta_{\rm in} = \theta_{\rm B} + 0.1^{\circ} =$ 35.824°. The exposure time is fixed at 4 sec at each spot. The integrated intensity changes of ROI-1 and ROI-2 with position are collected, as shown in figure 6.11. Figure 6.11(a) is a schematic illustration of the exposed sample area that includes half the length and one end of the CFO lines. Figures 6.11(b) to 6.11(d) are the XRF signal of Co K $\alpha$  intensity, the integrated intensity of ROI-1, and the integrated intensity of ROI-2, respectively. The bending of the line profile in these plots is due to the sample drifting during the long time scan (the total collecting time of this scan is about 10 hrs). The uneven background contrast in figures 6.11(c) and 6.11(d) is caused by the slight offset of the incident beam angle away from the ideal 35.824° along at different regions of this 12 × 4  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> area. This is due to a minor sample tilting about z-axis, which can be hard to correct by system alignment since sample stage rotation about z-axis is not allowed.



Figure 6.11: (a) Schematic illustration of the sample area; (b) XRF signal; (b) Variation of the integrated specular reflection intensity (ROI-1) across this area; (c) Variation of the integrated diffuse scattering intensity (ROI-2) across this area. The high contrast at bottom-right is probably due to a random substrate defect (i.e., a scratch).

By comparing the XRF signal and the intensity variation of ROI-1 and ROI-2, there is clearly a tendency of consistent intensity change in diffuse scattering signal at both sides of each line along the length direction. The absolute intensities at these peak positions in figure 6.11(d) range between 78000 to 82000 counts, whereas intensities further away from the edges are below ~68000 counts. The continuity of the intensity profile suggests that the CFO lines are fully mechanically "clamped" along the length direction by the substrate.

We notice from figures 6.10 and 6.11 that the peak positions of the diffuse scattering intensity do not correspond exactly to the edge positions of the CFO lines. Rather, they seem to show up repeatedly at a few hundred nanometers away from the physical line edges indicated by SEM image. Further investigation is to take place to explain why the diffuse scattering intensity reaches extrema at such positions. At this stage, however, we should point out that the diffraction geometry at 35.824° incidence and the size of the beam footprint (about 340 nm) may both contribute to this phenomenon. Particularly, we should consider the effect of x-ray interaction with sample along the depth direction. Because the three-dimensional strain field distribution in MgO substrate near nanolines and the variation of the lattice deformation along the depth direction below the pattern, the correspondence between the ROI-2 intensity variation and the highest extent of lattice perturbation can be rather complicated.<sup>286</sup> However, the characteristic profile exhibited by the diffuse scattering intensity is indicative of the deformation induced by an edge force due to the nanopatterned geometry.

Another interesting feature observed from the intensity maps is: the intensity contour near the edges seem to extend further along the longitudinal direction (i.e., x-direction) than the position of the line end observed from both figure 6.11(c) and 6.11(d). This has suggested that

the lattice perturbation (i.e., strain) other than the morphological factor may be the major contribution to the diffused scattering increase at the CFO edge position. It further implies that the lattice perturbation induced in the substrate may extend further than the length of the pattern, probably due to the high length/width aspect ratio of the CFO lines. It is known that the edgeeffect is strongly related to the geometry of the pattern. For example, finite element analysis has shown a more prominent increase of stress in the substrate at pattern edge for patterns with higher width/height ratio.<sup>263</sup> In our experiment, the CFO lines have length/width aspect ratio as high as about  $10 \sim 20$ , which can potentially result in a different strain field distribution in MgO at the tails of lines as compared with at near the side edges. To confirm this, multiple z-scans are conducted under identical conditions with the exception of the illuminated position with respect to the end of one CFO line. Figure 6.12(a) shows four typical scan results from (i) in the middle of the line; (ii) at the end of the line; (iii) about 800 nm away from the line end; and (iv) about 2.6 µm away from the line end. Figure 6.12(b) is a schematic illustration showing the relative positions where each scan is performed. It can be inferred from the plot that the intensity contour from both sides of the line meets and closes at the end of the line. It further extends a certain length along the line direction. This extension length is more than 1/3 of the line length. This clearly suggests that a non-zero strain field still exists in the substrate even at a certain distance away from the end of the line along the longitudinal direction and gradually dissipates along this direction. Similar epilayer strip structures have been extensively studied theoretically using FEA method.<sup>263, 287</sup> Further, the longitudinal component of stress in the substrate is expected to be the highest due to the large constraint along the line direction.<sup>46</sup> Therefore, the extension of the intensity contour may be the result of the non-zero longitudinal stress dissipation

along the line direction. To our knowledge this is the first time the existence of a substantial deformation in a substrate area outside of the patterned region induced by the pattern/substrate constraint is experimentally observed.



Figure 6.12: (a) Plots of integrated ROI-2 intensity at different longitudinal positions. From top to bottom: scan results at x-positions corresponding to the middle of the CFO line, at the end of the line, 800 nm away from the line end and 2.6 μm away from the line end. All line scans are plotted within the same vertical scale. (b) Schematic illustration of the relative positions where the scans are performed.

#### 6.3.4 Comments on the microdiffraction method employed in this work

Diffuse x-ray scattering has emerged over the past two decades as a powerful way to analyze the correlation of interfacial roughness between successive layers,<sup>288-290</sup> as well as determination of shape, size, strain profile and positional correlation of mesoscopic and nanoscale semiconductor structures.<sup>291-293</sup> In most cases, diffuse scattering measurements are made at small angles of incidence or grazing incidence. Grazing-incidence x-rays penetrate only several hundred angstroms into the sample and therefore may be limited for probing structures at larger depths. In our exploratory work, diffuse scattering intensity at near-Bragg incident angles on a synchrotron x-ray microbeam set-up is measured and plotted as a function of the position with respect to the epilayer pattern edge. For systems with discrete nanopatterns and a low lattice mismatch between substrate and patterned material, this approach is potentially a suitable alternative of conventional x-ray diffraction. For such systems, the low diffraction intensity from individual pattern or the small intensity variation due to strain induced in the weakly deformed substrate can add formidable difficulties in data collection with conventional diffraction methods. Although interpretation of the experimental data are still at developmental stage, nevertheless the initial results offer points of interests in understanding the influence of the pattern geometry on the spatial constraint related phenomena. Theoretical modeling of various possible contributions to the diffuse scattering amplitude is indispensable in order to disentangle the strain field information. This is further discussed as future work in chapter 7.

#### 6.4 SUMMARY

This chapter describes our exploratory work on site-specific probing of the dimensional constraint effect in a nanopatterned system using synchrotron x-ray microbeam technique. X-ray microdiffraction method has been employed on single crystal (001) MgO substrate patterned with epitaxial CFO nanolines, aiming at investigation of the localized strain field variation in the substrate in vicinity of the pattern free edges. Specular reflection and diffuse scattering intensities from the MgO substrate are collected at near-Bragg incident angles. The diffuse scattering intensity has shown consistent peak value near the line edge positions. Further, the higher intensity extends more than 2 µm away from the line tail along the longitudinal direction. Lattice perturbation caused by the edge-induced strain field in the substrate is considered to be a major reason for this intensity variation. Better understanding of the experimental results and theoretical modeling are required to achieve quantitative understanding of the patterning-modified stress distribution in a sol-gel derived nano-constrained system.

# CHAPTER 7 SUMMARY AND FUTURE WORK

#### 7.1 SUMMARY OF THE DISSERTATION

In this dissertation, we report the development of VP-soft-eBL approach, a facile and versatile patterning scheme for fabrication and microstructural engineering of spatially and dimensionally constrained functional oxide nanostructures. Combining the advantages of the electron beam lithography and wet chemistry synergistically, VP-soft-eBL resolves challenges in nanofabrication of refractory and chemically inert ceramics from either pure "top-down" or pure "bottom-up" methods. We have demonstrated that the VP-soft-eBL approach possesses four major attributes pertinent to patterning of oxide ceramics: etch-free, high spatial resolution, registry and material/substrate generality.

Based on its remarkable versatility, the scope of VP-soft-eBL has been greatly expanded not only as a nanofabrication technique for spatially constrained oxide nanostructures at diverse dimensionalities, but also as an enabler for exquisite control over morphology, shape evolution, and crystalline orientation of these nanostructures. Our effort span fabrication and structural engineering of zero-dimensional to three-dimensional nanostructures, and understanding of fundamentals in the VP-eBL process. Embedded are varied site-specific characterizations of the nanopatterns, using scanning probe microscopy, electron microscopy and synchrotron x-ray probe. Particularly: (1) Zero-dimensional CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> and BaTiO<sub>3</sub> nanodisc arrays are fabricated with preferred crystallinity and orientation on diverse substrates. We show that below a certain pattern aspect ratio, the as-deposited amorphous nanodiscs can be readily converted into epitaxial, single-crystal form. The mechanism of microstructure development with the pattern size change is discussed. Patterning controlled morphology is demonstrated on zero-dimensional and one-dimensional nanostructures by simply tuning the VP-soft-eBL patterning parameters. The structure, chemical nature and functionality identity of the VP-soft-eBL fabricated nanostructures are probed with a complementary set of characterization tools.

(2) The enhancement of proximity effects due to the beam skirt in VP-eBL process is of primary concern when fabricating dense two-dimensional grid patterns over large areas. We have developed an analytical method to predict the distribution of the energy deposited by the beam skirt, using a modified form of the proximity function suitable for VP-eBL condition. This analytical method allows for dose compensation during VP-eBL patterning and serves as a platform to analyze the general distribution of electrons in the beam skirt. Incorporating these proximity effects in pattern design, two-dimensional, high-pattern-density BaTiO<sub>3</sub> grids are fabricated with precise size control.

(3) Patterning of vertically-stacked and radially-stacked heterostructures have been demonstrated for VP-soft-eBL. Particularly, modification of the substrate hydrophobicity with self-assembled monolayers allows for formation of nanoring "reservoirs", which can be filled with a different sol to form "core-shell" heterostructure patterns. This directed patterning of oxide heterostructures avoids painstaking feature-alignment procedure between fabrication of the

first and second materials. This contribution demonstrates the efficacy and feasibility of fabricating hybrid oxide nanostructures via VP-soft-eBL.

The dissertation also incorporates the exploratory work performed in our laboratory on sitespecific probing of the dimensional constraint effect in a nanopatterned system using synchrotron x-ray microbeam technique. This work utilizes 1D epitaxial patterns fabricated via VP-soft-eBL as test-structures, and employs diffuse scattering intensity from the substrate as a gauge to provide indicative information of lattice perturbation caused by the edge-induced strain field. This work, albeit still in developmental stage, may prove an interesting approach to investigate the VP-soft-eBL patterned oxides under diverse dimensional confinement conditions.

The reported approach to the formation of oxide nanopatterns with controlled microstructure, as well as the site-specific characterization strategy, is highly general. Our effort described in this dissertation lays the groundwork for in-depth exploration in the rich phenomena related to the spatial and dimensional confinement for functional ceramics. Combined with further refinement, it may open up wide possibilities of achieving novel functionalities and applications that require miniaturized functional oxide building blocks.
### **7.2 SUGGESTIONS ON FUTURE WORK**

Based on the VP-soft-eBL platform, further work on dimensionally constrained oxide nanopatterns can be focused on obtaining site-specific microstructural and functional information from the nanostructures. Specifically, the following research directions can be explored.

I. Development and advancing of innovative characterization methodologies applicable to nanopatterned systems

(1) Continuing efforts on advancing high resolution x-ray diffraction technique

In this area, applying the x-ray microdiffraction technique to investigate the influence of pattern geometry for the epitaxial nanopattern/susbstrate system can be an exciting subject. Analytical work has shown the normalized stresses in both semiconductor or metal epilayers and the underlying substrate are significantly modified by the aspect ratio of the pattern.<sup>154, 263, 267, 294</sup> Experimental observation of the aspect ratio effect for sol-derived oxide nanopatterns will help establish such relationship for oxide-on-oxide systems. The same strategy can be also applied to investigate the ferroelectric nanostructures, aiming to set up the correlation of strain-microstructure-ferroelectric performance.

On the other hand, it is necessary to achieve quantitative analysis on the x-ray microdiffraction data. Knowledge obtained from our experiments can be incorporated with TEM analysis and/or simulation results to relate the amount of stress or strain in the nanopattern (or in the substrate) with lattice distortion or interfacial defects. *In-situ* monitoring the diffraction intensity change under heating or external magnetic field can be also carried out to probe the

intrinsic strain field development and the strain field change related to magnetocrysatalline anisotropy of the patterned materials.

(2) Direct observation of the strain distribution in a nanopatterned system using Electron Backscatter Diffraction (EBSD)

EBSD is a technique which allows crystallographic information to be obtained from samples in the SEM, by striking a stationary electron beam on a tilted sample and obtaining the diffracted electrons pattern on a fluorescent screen. The diffraction pattern can be used to measure the crystal orientation, measure grain boundary misorientations, discriminate between different materials, and provide information about local crystalline imperfection. EBSD method has been utilized to measure elastic strain and small lattice rotations on epitaxial semiconductor films including SiGe/Si, AlGaAs/GaAs and GaN/sapphire systems.<sup>295-299</sup> Compared with other characterization techniques, EBSD enjoys the following unique advantages:

- Lateral resolution down to some ten nm
- Information depth between 50 to 100 nm
- Strain sensitivity up to  $\pm 2 \times 10^{-4}$
- Short acquisition time of 10 to 100 points/sec

Although precedents of EBSD study on substrate-integrated oxide nanopatterns have not been widely reported, it is highly possible that this technique can be very useful for the VP-softeBL fabricated systems given the high crystalline quality and the surface smoothness that can be achieved.

(3) Investigation of microstructural evolution during sintering of sol-derived nanopatterns using grazing-incidence small-angle x-ray scattering (GISAXS).

We have noticed that the size constraint may result in different microstructural development kinetics for nanostructures compared with thin films or bulk materials derived from sol-gel systems.<sup>133</sup> It is imperative to study the constrained sintering effect especially in the early stage of nucleation, which is normally very challenging to detect due to the very small size of the nuclei and/or pores. Our preliminary work on applying GISAXS to *in-situ* monitoring the grain or pore growth in the sol-gel derived SnO<sub>2</sub> nanostructures has shown its great potential in this area. Physical models will need to be developed to interpret the GISAXS results.

# *II. Quantitative assessment on magnetic and ferroelectric properties of VP-soft-eBL prepared nanopatterns*

In this dissertation, functionality assessment on nanopatterns of magnetic and ferroelectric oxides is carried out using AFM-based techniques, i.e., MFM and PFM. Since the spontaneous magnetization for a CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> nanostructure is heavily dependent on its crystallographic characteristic, it can be expected that proper microstructural engineering strategy may enhance the magnetic performance of such nanostructures. Therefore a quantitative knowledge on the magnetic behavior of individual CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> pattern is required. This can be realized by obtaining

macroscopic measurement results in standard magnetometers such as VSM (Vibrating Sample Magnetometer) or SQUID (Superconducting Quantum Interference Device), followed by averaging the magnetization with respect to the number of patterns contained on the sample. For this purpose, samples need to be patterned with high density and over large area in order to get reasonable signal/noise ratio.

The macroscopic measurement can be hard to apply on ferroelectric nanopatterned systems due to the difficulties in depositing the top electrodes and applying electric field. Alternatively, quantitative PFM measurements should be utilized with very careful data interpretation. PFM measurement will be particularly indispensable to probe the so-called "geometric frustration" phenomena in the 2D ferroelectric grids discussed in chapter 4. Preliminary PFM work on such grids has confirmed their piezoelectricity and observed domain switching under in-situ poling, as shown in figure 7.1. Domain imaging is under the way to help visualize the domain distribution across the pattern and particularly in the node areas. With the capability of VP-soft-eBL, one can build a wide range of accessible artificial lattice geometries and even introduce rationally designed defect structures in such lattices. The combination of VP-soft-eBL patterning with highly site-specific PFM therefore enables a full-spectrum investigation of the geometric frustration with artificial ferroelectric lattices.



Figure 7.1: In-situ domain switching measurement performed by poling the patterns with an applied voltage on the PFM tip. The sample is 100 nm-wide BTO 2D grid on (001)
Nb:STO substrate. Inset shows a schematic of the DC bias (± 4V) applied to the pattern and the AC signal (sine wave of 2V amplitude at 43 kHz) used to probe the piezoresponse. Contributor: Aravind Vasudeva Rao, Gopalan group, Pennsylvania State University.

Besides the wide-open opportunities in obtaining site-specific microstructural and functional information from the VP-soft-eBL nanostructures, efforts can also be extended in the following areas:

- Control of the interface bonding between the two different oxides in multiferroic heterostructures to achieve strain-mediated coupling phenomena;
- Optimization of sol-gel recipe and/or the thermal treatment portfolio to achieve preferred microstructure with shorter time and under lower temperature;
- Expanding the VP-soft-eBL in patterning non-oxide nanostructures or oxide/organic hybrid architectures.

### **APPENDICES**

## APPENDIX 4.1 DEDUCTION OF THE FINAL FORM OF Q(x, y)

## 4.1.1 Q(x, y) for line patterns

$$\begin{split} &Q(x,y) = \mathcal{Q}_{s} \iint_{u \ v} P_{-LHV}(x-u,y-v)f(u,v)dudv \\ &= \mathcal{Q}_{s} \iint_{u \ v} \sum_{i=-K}^{K} U(x-u-id,y-v)f(u,v)dudv \\ &= \mathcal{Q}_{s} \sum_{i=-K}^{K} \iint_{u \ v} U(x-u-id,y-v)f(u,v)dudv \\ &= \mathcal{Q}_{s} \sum_{i=-K}^{K} \int_{x-id-W_{2}}^{x-id+W_{2}} \int_{y-L_{2}}^{y+L_{2}} f(u,v)dudv \\ &= \mathcal{Q}_{s} \sum_{i=-K}^{K} \int_{x-id-W_{2}}^{x-id+W_{2}} \int_{y-L_{2}}^{y+L_{2}} \frac{1}{(1+\eta)\pi} \left[ \frac{1}{\alpha^{2}} \exp(-\frac{u^{2}+v^{2}}{\alpha^{2}}) + \frac{\eta}{\beta^{2}} \exp(-\frac{u^{2}+v^{2}}{\beta^{2}}) \right] dudv \\ &= \mathcal{Q}_{s} \sum_{i=-K}^{K} \frac{1}{4(1+\eta)} \left[ \left( erf(\frac{x-id+W_{2}}{\alpha}) - erf(\frac{x-id-W_{2}}{\alpha}) \right) * \left( erf(\frac{y+L_{2}}{\alpha}) - erf(\frac{y-L_{2}}{\alpha}) \right) \right] \\ &+ \eta \left( erf(\frac{x-id+W_{2}}{\beta}) - erf(\frac{x-id-W_{2}}{\beta}) \right) * \left( erf(\frac{y+L_{2}}{\beta}) - erf(\frac{y-L_{2}}{\beta}) \right) \right] \end{split}$$

## 4.1.2 Q(x, y) for grid patterns

$$Q(x,y) = Q_s \iint_{u \ v} P_{_GHV}(x-u,y-v) f(u,v) du dv$$
  
=  $Q_s \iint_{u \ v} \left( \sum_{i=-K}^{K} U_x(x-id,y) + \sum_{j=-N}^{N} U_y(x,y-jd) \right) f(u,v) du dv$ 

$$= Q_{s} \Biggl[ \sum_{i=-K}^{K} \iint_{u c} U(x-u-id, y-v) f(u,v) du dv + \sum_{j=-N}^{N} \iint_{u c} U(x-u, y-v-jd) f(u,v) du dv \Biggr]$$

$$= \frac{Q_{s}}{4(1+\eta)} \Biggl[ \left\{ erf(\frac{x-id+W_{2}}{\alpha}) - erf(\frac{x-id-W_{2}}{\alpha}) \right\} * \Biggl[ erf(\frac{y+L_{2}}{\alpha}) - erf(\frac{y-L_{2}}{\alpha}) \Biggr] \Biggr\} \Biggr]$$

$$= \frac{Q_{s}}{4(1+\eta)} \Biggl[ \left\{ erf(\frac{x-id+W_{2}}{\beta}) - erf(\frac{x-id-W_{2}}{\beta}) \right\} * \Biggl[ erf(\frac{y+L_{2}}{\beta}) - erf(\frac{y-L_{2}}{\beta}) \Biggr] \Biggr\} \Biggr] \Biggr]$$

# APPENDIX 4.2 DERIVATION OF EM FOR PROXIMITY PARAMETER DETERMINATION

The marginal distributions  $p(\beta, \eta | \{e_s\}, \alpha^{i-1}, Q_c^{i-1})$  and  $p(\alpha, Q_c | \{e_s\}, \beta^{i-1}, \eta^{i-1})$  can be assumed as Gaussian distributions. In practice, they are approximated with Dirac distributions for simplicity. For example,  $p(\beta, \eta | \{e_s\}, \alpha^{i-1}, Q_c^{i-1}) = \delta(\beta - \beta^{i-1}, \eta - \eta^{i-1})$ . That is, for each step of the first EM, the distribution of  $\beta$  and  $\eta$  is assumed to be concentrated on the derived  $\beta^{i-1}, \eta^{i-1}$  from the previous step in the second EM. Hence, equation 4.13 becomes:

$$K(\alpha, Q_{c}, \alpha^{i-1}, Q_{c}^{i-1}) = \iint_{\beta, \eta} \log p(\{e_{s}\}, \beta, \eta \mid \alpha, Q_{c}) \delta(\beta - \beta^{i-1}, \eta - \eta^{i-1}) d\beta d\eta$$
$$= \log p(\{e_{s}\}, \beta^{i-1}, \eta^{i-1} \mid \alpha, Q_{c})$$
(4.13a)

Next, we assume each  $p(\{e_s\}, \beta^{i-1}, \eta^{i-1} | \alpha, Q_c)$  is a Gaussian distribution, i.e., assuming the observed data is corrupted with independent white noise, as follows:

$$p(\{e_s\},\beta^{i-1},\eta^{i-1} \mid \alpha,Q_c) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma}} e^{-|Q(W/2+e_s,d/2)-Q_c|^2/2\sigma^2}$$

Thus equation 4.13a becomes:

$$K(\alpha, Q_{c}, \alpha^{i-1}, Q_{c}^{i-1}) = \log \prod_{s=1}^{S} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma}} e^{-\frac{|\hat{Q}(W/2 + e_{s}, d/2) - Q_{c}|^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}}$$
$$= -\sum_{s=1}^{S} \frac{\left|\hat{Q}(\frac{W}{2} + e_{s}, \frac{d}{2}) - Q_{c}\right|^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}} - S\log(\sqrt{2\pi\sigma})$$
(4.13b)

where  $\hat{Q}(W/2 + e_s, d/2)$  is computed by equation 4.9, with  $\beta$  and  $\eta$  fixed as  $\beta^{i-1}$  and  $\eta^{i-1}$  respectively.

Finally, based on equation 4.13b,  $K(\alpha, Q_c, \alpha^{i-1}, Q_c^{i-1})$  is maximized in M-step when the

parameters  $\alpha$  and  $Q_c$  minimize  $\sum_{s=1}^{S} \left| \hat{Q}(\frac{W}{2} + e_s, \frac{d}{2}) - Q_c \right|^2$ . That is, equation (4.14) gives

$$(\alpha, Q_c) = \operatorname*{argmin}_{\alpha, Q_c} \sum_{s=1}^{S} \left| \hat{Q}(\frac{W}{2} + e_s, \frac{d}{2}) - Q_c \right|^2$$

The second EM for estimating  $\beta$  and  $\eta$  from the grid pattern with  $\alpha$  and  $Q_c$  as missing data can be derived in the similar fashion, with

$$(\boldsymbol{\beta},\boldsymbol{\eta}) = \operatorname*{argmin}_{\boldsymbol{\beta},\boldsymbol{\eta}} \sum_{s=1}^{S} \left| \widetilde{Q}(\frac{W}{2} + e_s, \frac{d}{2}) - Q_c \right|^2$$

where  $\widetilde{Q}(W/2 + e_s, d/2)$  is computed by equation 4.10 with  $\alpha$  and  $Q_c$  fixed as  $\alpha^{i-1}$  and  $Q_c^{i-1}$  respectively, which are the estimated values from the previous step in the first EM.

#### **APPENDIX 6.1 EXPLANATION OF XRF PEAK POSITION OFFSET IN FIGURE 6.10**

Both incident beam and diffracted beam, when interacting with sample, may contribute to the XRF signal. The XRF yield of a certain element is therefore determined by the intensity of each beam as well as their interaction volume with the sample (diffracted beam is much weaker than the strong incident beam). Figure below schematically illustrates the incident x-ray beam on two symmetric positions with respect to the center of the pattern. In case of a non-perpendicular incidence (e.g.,  $35.824^{\circ}$  incident angle used in our experiment), the total contribution of the incident and diffracted beams to the Co K $\alpha$  fluorescent signal is different on different side of the line, e.g., the XRF intensity is higher at spot A than at spot B. Therefore, the Co K $\alpha$  XRF intensity achieves a maximum before the incident beam reaches the actual center of the pattern.

The broadening of the XRF peak is the result of the convolution between the beam profile and the shape of the nanopattern. It should be pointed out that the beam sizes causing fluorescence is different from that causing diffraction. The full microbeam profile contributes to the fluorescence scan. On the other hand, only the narrow central region of the divergent beam fan contributes to the diffraction profile. This may explain why the broadening of XRF peak is much larger than the FWHM width of peaks in ROI-1and ROI-2 plots. Actually, the expected broadening of ROI-1 and ROI-2 peaks for incident angle of 35.824° and the nominal probe size of 200 nm can be calculated to be around 770 nm. This value corresponds very well to the measured FWHM of ROI-1 and ROI-2 peaks (700~800 nm).



### Schematic illustration of XRF intensity change with incident beam position

### APPENDIX 6.2 CALCULATION OF X-RAY ABSORPTION BY CFO NANOPATTERN

The x-ray transmission after passing through a thin film with thickness of x is given by:

$$T = \exp(-\mu \cdot x)$$

Here  $\mu$  is the linear absorption coefficient of the film material. Using this equation, the absorption of x-ray by the CFO epitaxial pattern is roughly calculated by considering the pattern as a 50 nm single crystal thin film and assuming the incoming and outgoing x-rays both form  $35.824^{\circ}$  angles with the surface of the film. The total x-ray path inside CFO is:

$$x = 2 \times 50 / \sin(35.824^\circ) = 170.853 nm = 1.70853 \times 10^{-5} cm$$

The linear absorption coefficient can be calculated through the mass absorption coefficients  $(\mu/\rho)$  of Co, Fe and O atoms as follows:

$$\mu(\text{CFO}) = \rho_{CFO} \times (\frac{\mu}{\rho})_{CFO} = \rho_{CFO} \times [w_{Co} \cdot (\frac{\mu}{\rho})_{Co} + w_{Fe} \cdot (\frac{\mu}{\rho})_{Fe} + w_O \cdot (\frac{\mu}{\rho})_O],$$

where *w* represents the weight fraction of each element in CFO, and  $\rho_{CFO}$  is the density of CFO (5.3 g/cm<sup>3</sup>). The ( $\mu/\rho$ ) values of Co, Fe and O atoms at 10.08 keV are 184.1 cm<sup>2</sup>/g, 170.6 cm<sup>2</sup>/g and 5.952 cm<sup>2</sup>/g, respectively (from: <u>http://physics.nist.gov/</u>). The weight fractions of these elements are:  $w_{Co} = 0.25118$ ,  $w_{Fe} = 0.47606$ ,  $w_O = 0.27275$ . Inserting the value of *w*,  $\mu/\rho$  and  $\rho_{CFO}$  in the above equation,  $\mu$ (CFO) is calculated to be 682.8768  $\frac{1}{cm}$ . Therefore the transmission is calculated to be 0.9884 and the absorption by CFO is A = 1-0.9884 = 0.0116.

#### REFERENCES

1. J. H. Haeni, P. Irvin, W. Chang, R. Uecker, P. Reiche, Y. L. Li, S. Choudhury, W. Tian, M. E. Hawley, B. Craigo, A. K. Tagantsev, X. Q. Pan, S. K. Streiffer, L. Q. Chen, S. W. Kirchoefer, J. Levy, and D. G. Schlom, Nature, 430, 758-761 (2004).

2. D. D. Fong, G. B. Stephenson, S. K. Streiffer, J. A. Eastman, O. Auciello, P. H. Fuoss, and C. Thompson, Science, 304, 1650-1653 (2004).

3. M. Venkatesan, C. B. Fitzgerald, and J. M. D. Coey, Nature, 430, 630-630 (2004).

4. J. Wang, J. B. Neaton, H. Zheng, V. Nagarajan, S. B. Ogale, B. Liu, D. Viehland, V. Vaithyanathan, D. G. Schlom, U. V. Waghmare, N. A. Spaldin, K. M. Rabe, M. Wuttig, and R. Ramesh, Science, 299, 1719-1722 (2003).

5. Y. Tokura, and N. Nagaosa, Science, 288, 462-468 (2000).

6. J. Li, A. W. Sleight, C. Y. Jones, and B. H. Toby, J. Solid State Chem., 178, 285-294 (2005).

7. A. L. Shaula, V. V. Kharton, N. P. Vyshatko, E. V. Tsipis, M. V. Patrakeev, F. M. B. Marques, and J. R. Frade, J. Eur. Ceram. Soc., 25, 489-499 (2005).

8. A. Tsukada, Y. Krockenberger, M. Noda, H. Yamarnoto, D. Manske, L. Alff, and M. Naito, Solid State Commun., 133, 427-431 (2005).

9. C. Lin, S. A. Al-Muhtaseb, and J. A. Ritter, J. Sol-Gel Sci. Technol., 28, 133-141 (2003).

10. Z. L. Wang, *Nanowires and Nanobelts: Materials, Properties and Devices*, Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2003.

11. S. J. Limmer, T. P. Chou, and G. Z. Cao, J. Sol-Gel Sci. Technol., 36, 183-195 (2005).

12. H. G. Choi, Y. H. Jung, and D. K. Kim, J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 88, 1684-1686 (2005).

13. J. D. Kuntz, G. D. Zhan, and A. K. Mukherjee, MRS Bull., 29, 22-27 (2004).

14. S. Seal, S. C. Kuiry, R. Georgieva, and A. Agarwal, MRS Bull., 29, 16-21 (2004).

15. B. H. Kear, J. Colaizzi, W. E. Mayo, and S. C. Liao, Scripta Mater., 44, 2065-2068 (2001).

16. L. Gao, H. Z. Wang, H. Kawaoka, T. Sekino, and K. Niihara, J. Eur. Ceram. Soc., 22, 785-789 (2002).

17. C. Suryanarayana, G. E. Korth, and F. H. Froes, Metall. Mater. Trans. A, 28, 293-302 (1997).

18. D. K. Agrawal, Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci., 3, 480-485 (1998).

19. N. B. Dahotre, and A. Agarwal, JOM - J. Min. Met. Mater. Soc., 51, 19-21 (1999).

20. N. Saito, H. Haneda, T. Sekiguchi, N. Ohashi, I. Sakaguchi, and K. Koumoto, Adv. Mater., 14, 418-421 (2002).

21. J. W. P. Hsu, Z. R. Tian, N. C. Simmons, C. M. Matzke, J. A. Voigt, and J. Liu, Nano Lett., 5, 83-86 (2005).

22. C. E. Murray, H. F. Yan, I. C. Noyan, Z. Cai, and B. Lai, J. Appl. Phys., 98, Art. No. 013504, (2005).

23. I. C. Noyan, C. E. Murray, J. S. Chey, and C. C. Goldsmith, Appl. Phys. Lett., 85, 724-726 (2004).

24. N. K. Chaki, M. Aslam, J. Sharma, and K. Vijayamohanan, Proc. Ind. Acad. Sci., 113, 659-670 (2001).

25. M. Alexe, J. F. Scott, C. Curran, N. D. Zakharov, D. Hesse, and A. Pignolet, Appl. Phys. Lett., 73, 1592-1594 (1998).

26. M. E. Line and A. M. Glass, *Principles and Applications of Ferroelectrics and Related Materials*, Oxford Eng.: Clarendon Press, 1977.

27. H. S. Nalwa, *Handbook of Low and High Dielectric Constant Materials and Their Applications*, Vol. 2: Phenomena, Properties and Applications, San Diego: Academic Press, 1999.

28. L. Néel, Ann. Phys., 3, 137 (1948).

29. M. A. Willard, M. Q. Huang, D. E. Laughlin, M. E. McHenry, J. O. Cross, V. G. Harris, and C. Franchetti, J. Appl. Phys., 85, 4421-4423 (1999).

30. W. D. Kingery, Introduction to Ceramics, New York: John Wiley & Sons Inc., 1976.

31. B. Viswanathan and V. R. K. Murthy, *Ferrite Materials: Science and Technology*, New Dehli: Narosa Publishing House: 1990.

32. M. Alexe, C. Harnagea, and D. Hesse, J. Electroceram., 12, 69-88 (2004).

33. J. J. Urban, W. S. Yun, Q. Gu, and H. Park, Abstr. Paper Am. Chem. Soc., 223, C68-C68 (2002).

34. Y. Luo, I. Szafraniak, N. D. Zakharov, V. Nagarajan, M. Steinhart, R. B. Wehrspohn, J. H. Wendorff, R. Ramesh, and M. Alexe, Appl. Phys. Lett., 83, 440-442 (2003).

35. W. S. Yun, J. J. Urban, Q. Gu, and H. Park, Nano Lett., 2, 447-450 (2002).

36. N. A. Spaldin, Science, 304, 1606-1607 (2004).

37. T. M. Shaw, S. Trolier-McKinstry, and P. C. McIntyre, Annu. Rev. Mater. Sci., 30, 263-298 (2000).

38. K. M. Rabe, and P. Ghosez, J. Electroceram., 4, 379-383 (2000).

39. B. Meyer, and D. Vanderbilt, Phys. Rev. B, 6320, - (2001).

40. S. Hong, *Nanoscale Phenomena in Ferroelectric Thin Films*, Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2003.

41. P. K. Larsen, G. J. M. Dormans, D. J. Taylor, and P. J. Vanveldhoven, J. Appl. Phys., 76, 2405-2413 (1994).

42. A. K. Tagantsev, and I. A. Stolichnov, Appl. Phys. Lett., 74, 1326-1328 (1999).

43. V. Nagarajan, Appl. Phys. Lett., 87, Art. No. 242905, (2005).

44. S. Buhlmann, B. Dwir, J. Baborowski, and P. Muralt, Appl. Phys. Lett., 80, 3195-3197 (2002).

45. V. Nagarajan, A. Stanishevsky, L. Chen, T. Zhao, B. T. Liu, J. Melngailis, A. L. Roytburd, R. Ramesh, J. Finder, Z. Yu, R. Droopad, and K. Eisenbeiser, Appl. Phys. Lett., 81, 4215-4217 (2002).

46. A. I. Sauter, and W. D. Nix, IEEE Trans. IEEE Trans. Comp., Hybr. Manufact. Technol., 15, 594-600 (1992).

47. M. Alexe, C. Harnagea, A. Visinoiu, A. Pignolet, D. Hesse, and U. Gosele, Scripta Mater., 44, 1175-1179 (2001).

48. D. W. Kim, D. H. Kim, B. S. Kang, T. W. Noh, D. R. Lee, and K. B. Lee, Appl. Phys. Lett., 74, 2176-2178 (1999).

49. J. K. Lee, T. Y. Kim, I. Chung, and S. B. Desu, Appl. Phys. Lett., 75, 334-336 (1999).

50. J. I. Martin, J. Nogues, K. Liu, J. L. Vicent, and I. K. Schuller, J. Magn. Magn. Mater., 256, 449-501 (2003).

51. V. Moshnyaga, B. Damaschke, O. Shapoval, A. Belenchuk, J. Faupel, O. I. Lebedev, J. Verbeeck, G. Van Tendeloo, M. Mucksch, V. Tsurkan, R. Tidecks, and K. Samwer, Nature Mater., 2, 247-252 (2003).

52. G. Srinivasan, E. T. Rasmussen, J. Gallegos, R. Srinivasan, Y. I. Bokhan, and V. M. Laletin, Phys. Rev. B, 6421, Art. No. 214408 (2001).

53. G. Srinivasan, V. M. Laletsin, R. Hayes, N. Puddubnaya, E. T. Rasmussen, and D. J. Fekel, Solid State Communications, 124, 373-378 (2002).

54. Y. K. Fetisov, K. E. Kamentsev, and A. Y. Ostashchenko, J. Magn. Magn. Mater., 272-76, 2064-2066 (2004).

55. H. Zheng, J. Wang, S. E. Lofland, Z. Ma, L. Mohaddes-Ardabili, T. Zhao, L. Salamanca-Riba, S. R. Shinde, S. B. Ogale, F. Bai, D. Viehland, Y. Jia, D. G. Schlom, M. Wuttig, A. Roytburd, and R. Ramesh, Science, 303, 661-663 (2004).

56. Z. Shi, C. W. Nan, J. M. Liu, D. A. Filippov, and M. I. Bichurin, Phys. Rev. B, 70, - (2004).

57. Z. Shi, and C. W. Nan, Acta Phys. Sinica, 53, 2766-2770 (2004).

58. H. Zheng, Q. Zhan, F. Zavaliche, M. Sherburne, F. Straub, M. P. Cruz, L. Q. Chen, U. Dahmen, and R. Ramesh, Nano Lett., 6, 1401-1407 (2006).

59. Vandenbo.J, D. R. Terrell, R. A. J. Born, and H. F. J. I. Giller, J. Mater. Sci., 9, 1705-1709 (1974).

60. J. Echigoya, S. Hayashi, and Y. Obi, J. Mater. Sci., 35, 5587-5591 (2000).

61. C. W. Nan, G. Liu, Y. H. Lin, and H. D. Chen, Phys. Rev. Lett., 94, Art. No. 197203 (2005).

62. D. A. Payne, and P. G. Clem, J. Electroceram., 3, 163-172 (1999).

63. P. W. Leech, and M. C. Ridgway, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A, 17, 3358-3361 (1999).

64. R. Ramesh, S. Aggarwal, and O. Auciello, Mater. Sci. Eng. R, 32, 191-236 (2001).

65. C. Pham-Huu, N. Keller, C. Estournes, G. Ehret, and M. J. Ledoux, Chem. Commun., 1882-1883 (2002).

66. G. B. Ji, S. L. Tang, B. L. Xu, B. X. Gu, and Y. W. Du, Chem. Phys. Lett., 379, 484-489 (2003).

67. Z. T. Zhang, A. J. Rondinone, J. X. Ma, J. Shen, and S. Dai, Adv. Mater., 17, 1419-1425 (2005).

68. J. H. He, J. H. Hsu, C. W. Wang, H. N. Lin, L. J. Chen, and Z. L. Wang, J. Phys. Chem. B, 110, 50-53 (2006).

69. S. Budak, G. X. Miao, M. Ozdemir, K. B. Chetry, and A. Gupta, J. Cryst. Growth, 291, 405-411 (2006).

70. J. S. Jung, J. H. Lim, K. H. Choi, S. L. Oh, Y. R. Kim, S. H. Lee, D. A. Smith, K. L. Stokes, L. Malkinski, and C. J. O'Connor, J. Appl. Phys., 97, Art. No. 10F306 (2005).

71. W. H. Ma, and D. Hesse, Appl. Phys. Lett., 84, 2871-2873 (2004).

72. W. H. Ma, C. Harnagea, D. Hesse, and U. Gosele, Appl. Phys. Lett., 83, 3770-3772 (2003).

73. C. S. Ganpule, A. Stanishevsky, Q. Su, S. Aggarwal, J. Melngailis, E. Williams, and R. Ramesh, Appl. Phys. Lett., 75, 409-411 (1999).

74. C. S. Ganpule, A. Stanishevsky, S. Aggarwal, J. Melngailis, E. Williams, R. Ramesh, V. Joshi, and C. P. de Araujo, Appl. Phys. Lett., 75, 3874-3876 (1999).

75. V. Nagarajan, A. Roytburd, A. Stanishevsky, S. Prasertchoung, T. Zhao, L. Chen, J. Melngailis, O. Auciello, and R. Ramesh, Nature Mater., 2, 43-47 (2003).

76. H. Saka, G. Nagaya, T. Sakuishi, and S. Abe, Radiat Eff. Defects Solids, 148, 319-332 (1999).

77. A. Schilling, T. Adams, R. M. Bowman, and J. M. Gregg, Nanotechnol., 18, Art. No. 035301 (2007).

78. A. Stanishevsky, B. Nagaraj, J. Melngailis, R. Ramesh, L. Khriachtchev, and E. McDaniel, J. Appl. Phys., 92, 3275-3278 (2002).

79. R. J. Young, J. R. A. Cleaver, and H. Ahmed, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 11, 234-241 (1993).

80. Y. Ochiai, K. Gamo, S. Namba, K. Shihoyama, A. Masuyama, T. Shiokawa, and K. Toyoda, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 5, 423-426 (1987).

81. K. Edinger, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 17, 3058-3062 (1999).

82. J. Melngailis, Handbook of VLSI Microlithography: Principles, Technology, and Applications, Park Ridge, N. J.: William Andrew Pub., 2001.

83. A. A. Tseng, Small, 1, 924-939 (2005).

84. T. R. Groves, D. Pickard, B. Rafferty, N. Crosland, D. Adam, and G. Schubert, Microelectron. Eng., 61-2, 285-293 (2002).

85. M. Khoury, and D. K. Ferry, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 14, 75-79 (1996).

86. S. Okamura, K. Mori, T. Tsukamoto, and T. Shiosaki, Integr. Ferroelectr., 18, 311-318 (1997).

87. M. Alexe, C. Harnagea, W. Erfurth, D. Hesse, and U. Gosele, Appl. Phys. A, 70, 247-251 (2000).

88. M. Alexe, C. Harnagea, D. Hesse, and U. Gosele, Appl. Phys. Lett., 75, 1793-1795 (1999).

89. T. Tsakalakos, I. A. Ovid'ko, and A. K. Vasudevan, *Nanostructures: Synthesis, Functional Properties and Applications*, Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2001.

90. C. Harnagea, M. Alexe, J. Schilling, J. Choi, R. B. Wehrspohn, D. Hesse, and U. Gosele, Appl. Phys. Lett., 83, 1827-1829 (2003).

91. N. H. Li, W. Wu, and S. Y. Chou, Nano Lett., 6, 2626-2629 (2006).

92. S. Zankovych, T. Hoffmann, J. Seekamp, J. U. Bruch, and C. M. S. Torres, Nanotechnol., 12, 91-95 (2001).

93. Y. N. Xia, and G. M. Whitesides, Annu. Rev. Mater. Sci., 28, 153-184 (1998).

94. E. Kim, Y. N. Xia, and G. M. Whitesides, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 118, 5722-5731 (1996).

95. N. L. Jeon, I. S. Choi, B. Xu, and G. M. Whitesides, Adv. Mater., 11, 946-949 (1999).

96. S. Seraji, Y. Wu, N. E. Jewell-Larson, M. J. Forbess, S. J. Limmer, T. P. Chou, and G. Z. Cao, Adv. Mater., 12, 1421-1424 (2000).

97. M. Heule, J. Schell, and L. J. Gauckler, J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 86, 407-412 (2003).

98. P. M. Moran, and F. F. Lange, Appl. Phys. Lett., 74, 1332-1334 (1999).

99. J. H. Kim, F. F. Lange, and C. I. Cheon, J. Mater. Res., 14, 1194-1196 (1999).

100. C. R. Martin, and I. A. Aksay, J. Phys. Chem. B, 107, 4261-4268 (2003).

101. Y. K. Hwang, S. Y. Woo, J. H. Lee, D. Y. Jung, and Y. U. Kwon, Chem. Mater., 12, 2059-2063 (2000).

102. C. Bechinger, H. Muffler, C. Schafle, O. Sundberg, and P. Leiderer, Thin Solid Films, 366, 135-138 (2000).

103. C. R. Martin, and I. A. Aksay, J. Electroceram., 12, 53-68 (2004).

104. K. S. Seol, S. Tomita, K. Takeuchi, T. Miyagawa, T. Katagiri, and Y. Ohki, Appl. Phys. Lett., 81, 1893-1895 (2002).

105. I. Szafraniak, C. Harnagea, R. Scholz, S. Bhattacharyya, D. Hesse, and M. Alexe, Appl. Phys. Lett., 83, 2211-2213 (2003).

106. H. Herrig, and R. Hempelmann, Mater. Lett., 27, 287-292 (1996).

107. M. Dawber, I. Szafraniak, M. Alexe, and J. F. Scott, J. Phys.: Condens. Matter, 15, L667-L671 (2003).

108. K. B. Lee, S. J. Park, C. A. Mirkin, J. C. Smith, and M. Mrksich, Science, 295, 1702-1705 (2002).

109. L. M. Demers, D. S. Ginger, S. J. Park, Z. Li, S. W. Chung, and C. A. Mirkin, Science, 296, 1836-1838 (2002).

110. Y. Li, B. W. Maynor, and J. Liu, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 123, 2105-2106 (2001).

111. A. Ivanisevic, and C. A. Mirkin, Abstr. Paper Am. Chem. Soc., 222, U325-U325 (2001).

112. M. Su, X. G. Liu, S. Y. Li, V. P. Dravid, and C. A. Mirkin, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 124, 1560-1561 (2002).

113. M. Su, and V. P. Dravid, Appl. Phys. Lett., 80, 4434-4436 (2002).

114. M. Su, V. P. Dravid, and C. A. Mirkin, Abstr. Paper Am. Chem. Soc., 224, U410-U410 (2002).

115. M. Su, S. Y. Li, and V. P. Dravid, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 125, 9930-9931 (2003).

116. L. Fu, X. G. Liu, Y. Zhang, V. P. Dravid, and C. A. Mirkin, Nano Lett., 3, 757-760 (2003).

117. S. H. Hong, and C. A. Mirkin, Science, 288, 1808-1811 (2000).

118. M. S. M. Saifullah, K. R. V. Subramanian, D. J. Kang, D. Anderson, W. T. S. Huck, G. A. C. Jones, and M. E. Welland, Adv. Mater., 17, 1757-1761 (2005).

119. B. D. Gates, Q. B. Xu, M. Stewart, D. Ryan, C. G. Willson, and G. M. Whitesides, Chem. Rev., 105, 1171-1196 (2005).

120. D. J. Kim, J. P. Maria, A. I. Kingon, and S. K. Streiffer, J. Appl. Phys., 93, 5568-5575 (2003).

121. K. D. Cummings, and M. Kiersh, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 7, 1536-1539 (1989).

122. D. R. S. Cumming, I. I. Khandaker, S. Thoms, and B. G. Casey, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 15, 2859-2863 (1997).

123. K. Hashimoto, T. Koizumi, T. Sakashita, K. Kawakita, and N. Nomura, Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. B, 39, 813-816 (1989).

124. M. Angelopoulos, N. Patel, J. M. Shaw, N. C. Labianca, and S. A. Rishton, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 11, 2794-2797 (1993).

125. B. D. Myers, and V. P. Dravid, Nano Lett., 6, 963-968 (2006).

126. B. D. Myers, Z. Pan, S. Donthu, and V. P. Dravid, Proc. Microsc. Microanal., 13, 174-175 (2007).

127. G. D. Danilatos, Adv. Electron. Electron Phys., 71, 109-250 (1988).

128. B. L. Thiel, I. C. Bache, A. L. Fletcher, P. Meredith, and A. M. Donald, J. Microsc. (Oxford), 187, 143-157 (1997).

129. B. K. Paul, Scanning, 19, 466-468 (1997).

130. B. K. Paul, and M. Klimkiewicz, Scanning, 18, 490-496 (1996).

131. P. Meredith, A. M. Donald, and B. Thiel, Scanning, 18, 467-473 (1996).

132. S. Clemens, T. Schnell, A. Hart, F. Peter, and R. Waser, Adv. Mater., 17, 1357-1361 (2005).

133. S. Donthu, Z. X. Pan, B. Myers, G. Shekhawat, N. G. Wu, and V. Dravid, Nano Lett., 5, 1710-1715 (2005).

134. L. Klein, J. S. Dodge, C. H. Ahn, G. J. Snyder, T. H. Geballe, M. R. Beasley, and A. Kapitulnik, Phys. Rev. Lett., 77, 2774-2777 (1996).

135. K. Donthu, N. Alem, Z. Pan, S.-Y. Li, G. Shekhawat, and V. Dravid, IEEE Trans. Nanotech., 7, Art. No. 917793 (2008).

136. Z. W. Pan, Z. R. Dai, and Z. L. Wang, Science, 291, 1947-1949 (2001).

137. M. Alexe, and D. Hesse, J. Mater. Sci., 41, 1-11 (2006).

138. H. X. Fu, and L. Bellaiche, Phys. Rev. Lett., 91, Art. No. 257601 (2003).

139. H. J. Shin, J. H. Choi, H. J. Yang, Y. D. Park, Y. Kuk, and C. J. Kang, Appl. Phys. Lett., 87, Art. No. 113114 (2005).

140. D. Ruzmetov, Y. Seo, L. J. Belenky, D.-M. Kim, X. Ke, H. Sun, V. Chandrasehar, C.-B. Eom, M. S. Rzchowaki, and X. Pan, Adv. Mater., 17, 2869-2872 (2005).

141. V. A. L. Roy, A. B. Djurisic, H. Liu, X. X. Zhang, Y. H. Leung, M. H. Xie, J. Gao, H. F. Lui, and C. Surya, Appl. Phys. Lett., 84, 756-758 (2004).

142. Y. N. Xia, P. D. Yang, Y. G. Sun, Y. Y. Wu, B. Mayers, B. Gates, Y. D. Yin, F. Kim, and Y. Q. Yan, Adv. Mater., 15, 353-389 (2003).

143. M. T. Bryan, D. Atkinson, and C. R. P., J. Phys.: Conf. Ser., 17, 40 (2005).

144. Ruzmetov D., Seo Y., Belenky L. J., Kim D-M, Ke X., Sun H., Chandrasehar V., Eom C-B., Rzchowaki M. S., and P. X., Adv. Mater., 17, 2869-2872 (2005).

145. M. Hiratani, C. Okazaki, H. Hasegawa, N. Sugii, Y. Tarutani, and K. Takagi, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., Part 1, 36, 5219-5220 (1997).

146. A. Cofer, P. Rajora, S. DeOrnellas, and D. Keil, Integr. Ferroelectr., 16, 53-61 (1997).

- 147. S. Donthu, T. Sun, and V. Dravid, Adv. Mater., 19, 125-128 (2007).
- 148. Z. X. Pan, N. Alem, T. Sun, and V. P. Dravid, Nano Lett., 6, 2344-2348 (2006).
- 149. M. H. Zhao, R. Fu, D. Lu, and T. Y. Zhang, Acta Mater., 50, 4241-4254 (2002).
- 150. M. S. Hu, and A. G. Evans, Acta Metall., 37, 917-925 (1989).
- 151. M. D. Thouless, J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 73, 2144-2146 (1990).
- 152. M. D. Thouless, E. Olsson, and A. Gupta, Acta Metall. Mater., 40, 1287-1292 (1992).
- 153. T. Ye, Z. Suo, and A. G. Evans, Int. J. Solids Struct., 29, 2639-2648 (1992).
- 154. A. Atkinson, and R. M. Guppy, J. Mater. Sci., 26, 3869-3873 (1991).
- 155. H. Kozuka, J. Sol-Gel Sci. Technol., 40, 287-297 (2006).
- 156. G. Y. Yang, E. C. Dickey, C. A. Randall, M. S. Randall, and L. A. Mann, J. Appl. Phys., 94, 5990-5996 (2003).
- 157. C. H. Pang, P. Hing, and A. See, J. Vac. Sci. .Technol. B, 20, 1866-1869 (2002).
- 158. E. J. Siem, and E. Johnson, Philos. Mag., 85, 1273-1290 (2005).
- 159. Y. Suzuki, Annu. Rev. Mater. Sci. 31, 265-289 (2001).
- 160. H. T. Johnson, and L. B. Freund, J. Appl. Phys., 81, 6081-6090 (1997).
- 161. T. I. Kamins, D. A. A. Ohlberg, R. S. Williams, W. Zhang, and S. Y. Chou, Appl. Phys. Lett., 74, 1773-1775 (1999).
- 162. N. D. Machtay, and R. V. Kukta, J. Appl. Mech., 73, 212-219 (2006).
- 163. G. Medeiros-Ribeiro, A. M. Bratkovski, T. I. Kamins, D. A. A. Ohlberg, and R. S. Williams, Science, 279, 353-355 (1998).
- 164. J. Jalkanen, O. Trushin, E. Granato, S. C. Ying, and T. Ala-Nissila, Phys. Rev. B, 72, Art. No. 081403 (2005).
- 165. U. Denker, and D. E. Jesson, Phys. Status Solidi B, 242, 2455-2461 (2005).
- 166. H. Y. Lee, J. S. Kim, and S. J. L. Kang, Interface Sci., 8, 223-229 (2000).
- 167. S. Krupicka, and P. Novak, *Oxide Spinels*, Vol. 3, Amsterdam: North-Holland Physics Publishing, 1982.

168. T. Nishida, S. Okamura, T. Shiosaki, S. Fujita, and Y. Masuda, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., Part 1, 38, 5337-5341 (1999).

169. C. B. Eom, R. A. Rao, Q. Gan, K. Wasa, and D. J. Werder, Integr. Ferroelectr., 21, 251-261 (1998).

170. T. Nozaka, and Y. Masuda, Ferroelectr., 357, 840-+ (2007).

171. V. Nagarajan, C. S. Ganpule, A. Stanishevsky, B. T. Liu, and R. Ramesh, Microsc. Microanal., 8, 333-349 (2002).

172. A. Gruverman, B. J. Rodriguez, A. I. Kingon, R. J. Nemanich, J. S. Cross, and M. Tsukada, Appl. Phys. Lett., 82, 3071-3073 (2003).

173. A. Gruverman, B. J. Rodriguez, A. I. Kingon, R. J. Nemanich, A. K. Tagantsev, J. S. Cross, and M. Tsukada, Appl. Phys. Lett., 83, 728-730 (2003).

174. M. Alexe, and D. Hesse, J. Mater. Sci., 41, 1-11 (2006).

175. M. Dawber, I. Szafraniak, M. Alexe, and J. F. Scott, J. Phys.- Condens. Matter, 15, L667-L671 (2003).

176. O. Warschkow, M. Asta, N. Erdman, K. R. Poeppelmeier, D. E. Ellis, and L. D. Marks, Surf. Sci., 573, 446-456 (2004).

177. H. Zheng, Q. Zhan, F. Zavaliche, M. Sherburne, F. Straub, M. P. Cruz, L.-Q. Chen, U. Dahmen, and R. Ramesh, Nano Lett., 6, 1401-1407 (2006).

178. F. Sanchez, U. Luders, G. Herranz, I. C. Infante, J. Fontcuberta, M. V. Garcia-Cuenca, C. Ferrater, and M. Varela, Nanotechnol., 16, S190-S196 (2005).

179. R. K. Mishra, and G. Thomas, J. Appl. Phys., 48, 4576-4580 (1977).

180. J. G. Deak, and R. H. Koch, J. Magn. Magn. Mater., 213, 25-31 (2000).

181. T. Kimura, T. Goto, H. Shintani, K. Ishizaka, T. Arima, and Y. Tokura, Nature, 426, 55-58 (2003).

182. N. Hur, S. Park, P. A. Sharma, J. S. Ahn, S. Guha, and S. W. Cheong, Nature, 429, 392-395 (2004).

183. G. Lawes, A. B. Harris, T. Kimura, N. Rogado, R. J. Cava, A. Aharony, O. Entin-Wohlman, T. Yildirim, M. Kenzelmann, C. Broholm, and A. P. Ramirez, Phys. Rev. Lett., 95, Art. No. 087205 (2005).

184. T. Kimura, J. C. Lashley, and A. P. Ramirez, Phys. Rev. B, 73, Art. No. 220401 (2006).

185. Y. Yamasaki, S. Miyasaka, Y. Kaneko, J. P. He, T. Arima, and Y. Tokura, Phys. Rev. Lett., 96, Art. No. 207204 (2006).

186. K. Taniguchi, N. Abe, T. Takenobu, Y. Iwasa, and T. Arima, Phys. Rev. Lett., 97, Art. No. 097203 (2006).

187. T. Kimura, G. Lawes, and A. P. Ramirez, Phys. Rev. Lett., 94, Art. No. 137201 (2005).

188. R. F. Wang, C. Nisoli, R. S. Freitas, J. Li, W. McConville, B. J. Cooley, M. S. Lund, N. Samarth, C. Leighton, V. H. Crespi, and P. Schiffer, Nature, 439, 303-306 (2006).

189. K. Sato, K. Machida, T. Yamamoto, T. Ishibashi, and T. Yamaoka, J. Magn. Magn. Mater., 310, 2342-2344 (2007).

190. M. Parikh, IBM J. Res. Dev., 24, 438-457 (1980).

191. M. Parikh, and D. E. Schreiber, J. Electrochem. Soc., 127, C106-C106 (1980).

192. A. Misaka, K. Harafuji, and N. Nomura, J. Appl. Phys., 68, 6472-6479 (1990).

193. X. H. Tang, and D. C. Joy, Scanning, 27, 293-297 (2005).

194. D. C. Joy, Proc. Microsc. Microanal., 402, 836-837 (1996).

195. E. W. Greeneich, IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, 26, 807-810 (1979).

196. J. Y. Zhou, and X. M. Yang, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 24, 1202-1209 (2006).

197. I. Raptis, B. Nowotny, N. Glezos, M. Gentili, and G. Meneghini, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., Part 1, 39, 635-644 (2000).

198. M. Rooks, N. Belic, E. Kratschmer, and R. Viswanathan, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 23, 2769-2774 (2005).

199. C. H. Shaw, J. Vac. Sci. Technol., 19, 1286-1290 (1981).

200. F. Jones, J. Paraszczak, and A. Speth, J. Appl. Phys., 55, 3092-3097 (1984).

201. N. Aizaki, J. Vac. Sci. Technol., 16, 1726-1733 (1979).

202. L. D. Jackel, R. E. Howard, P. M. Mankiewich, H. G. Craighead, and R. W. Epworth, Appl. Phys. Lett., 45, 698-700 (1984).

203. N. Nomura, K. Kawakita, Y. Hirai, T. Sakashita, K. Harafuji, K. Hashimoto, T. Koizumi, H. Hamaguchi, A. Misaka, and T. Takemoto, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., Part 1, 28, 2615-2623 (1989).

204. A. Kadoun, R. Belkorissat, C. Mathieu, and B. Khelifa, J. Trace Microprobe Tech., 21, 229-238 (2003).

205. D. E. Newbury, J. Res. Natl. Inst. Stand. Technol., 107, 567-603 (2002).

206. E. Doehne, Scanning, 19, 75-78 (1997).

207. J. Bilde-Sorenson and C. C. Appel, Proc. 48th Meet. Scand. Soc. Electron Microsc., A. B. Maunsbach, ed., SVF, Aarhus, Denmark, 12-15 (1997).

208. B. J. Griffin, C. E. Nockolds, M. R. Phillips, and G. Remond, Proc. Microbeam Anal., 395-396 (2000).

209. J. Goldstein, *Scanning Electron Microscopy and X-ray Microanalysis*, New York: Kluwer Academic (2003).

210. A. Olzierski, K. Vutova, G. Mladenov, I. Raptis, and T. Donchev, Supercond. Sci. Technol., 17, 881-890 (2004).

211. Y. M. Gueorguiev, K. G. Vutova, and G. M. Mladenov, Supercond. Sci. Technol., 9, 565-569 (1996).

212. P. Pammer, R. Schlapak, M. Sonnleitner, A. Ebner, R. Zhu, P. Hinterdorfer, O. Hoglinger, H. Schindler, and S. Howorka, Chem. Phys. Chem., 6, 900-903 (2005).

213. J. Wang, X. Y. Sun, L. Chen, L. Zhuang, and S. Y. Chou, Appl. Phys. Lett., 77, 166-168 (2000).

214. M. Su, M. Aslam, L. Fu, N. Q. Wu, and V. P. Dravid, Appl. Phys. Lett., 84, 4200-4202 (2004).

215. S. Jeon, E. Menard, J. U. Park, J. Maria, M. Meitl, J. Zaumseil, and J. A. Rogers, Adv. Mater., 16, 1369-1373 (2004).

216. R. Poyato, M. L. Calzada, and L. Pardo, J. Appl. Phys., 97, Art. No. 034108 (2005).

217. A. Nakamura, J. Ishihara, S. Shigemori, K. Yamamoto, T. Aoiki, H. Gotoh, and J. Temmyo, J. Appl. Phys., 44, L4-L6 (2005).

218. S. V. Kalinin, D. A. Bonnell, T. Alvarez, X. J. Lei, Z. H. Hu, R. Shao, and J. H. Ferris, Adv. Mater., 16, 795 - 799 (2004).

219. S. B. Majumder, M. Jain, A. Martinez, R. S. Katiyar, F. W. Van Keuls, and F. A. Miranda, J. Appl. Phys., 90, 896-903 (2001).

220. C. H. Ahn, K. M. Rabe, and J. M. Triscone, Science, 303, 488-491 (2004).

221. K. Aoki, H. T. Miyazaki, H. Hirayama, K. Inoshita, T. Baba, N. Shinya, and Y. Aoyagi, Appl. Phys. A, 81, 3122-3124 (2002).

222. S. Noda, K. Tomoda, N. Yamamoto, and A. Chutinan, Science, 289, 604-606 (2000).

223. B. Morgan, C. M. Waits, and R. Ghodssi, Microelectron. Eng., 77, 85-94 (2005).

224. M. Park, C. Harrison, P. M. Chaikin, R. A. Register, and D. H. Adamson, Science, 276, 1401-1404 (1997).

225. H. O. Jacobs, A. R. Tao, A. Schwartz, D. H. Gracias, and G. M. Whitesides, Science, 296, 323-325 (2002).

226. I. Divliansky, T. S. Mayer, K. S. Holliday, and V. H. Crespi, Appl. Phys. Lett., 82, 1667-1669 (2003).

227. J. E. Smay, J. Cesarano, and J. A. Lewis, Langmuir, 18, 5429-5437 (2002).

228. R. D. Deegan, O. Bakajin, T. F. Dupont, G. Huber, S. R. Nagel, and T. A. Witten, Phys. Rev. E, 62, 756-765 (2000).

229. R. D. Deegan, O. Bakajin, T. F. Dupont, G. Huber, S. R. Nagel, and T. A. Witten, Nature, 389, 827-829 (1997).

230. A. P. Sommer, M. Ben-Moshe, and S. Magdassi, J. Phys. Chem. B, 108, 8-10 (2004).

231. P. C. Ohara, and W. M. Gelbart, Langmuir, 14, 3418-3424 (1998).

232. M. C. Lensen, K. Takazawa, J. A. A. W. Elemans, C. R. L. P. N. Jeukens, P. C. M. Christianen, J. C. Maan, A. E. Rowan, and R. I. M. Nolte, Chem. Eur. J., 10, 831-839 (2004).

233. A. M. J. van den Berg, A. W. M. de Laat, P. J. Smith, J. Perelaer, and U. S. Schubert, J. Mater. Chem., 17, 677-683 (2007).

234. J. C. Love, L. A. Estroff, J. K. Kriebel, R. G. Nuzzo, and G. M. Whitesides, Chem. Rev., 105, 1103-1169 (2005).

235. A. Sethuraman, M. Han, R. S. Kane, and G. Belfort, Langmuir, 20, 7779-7788 (2004).

236. R. K. Smith, P. A. Lewis, and P. S. Weiss, Prog. Surf. Sci., 75, 1-68 (2004).

237. A. Pallandre, K. Glinel, A. M. Jonas, and B. Nysten, Nano Lett., 4, 365-371 (2004).

238. H. Onoe, K. Matsumoto, and I. Shimoyama, J. Microelectromechanical Sys., 13, 603-611 (2004).

239. A. D. Li, Q. Y. Shao, Y. J. Wang, C. L. Mak, K. H. Wong, D. Wu, and N. B. Ming, Mater. Res. Bull., 36, 2667-2675 (2001).

240. A. A. Talin, S. M. Smith, S. Voight, J. Finder, K. Eisenbeiser, D. Penunuri, Z. Yu, P. Fejes, T. Eschrich, J. Curless, D. Convey, and A. Hooper, Appl. Phys, Lett., 81, 1062-1064 (2002).

241. M. V. R. Murty, S. K. Streiffer, G. B. Stephenson, J. A. Eastman, G. R. Bai, A. Munkholm, O. Auciello, and C. Thompson, Appl. Phys, Lett., 80, 1809-1811 (2002).

242. S. K. Streiffer, J. A. Eastman, D. D. Fong, C. Thompson, A. Munkholm, M. V. R. Murty, O. Auciello, G. R. Bai, and G. B. Stephenson, Phys. Rev. Lett., 89, Art. No. 067601 (2002).

243. Y. Masuda, T. Koumura, T. Okawa, and K. Koumoto, J. Colloid Interface Sci., 263, 190-195 (2003).

244. A. Nakamura, S. Shigemori, Y. Shimizu, T. Aoki, and J. Temmyo, J. Appl. Phys., 43, 7672-7676 (2004).

245. D. M. Hansen, C. E. Albaugh, P. D. Moran, and T. F. Kuech, Appl. Phys, Lett., 79, 3413-3415 (2001).

246. R. M. Bozorth, E. F. Tilden, and A. J. Williams, Phys. Rev., 99, 1788-1798 (1955).

247. G. Srinivasan, E. T. Rasmussen, J. Gallegos, R. Srinivasan, Y. I. Bokhan, and V. M. Laletin, Phys. Rev. B, 6421, Art. No.214408 (2001).

248. Y. K. Fetisov, K. E. Kamentsev, and A. Y. Ostashchenko, J. Magn. Magn. Mater., 272-276, 2064 (2004).

249. H. Zheng, J. Wang, L. Mohaddes-Ardabili, M. Wuttig, L. Salamanca-Riba, D. G. Schlom, and R. Ramesh, Appl. Phys, Lett., 85, 2035-2037 (2004).

250. D. Y. Xia, A. Biswas, D. Li, and S. R. J. Brueck, Adv. Mater., 16, 1427 - 1432 (2004).

251. D. Y. Xia, and S. R. J. Brueck, Nano Lett., 4, 1295-1299 (2004).

252. J. Uhm, M. Sakuraba, and J. Murota, Thin Solid Films, 508, 239-242 (2006).

253. J. Uhm, M. Sakuraba, and J. Murota, Semicond. Sci. Technol., 22, S33-S37 (2007).

254. J. Grenzer, U. Zeimer, S. A. Grigorian, S. Feranchuk, U. Pietsch, J. Fricke, H. Kissel, A. Knauer, and M. Weyers, Phys. Rev. B, 69, Art. No. 125316 (2004).

255. A. H. Harker, K. Pinardi, S. C. Jain, A. Atkinson, and R. Bullough, Philos. Mag. A, 71, 871-881 (1995).

256. I. Ponomareva, I. I. Naumov, I. Kornev, H. Fu, and L. Bellaiche, Phys. Rev. B, 72, Art. No. 140102 (2005).

257. J. P. Zhou, Z. Shi, G. Liu, H. C. He, and C. W. Nan, Acta Phys. Sinica, 55, 3766-3771 (2006).

258. G. Liu, C. W. Nan, and J. Sun, Acta Mater., 54, 917-925 (2006).

259. L. Lian, and N. R. Sottos, J. Appl. Phys., 95, 629-634 (2004).

260. G. W. Scherer, J. Sol-Gel Sci. Technol., 8, 353-363 (1997).

261. S. M. Hu, J. Appl. Phys., 50, 4661-4666 (1979).

262. S. M. Hu, J. Appl. Phys., 70, R53-R80 (1991).

263. S. C. Jain, H. E. Maes, K. Pinardi, and I. DeWolf, J. Appl. Phys., 79, 8145-8165 (1996).

264. S. C. Jain, A. H. Harker, A. Atkinson, and K. Pinardi, J. Appl. Phys., 78, 1630-1637 (1995).

265. J. H. Li, L. Chen, V. Nagarajan, R. Ramesh, and A. L. Roytburd, Appl. Phys. Lett., 84, 2626-2628 (2004).

266. M. Yamaguchi, M. Tachikawa, M. Sugo, S. Kondo, and Y. Itoh, Appl. Phys. Lett., 56, 27-29 (1990).

267. S. Sakai, K. Kawasaki, and N. Wada, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., Part 2, 29, L853-L855 (1990).

268. D. J. Eaglesham, and M. Cerullo, Phys. Rev. Lett., 64, 1943-1946 (1990).

269. I. Dewolf, J. Vanhellemont, A. Romanorodriguez, H. Norstrom, and H. E. Maes, J. Appl. Phys., 71, 898-906 (1992).

270. B. Dietrich, E. Bugiel, J. Klatt, G. Lippert, T. Morgenstern, H. J. Osten, and P. Zaumseil, J. Appl. Phys., 74, 3177-3180 (1993).

271. K. van Benthem, C. Elsasser, and R. H. French, J. Appl. Phys., 90, 6156-6164 (2001).

272. D. A. Tenne, A. Bruchhausen, N. D. Lanzillotti-Kimura, A. Fainstein, R. S. Katiyar, A. Cantarero, A. Soukiassian, V. Vaithyanathan, J. H. Haeni, W. Tian, D. G. Schlom, K. J. Choi, D. M. Kim, C. B. Eom, H. P. Sun, X. Q. Pan, Y. L. Li, L. Q. Chen, Q. X. Jia, S. M. Nakhmanson, K. M. Rabe, and X. X. Xi, Science, 313, 1614-1616 (2006).

273. B. Greenebaum, A. I. Sauter, P. A. Flinn, and W. D. Nix, Appl. Phys. Lett., 58, 1845-1847 (1991).

274. K. Lee, H. Yi, W. H. Park, Y. K. Kim, and S. Baik, J. Appl. Phys., 100, Art. No. 051615 (2006).

275. Y. N. Xiao, Z. H. Cai, and B. Lai, Nanotechnol., 16, 1754-1760 (2005).

276. C. E. Murray, I. C. Noyan, P. M. Mooney, B. Lai, and Z. Cai, Appl. Phys. Lett., 83, 4163-4165 (2003).

277. T. R. Welberry, and D. J. Goossens, Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A, 64, 23-32 (2008).

278. D. Black, Int. J. Appl. Ceram. Technol., 2, 336-343 (2005).

279. A. F. Degardin, F. Houze, and A. J. Kreisler, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 13, 2721-2724 (2003).

280. N. Erdman, O. Warschkow, M. Asta, K. R. Poeppelmeier, D. E. Ellis, and L. D. Marks, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 125, 10050-10056 (2003).

281. S. K. Sinha, J. Phys. III, 4, 1543-1557 (1994).

282. V. A. Chernov, N. V. Kovalenko, S. V. Mytnichenko, and A. I. Toropov, Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A, 59, 551-559 (2003).

283. M. Schmidbauer, M. Hanke, and R. Kohler, Cryst. Res. Technol., 37, 3-34 (2002).

284. J. Eymery, J. Appl. Crystallogr., 32, 859-863 (1999).

285. S. I. Zheludeva, M. V. Kovalchuk, N. N. Novikova, A. N. Sosphenov, N. N. Salaschenko, E. A. Shamov, K. A. Prokhorov, E. Burattini, and G. Cappuccio, J. Appl. Crystallogr., 30, 833-838 (1997).

286. H. F. Yan, C. E. Murray, and I. C. Noyan, Appl. Phys. Lett., 90, Art. No. 091918 (2007).

287. H. Rho, H. E. Jackson, and B. L. Weiss, J. Appl. Phys., 90, 276-282 (2001).

288. E. A. Kondrashkina, S. A. Stepanov, R. Opitz, M. Schmidbauer, R. Kohler, R. Hey, M. Wassermeier, and D. V. Novikov, Phys. Rev. B, 56, 10469-10482 (1997).

289. H. Bulou, A. Barbier, G. Renaud, B. Carriere, R. BaudoingSavois, and J. P. Deville, Surf. Sci., 377, 90-93 (1997).

290. S. Sato, M. Saito, E. Matsubara, and Y. Waseda, Mater. Trans., JIM, 37, 1409-1412 (1996).

291. M. Hanke, D. Grigoriev, M. Schmidbauer, P. Schafer, R. Kohler, U. W. Pohl, R. L. Sellin, D. Bimberg, N. D. Zakharov, and P. Wemer, Physica E, 21, 684-688 (2004).

292. R. Kegel, T. H. Metzger, A. Lorke, J. Peisl, J. Stangl, G. Bauer, K. Nordlund, W. V. Schoenfeld, and P. M. Petroff, Phys. Rev. B, 63, Art. No. 035318 (2001).

293. T. Wiebach, M. Schmidbauer, M. Hanke, H. Raidt, R. Kohler, and H. Wawra, Phys. Rev. B, 61, 5571-5578 (2000).

294. E. Suhir, J. Appl. Mech., 54, 479-479 (1987).

295. K. Z. Troost, P. Vandersluis, and D. J. Gravesteijn, Appl. Phys. Lett., 62, 1110-1112 (1993).

296. A. J. Wilkinson, Ultramicroscopy, 62, 237-247 (1996).

297. A. J. Wilkinson, Mater. Sci. Technol., 13, 79-84 (1997).

298. R. R. Keller, A. Roshko, R. H. Geiss, K. A. Bertness, and T. P. Quinn, Microelectron. Eng., 75, 96-102 (2004).

299. J. F. Luo, Y. Ji, T. X. Zhong, Y. Q. Zhang, J. Z. Wang, J. P. Liu, N. H. Niu, J. Han, X. Guo, and G. D. Shen, Microelectron. Reliab., 46, 178-182 (2006).